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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

Qingling Motors Co. Ltd (the “"Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
"Group”) is principally engaged in the production and sale of Isuzu light,
medium and heavy-duty trucks, pick-up trucks, automobile parts and
accessories. All of the production facilities of the Group are located in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") and substantially all the sales
of the Group are also made in the PRC. The Group had export sales to
overseas countries during the year, which accounted for approximately
1.57% of the Group's turnover for the year.

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES

The Group had 2,846 employees as at 31 December 2022.
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DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

| am pleased to present the annual report of Qingling Motors Co. Ltd (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2022 for your review.

2022 RESULTS

As of 31 December 2022, the Company sold 28,853 vehicles,
representing a decrease of 34.24% over 43,876 vehicles sold last year.
Revenue was RMB3,248 million, representing a decrease of 32.73% over
RMB4,828 million as recorded last year. For the year ended 31 December
2022, the Company recorded a loss after tax for the year of RMB5 million,
while it was a profit after tax of RMB331 million for the year ended 31
December 2021, the result was decreased by 101.51%.

REVIEW OF RESULTS

In 2022, the Company experienced multiple challenges and superimposed
impacts such as the lockdown for the epidemic, the downward trend
of the industry, the power limit under high temperature, the shutdown
of production due to supply cut, and closed-loop production. Under the
extremely severe and complex situation, the Company united and led
all cadres and staff to implement the work requirements of the central
government of “preventing the epidemic, stabilising economy, and
developing safely”, prevented the epidemic situation, strengthened
innovation, deepened reform, grasped the market, and stabilised
operation, making steady improvement in various work.

1. Product innovation and technological innovation have
achieved fruitful results. The Company independently completed
the research and development of 2.5L high-performance engine
and compliant blue-brand light truck; made achievement in
the research and development of four-stage fuel consumption
technology; introduced automatic transmission for all series of
models, and upgraded the products comprehensively; constantly
enriched the lineup of independent products with improved
cost performance ratio; continuously improved IVI Internet of
Vehicles and expanded service functions; made a rapid start in
pure electric vehicles; developed rapidly in the hydrogen fuel cell
vehicle industry; made improvement in the technical capability of
key assemblies and revealed the R&D achievements.

2. Facing challenges directly, the marketing system has stood
the test. The Company made efforts to maintain stable channels
and stable teams, and dealers and marketing personnel have
withstood the test; strengthened the key client marketing and
stabilised the marketing base; focused on marketing to promote
retails, and took new steps in building marketing capacity;
undertook projects and facilitated transactions to build the
supporting capacity of the export system.

B2 /3E MM AR A A Qingling Motors Co. Ltd
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3. Overcome difficulties to ensure delivery and strengthen
management to improve efficiency. The Company made
prevention to the epidemic and fought against high temperature
to ensure supply and delivery; managed and made good use
of intelligent production lines to improve efficiency and quality;
continuously focused on IM on-site management; actively
promoted technological innovation and small reforms.

4. Continuously improve the quality detection capability and
strictly control the product quality. The Company basically
improved the hardware conditions for quality inspection;
constructed vehicle inspection data management system;
strengthened the consistency and compliance control of mass
production products; strictly conducted quality assessment.

5. Deepen the reform of organization and mechanism to
stimulate vitality. The Company deepened the reform of
research and development organisations, stimulated the vitality
of personnel and improved organisational efficiency; achieved
initial results in quality system reform; successfully concluded the
three-year reform of state-owned enterprises.

6. Reduce costs and increase benefits. The Company put
technology first, and combined the technology with procurement
to reduce costs; reduced costs through procurement comparison
and selection of parts and bulk materials and business negotiation;
innovated fund management mode, expanded channels, and
strengthened fund management to increase benefits.

7. Fully implement the main responsibilities of safety and
environmental protection. The Company strictly implemented
risk research and judgment and hidden danger troubleshooting
and rectification; increased investment in safety; strengthened
safety and environmental protection education and training;
achieved safe and stable production with standard environmental
protection and emission to avoid fatal accidents and occupational
diseases, and set the best level in history in the controlling goal of
injury rate of 1,000 people.

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

The 2022 Central Economic Work Conference pointed out that “the
current foundation of China’s economic recovery is not yet solid, the
triple pressures of demand contraction, supply shock and weakening
expectation are still large, the external environment is volatile and brings
deep impact on China’'s economy”. However, “China’s economy is
of strong resilience, potential and vitality, with the continuous effects
on various policies, the economic operation is expected to rebound in
2023". China Automobile Association has studied and judged that the
development of the automobile industry this year has six favorable factors
and six challenges, and challenges and opportunities coexist in general.
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In the government work report of the State Council in 2023, it was
proposed that “stabilise mass consumption and promote the recovery
of life service consumption; converge high-quality resources in the key
industrial chain of the manufacturing industry to jointly promote key core
technologies; green transformation to promote energy conservation
and carbon reduction in key areas”, which laid the tone for promoting
the high-quality development of the automobile industry, pointed out
the direction, and released a positive signal of expanding demand and
increasing support for the real economy. The key work of the Company in
2023 is as follows:

1. Focus on regulatory changes and the competitiveness
of main products, and adhere to the innovation-driven.
The Company will deeply interpret the new policy of “double
points for commercial vehicles” and clarify the research and
development priorities; improve EV technology, performance
and cost competitiveness; quickly complete the research and
development of new laws and regulations for fuel vehicles;
focus on main products, improve performance, reduce costs and
improve competitiveness; continue to launch hydrogen-powered
vehicles and accelerate the development of strategically new
industries.

2. Strengthen the market awareness of all employees and
compete for the market in an integrated way. The Company
will urge all staff to firmly establish market awareness,
competition awareness and service awareness; hold dealer
conferences to enhance market confidence; deepen the reform
of marketing organisation and mechanism, activate and improve
efficiency; accelerate the construction of supporting capacity of
vehicle export system; focus on the sales of new energy vehicles
and heavy vehicles; strengthen the sales expansion of pick-up
trucks; enhance after-sales services.

3. Improve internal management and integration-supported
marketing. The Company will consolidate its capacity, stabilize
quality and ensure delivery in production system; consolidate
the reform achievements in quality system, give full play to the
function of the inspection line, and manage the product quality
well; prevent risks, ensure supply and quality, and reduce costs in
procurement system.

In the new year, the Company will strive to seize the market, strengthen
the key products, improve performance, reduce costs, enhance quality,
ensure delivery, break down the list of objectives and tasks, clarify the
responsibilities and progress objectives, fight for the achievements with
clear target, and promote the development of the enterprise with new
accomplishment!

Chongaing, China, 28 March 2023
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DIRECTORS

LUO Yuguang, aged 53, has been an executive director, the Chairman, a
member of the remuneration committee and the chairman and a member
of the nomination committee of the Company since 22 December 2016.
He graduated from Beijing Agricultural Engineering University (1t 52
ETIEAKE) in 1992, specialized in Construction and Environmental
Engineering (B £LE1%3E T 72) with a Bachelor's degree in engineering.
Mr. LUO also completed and graduated from an undergraduate program
in Chongaging Normal University (EERT&3AZ) in 2008, majoring in
Accounting. He joined the Company after obtaining his Bachelor’'s degree
and has a consecutive period of more than 20 years of experience in
the car industry. At the early stage, Mr. LUO underwent an internship
at the Assemble Workshop (4% ), Repair Workshop ({8 R),
Infrastructure Department (E323f) and Procurement Department (££88
£B) of the Company. Later he was the Deputy Head of the Planning and
Construction Department (}3 £7£:% 20 &/E6 &), Deputy Head of Secondary
Pressing Vehicles Workshop (=& B EH&|%F), Deputy Head of the
Finance Department (81730 &I3F ) and Deputy Head of the Integrated
Planning Department (42& 7t E1&&EIFK). In 2009, he joined the
management team of the Company and was the Deputy Chief Economist
and the Head of Procurement Department (BI|484% 7% Al 38 SRES 2L 26 &),
and the Deputy General Manager of Qingling Motors (Group) Company
Limited (“Qingling Group”), the substantial Shareholder of the Company,
being responsible for the production, logistics, domestic support and
import, etc.. He took up the post of the Director and the General Manager
of Qingling Group in September 2016. Mr. LUO studied abroad for
several times, including the Advanced Course in Corporate Governance
organized by the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Studies on Special Topics such as production, quality, development
and sales organized by Japan Isuzu. Mr. LUO has been the Chairman of
the Qingling Isuzu (Chongging) Engine Co., Ltd. from April 2015 to 30
November 2016.

YASUTA Tatsuya, aged 59, has been an executive director, the vice
chairman and the general manager of the Company since 30 July 2021.
He graduated from the Faculty of Foreign Language, Tokyo University
of Foreign Studies. Mr. YASUTA joined Isuzu Motors Limited (“Isuzu”)
in April 1986, and has held various positions such as a middle manager,
team leader and director in various departments. He was assigned to
work for Isuzu Sub-Saharan Africa and GMICA Colombia Ltd. from March
2015 to November 2018. Mr. YASUTA served as the assistant to the
head of Business Department of Isuzu, the assistant to the head of First
Section of Business Department and the assistant to the head of the
Industry Solution ® PT Business Department from December 2018 to
March 2020. He was currently an S expert in the head office of China
Business Department from April 2021 to May 2021.
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NAKAMURA Osamu, aged 56, has been an executive director of
the Company since 25 August 2022. He graduated from the Faculty
of Fisheries of Tokyo University of Fisheries. Mr. NAKAMURA joined
Isuzu in April 1990, and held number of important positions in various
departments such as the Domestic Business Management Office and
the Business Development Department. He was assigned to work in
various departments for Yokohama Isuzu Motors Ltd (i&/&# +$%/958
A7), Isuzu Network Ltd (fi+#4845 72 7)) and Isuzu Motors Sales Ltd
(18295 85 Q7). Mr. NAKAMURA currently serves as the executive
officer of Isuzu, the executive officer of the Head Office of Business
Department, the Business Department, the GR Domestic Coordination
Department, the GR Domestic Business Development Department and
the GR Domestic Commodity Policy Department as well as the Program
Business Development Department and a managerial staff in the head
office of the China Business Department.

KIJIMA Katsuya, aged 60, has been an executive director of the
Company since 25 August 2022. He graduated from the Faculty of
Engineering of Chiba University. Mr. KIJIMA joined Isuzu in April 1987,
and held number of important positions in various departments such as
certain technical units and vehicle body engineering units in Isuzu. He
was assigned to work in various departments for Isuzu Motors America,
LLC and Isuzu Motors Co., (Thailand) Ltd. (=B R +44/3ER M AR A F).
Mr. KIJIMA currently serves as the executive officer of the Vehicle Public
Works Department and the Vehicle Quality Management Department of
Isuzu.

LI Juxing, aged 57, has been an executive director of the Company
since 28 May 2015. He graduated from Harbin Institute of Technology,
majoring in casting. He holds a bachelor degree of engineering and is a
senior engineer. Mr. LI successively served as a technician of a foundry
of Chongging Automobile Manufacturing Plant (& B £LE 4/, a
head of the biotechnology department, a head of the quality department,
a deputy chief engineer and a deputy general manager of Chongqging
Qingling Casting Company Limited (BEEE#EEARE A 7)) since July
1990. He became a deputy chief engineer of Qingling Group since 2005
and concurrently served as the general managers of Chongging Qingling
Aluminum Casting Co. Ltd. (EEE KX ERAR A F]) and Chongging
Qingling Forging Co. Ltd. (EEEKREAFRZAR]). Since 2010, he has
been working as a deputy general manager of Qingling Group and he
also serves as the chairman of Chongging Qingling Forging Co. Ltd. and
vice chairman of Isuzu (China) Engine Co., Ltd.. During the period from
26 September 2016 to 22 December 2016, Mr. LI served as the acting
Chairman of the Company.

B2 /3E MM AR A A Qingling Motors Co. Ltd
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XU Song, aged 55, has been an executive director of the Company
since 15 June 2016. He is a senior engineer. Mr. XU joined the Chinese
Communist Party in June 1988. He graduated from the Faculty of
Engineering Machinery of Jilin University of Technology in July 1989,
majoring in crane transport and engineering machinery. Mr. XU was
awarded a bachelor degree in Engineering and a master degree in
Business Administration. He worked in the equipment department of
Chongging Automobile Manufacturing Plant as an internship in 1989 and
successively served as an assistant engineer and the deputy head of
manufacturing factory. From 1995 to 2004, he worked at the Company
and successively served as the deputy head, the head of manufacturing
factory and the head of the product development department. Since
2004, Mr. XU served as an assistant to general manager of Qingling
Group and the Company, and successively served as the head of the
business planning department of Qingling Group and the Company and
the director of chief engineer office of the Company. Since 2005, he
served as an assistant to general manager of Qingling Group and the
vice general manager of the Company, and also served as the head of
the business planning department of Qingling Group and the Company.
He also served as the head of the procurement department of Qingling
Group in November 2005. From 2009 to 2012, he successively served
as the deputy general manager and a member of the Party Committee
of Qingling Group, the general manager, the secretary and a member of
the Party Committee of Chongging Qingling Casting Company Limited.
From 2012 till now, Mr. XU served as the deputy general manager and
a member of the Party Committee of Qingling Group. Mr. XU ceased to
serve as the deputy general manager of the Company since 25 February
2020.

LI Xiaodong, aged 56, has been an executive director of the Company
since 30 May 2019. He is a member of the Communist Party of China and
holds the university graduate. He joined the Company in September 1986.
From September 1986 to October 2017, he was successively a teacher
at the Technical School, Youth League officer, deputy secretary of Youth
League, director of the engine manufacturing department and deputy
head of the coating workshop of Chongging Automobile Manufacturing
Plant (during his tenure, he graduated from Chongging Radio & TV
University (majoring in law)); a deputy head of the coating workshop, a
deputy director of coating and manufacturing department, deputy head
and head of No. 2 welding workshop, director of car body welding and
manufacturing department of the Company; vice general manager and
general manager of Chongging Qingling Forging Co. Ltd; assistant to
general manager of Qingling Group; general manager of Chongging
Qingling Automobile Manufacture and Assembly Co. Ltd.; person-in-
charge of Northeast China and North China Sales Region and chairman of
Qingling Isuzu (Chongging) Automobile Sales and Service Co., Ltd.. Mr.
LI currently served as a vice general manager and member of the party
committee of Qingling Group (during his tenure, he obtained a bachelor's
degree in mechanical design and manufacturing and automation from
Chongging University and a bachelor’'s degree in business administration
from China Central Radio & TV University), chairman and secretary of the
Party Committee of Chongging Qingling Casting Company Limited. Mr. LI
ceased to serve as the deputy general manager of the Company since 25
February 2020.
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LONG Tao, aged 71, has been an independent non-executive director
of the Company since 28 April 1994. He is also a member of the audit
committee, the remuneration committee and the nomination committee
of the Company. Mr. LONG graduated from Research Institute for
Fiscal Science, Ministry of Finance, majoring in accounting. Mr. LONG
holds a master’'s degree in Economics. He had served at Accountancy
Division of Central University of Finance and Economics, and New York
office of KPMG Peat Marwick. Mr. LONG had acted as a member of
Securities Issue and Approval Committee of China Securities Regulatory
Commission and member of Chinese technology expert panel for China-
Hong Kong Securities Team. Mr. LONG also served as the independent
director of Luoyang Glass Company Limited, Beijing Hua'er Company
Limited (3t Z= 1L =& D AR A 7)), Beijing Capital International Airport
Co., Ltd., Baotou Iron and Steel Co. Ltd., China Asset Management
Co., Ltd., Beijing Bashi Company Limited, Jiangxi Copper Company
Limited, Beijing North Star Company Limited, Wangfujing Department
Store Co., Ltd. (EFHBERERMNERAF]) and the chairman of
Beijing Haiwen Investment Consulting Co., Ltd. (It /ERHREHZABR
~a]). Mr. LONG has extensive knowledge and experience in corporate
finance, accounting, audit, assets appraisal, restructuring of enterprise
and listing. Mr. LONG currently serves as the chairman of Beijing Haiwen
Entrepreneurship New Technology Investment Management Co., Ltd. (1t
REBAIENRITRE B2 AR /AR, an independent director of Beijing
Whoswho Culture and Media Co., Ltd., UBS SDIC Fund Management
Co., Ltd., Crown International Corporation Limited (a local company in
Hong Kong) and Aimer Co., Ltd. (ERMNBR A F).

SONG Xiaojiang, aged 72, has been an independent non-executive
director of the Company since 28 April 1994. He is also the chairman and
a member of the audit committee and the remuneration committee and a
member of the nomination committee of the Company. Mr. SONG is the
general manager of Chongqging Ping Zheng Law Office, a member of the
China Economic Law Association and the China Lawyers Association. Mr.
SONG has been a lawyer and notary for 30 years. Mr. SONG graduated
from South West Institute of Political Science and Law and also studied
international law in the China University of Political Science and Law
and foreign economic law at Shenzhen University. He was formerly vice
chairman of Chongging Notary Office and vice chairman of Chongging
Foreign Law Office.
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LIU Tianni, aged 59, has been an independent non-executive director
of the Company since 31 May 2011. He is also a member of the audit
committee, the remuneration committee and the nomination committee
of the Company. Mr. LIU is also the executive director, the chairman
and the chief executive officer of Wonderful Sky Financial Group
Holdings Limited (the shares of which are listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, Stock Code: 1260), the chairman of The Listed Companies
Council of Chinese Enterprises Association (Hong Kong) (B H {17
ARZB®), a Hong Kong member of Chongging Municipal Committee
of the Chinese People's Political Consultative Conference (EE MBI &
B2 8), executive vice chairman of the Hong Kong Island Federation (&
7 B8-S ), the honorary chairman of Shandong Hong Kong Overseas
Investment and Financing Association (B8 %K EIEH A 2), and vice
chairman of China Mergers and Acquisition Association (Kong Kong) (&
BB HEE QD). Mr. LIU graduated from Beijing Normal University with
a master degree in science.

LIU Erh Fei, aged 64, has been an independent non-executive director
of the Company and a member of the audit committee, remuneration
committee and nomination committee of the Company since 28 May
2015. He graduated from Harvard Business School with a master degree
in Business Administration. He graduated from Brandeis University with
a bachelor degree in Economics and International Relations in 1984 and
from Beijing Foreign Studies University, majoring in English, in 1981. Mr.
LIU has served as the chairman of China region and the general manager
of China region of Bank of America Merrill Lynch Group, and served as
senior management in Goldman Sachs Group Company, Morgan Stanley,
Salomon Smith Barney International and Calyon Credit Agricole of France.
He is currently a founding partner and CEO of Asian Investment Capital
(F#% & 7K), a director of Cindat Capital Management Limited and an
independent director of CMB Wing Lung Bank Limited.
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SUPERVISORS

MIN Qing, aged 55, has been the supervisor representing the
Shareholders since 15 June 2006. Ms. MIN ceased to be the Chairman of
the Supervisory Committee on 28 May 2015. Ms. MIN is a director, the
deputy secretary of the Party Committee and the Chairman of the Trade
Union of Qingling Group, and has many years of experience in corporate
management. Ms. MIN graduated from Chongging Communication
College in Mechanical Engineering in 1988 and had undergraduate
education. She also studied corporate management in Japan.

PU Qing, aged 50, has been a supervisor representing the staffs and
workers of the Company since 15 December 2021. She graduated
from Chongging University with a bachelor’'s degree in thermal power
engineering and as a master in business administration. Ms. PU joined
the Company in 1996 and worked in the Equipment Department, Kinetic
Energy Department and Sales Department of the Group. From March
2003 to October 2021, Ms. PU served as the person in charge of the
Personnel Department of Qingling Group, a substantial Shareholder
of the Company, and the person in charge of the Secondary Pressing
Vehicles Workshop (— &/ EfH) of the Company; the assistant to general
manager and deputy secretary of the Party branch of EEEXIEAER
[R727]; the deputy head of the Planning Department of Qingling Group
and the Company, the deputy head of the Finance Department and the
head of the Finance Department of the Company and the secretary of
Party Branch for General Management. Ms. PU is currently the head of
the Audit Department and the director of Supervisors Office of Qingling
Group.

E$2/5H A1 B PR A R Qingling Motors Co. Ltd
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Dear Shareholders:

Since the establishment of the Supervisory Committee, each member
has been performing his duty in accordance with the Company's Articles
of Association with a view of protecting the interests of Shareholders
and the Company. We have attended the board meetings and have
given our opinions regarding the business development, market
expansion, technological reform, basic management and team building
of the Company. We have also monitored the guiding ideology of the
management and considered whether the decisions made by the
management were in compliance with state laws and whether they
were appropriate for the development of the Company and were in the
interests of Shareholders.

According to its power, the Supervisory Committee has reviewed
evidence of the Company’s accounts, books, reports and other
accounting information in a timely manner. In our opinion, the financial
statements have been properly prepared while the accounting principles
and the method of financial management adopted are in compliance with
relevant rules and regulations and no issues were identified.

The Supervisory Committee have carefully examined the financial
statements, and the Directors’ Report to be presented before the annual
general meeting by the Board of Directors. In our opinion, the chairman
of the Board, directors, managers and senior management have not
engaged in any malpractices which would be prejudicial to the interests
of Shareholders and employees of the Company.

The Supervisory Committee is satisfied with the performance as well as

the economic results of the Company, and we are confident about the
future development of the Company.

Chongging, China, 28 March 2023
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The Board is pleased to present its annual report and audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in the production and sale of Isuzu light,
medium and heavy-duty trucks, pick-up trucks as well as automobile
parts and accessories. The activities of its principal subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures of the Company are set out in notes 41, 22 and 23
respectively to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Further discussion and analysis of the business review as required by
Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including a fair view
of the business and a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties
facing the Group, particulars of important events affecting the Group
that have occurred since the end of the financial year 2022 and an
indication of likely future development in the Group’s business are set
out in the “Chairman’s Statement”, “Directors’ Report”, “Corporate
Governance Report” and “Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements” sections of this annual report. In addition, a discussion of
the Company's environmental policies and performance, the Company’s
compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Company and the relationship between the Company and
significant stakeholders are set out in “Directors’ Report” and “Corporate
Governance Report” sections of this annual report. The business review
set out in the above sections comprise part of this report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 73. The Board does not recommend the
payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2022.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to environmental protection, energy-saving and
emission reduction, and the integrated use of resources. Adhering to the
principles of making production and operation harmony to the ecological
environment, the Group has adopted the concept of environmental
protection, energy-saving and emission reduction and the integrated use
of resources in its production and operating activities through reducing
emission, protecting the environment and saving of resources while
putting into practice the scientific concepts of environmental protection
and integrated use of resources.

B2 /AHE D AR A A Qingling Motors Co. Ltd
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The Group keeps placing strong emphasis on environmental protection
issues and coordinates the relationship between production development
and environmental protection, with the aim to develop pollution-free
production modes. The successive operation of the newly-installed
environmental protection facilities, the improvement of working
environment and the integrated measures adopted to prevent and
mitigate pollution have made the pollutants produced not exceeding
the standards set by local environmental authorities. The Group strives
to protect and improve the environment, enhance the environmental
awareness of our staff, ensure the well-being of our staff and builds a
clean and favorable production and working environment. With various
measures such as resources recycling and reusing and energy-saving
and emission reduction putting in place in the production process, the
Group endeavors to produce energy-saving and environmentally-friendly
products while keeping in mind the well-being of the production workers.
The implementation of the above measures fully demonstrates the
Group’s sustainable development strategies and its determination on
environmental protection.

COMPLIANCE OF RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

With regard to the protection of intellectual properties — The Group has
complied with the terms stipulated under the Trademark Law of the
People’s Republic of China and its Regulation for the Implementation of
the Trademark Law and the Patent Law of the People’s Republic of China
and Rules for the Implementation of the Patent Law and the specific
requirements of the city to carry out the work in relation to the design
and file registration of trademarks and patents and has actively taken
measures to protect the trademarks and patents of other interested
stakeholders.

With regard to the product quality and consumer rights — The Group
has strictly complied with the Law of the People’s Republic of China
on Product Quality and the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Protection of Consumer Rights and Interests in the manufacturing
and selling procedures of automobile products and automobile parts.
With respect to product quality, the Group has strengthened source
management and formulated stringent standard in evaluating parts
suppliers to ensure the quality of parts products and prevent substandard
goods being passed off as high-quality ones while purchasing automobile
products and parts. During the production process, standardized
management is strictly implemented with an emphasis on the
management of craftsmanship quality, and defective and substandard
parts are prohibited to be assembled at the production line in order to
ensure the satisfactory rate at the production line. Before the products
are transferred into the warehouses, product quality inspection system
was strictly put in place to forbid defective products being launched. In
terms of protection of consumers’ rights, we have complied with the
Law of the People’s Republic of China on Protection of Consumer Rights,
and product manuals with full details are provided to consumers while
advertisements are tailored to truly reflect the authentic characteristics of
products.
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With regard to the interests of the employees — The Group has strived
to comply with the Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China and the Social Insurance
Law of the People's Republic of China, so as to safeguard the legitimate
interests of workers. All full-time employees are entitled to work-related
injury insurance, unemployment insurance, medical insurance, pension
insurance, and maternity insurance and housing fund as required by the
state regulations. The Group has also arranged annual body check for
all of its staff, and this further protects the legitimate interests of the
employees. Moreover, the Group also actively organizes activities for its
employees with regard to the education of prevention of occupational
disease and other safety and health related issues.

With regard to tax payment — The Group complies with specific
regulations of the People’s Republic of China on various taxes, and
pays taxes according to the law for the purpose of ensuring that all
tax payment made by the Group is in compliance with the laws and
regulations.

DESCRIPTION OF THE PRINCIPAL RISKS AND
UNCERTAINTIES

Risks relating to the decline in sales and profit as a result of
weakened market environment

As China’s economy is turning into “new normal” amid the cross
impact of the “overlapping of the three phases”, the sales of domestic
commercial vehicles decline as a result of the overall decline in demand
for commercial vehicles. With the protracted economic downturn, the
competition in the domestic commercial vehicles market may further
exacerbate, causing impact on the Group's sales for commercial vehicles
and hence affecting the Group's profit.

Risks relating to the insufficient research and development and
the increase in costs in order to adapt to the tightened national
regulations on emission and consumer demand

Taking into the consideration of environmental protection, the national
regulations on emission tend to be tightened and the switching time
tends to be shortened while the consumer demand tends to be more
diversified and competitors tend to launch new products more frequently,
this has put forward higher requirement for the Group’s research and
development capability. However, there exists lead time from research
and development to commercial production of replacement products,
the Group's capability in research and development is crucial in
satisfying national and consumer requirements while outperforming the
competitors. Nevertheless, it may not be possible to timely launch new
products that can outperform competitors every time due to constraints
on capital, time, and ability. Since the Group’s costs on research and
development will be driven up by the launching of new products, such
research and development costs may have to transfer to the product
price to the extent not offset by the reasonable reduction of the Group's
internal costs, and this will inevitably weaken the Group’s product
competitiveness.

B2 /AHE D AR A A Qingling Motors Co. Ltd
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Risks relating to the fall of products’ popularity and reputation
arising from consumers’ comment

In recent years, the competition among domestic commercial vehicles
enterprises intensifies as the market environment deteriorates.
Competitors keep launching mid-to-high end commercial trucks into the
market, causing unfavorable impact on the Group’s dominant position in
the mid-to-high end commercial truck market.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group incurred approximately RMB157,714,000
on acquisition of property, plant and equipment for expansion of its
production facilities.

Details of these and other movements during the year in property, plant
and equipment and investment properties of the Group are set out in
note 18 and note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND LIQUID FUNDS
SITUATION

Financial Performance

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the revenue of the Group was
RMB3,248,080,000, representing a decrease of 32.73% as compared
to last year, mainly due to the continuous sporadic outbreak of the novel
coronavirus, coupled with factors such as rising raw material prices,
power rationing due to high temperature and suspension of power and
work, etc., which has brought certain negative impact on the market
sentiment and business environment, affecting the overall performance
of the sales volume of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Gross profit for the year was RMB115,157,000, representing a decrease
of 79.23% as compared to last year. Gross profit margin of the Group for
the year was 3.55% as compared with 11.48% last year. For the year
ended 31 December 2022, the Group recorded a loss after tax for the
year of RMB4,983,000, while it was a profit after tax for the year ended
31 December 2021, the result was decreased by 101.51%.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, other income mainly included
government grants, interest income and rental income, totaling
RMB385,405,000, representing a decrease of 16.82% as compared to
last year.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group's expenses, including
distribution and selling costs, administrative expenses and research
expenses, decreased by 28.38% as compared to last year, principally due
to the decrease of sales volume for the year as compared to last year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022, the share of results of joint
ventures of the Group was RMB10,131,000, representing an increase of
135.28% as compared to last year, mainly due to the profit increase of
T 145 (P E) B S B R A F(“Isuzu Engine”), which is a joint venture
that was established in May 2007.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, basic loss per share was
RMBO0.01. The Company did not issue any new shares, the basic earnings
per share decreased by 107.69% as compared to last year.

Financial Position

As at 31 December 2022, the total assets and total liabilities of the Group
were RMB10,349,176,000 and RMB2,563,179,000 respectively.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s non-current assets amounted
to RMB3,471,601,000, which mainly includes property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, investment properties, intangible assets,
interests in associates and joint ventures, deferred tax assets, time
deposits and deposit paid for property, plant and equipment.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's current assets amounted to
RMB6,877,575,000, which mainly includes inventories, trade, bills and
other receivables and prepayments, tax recoverable, time deposits and
cash and cash equivalents.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's current liabilities amounted to
RMB2,530,693,000, which mainly includes trade, bills and other payables,
tax liabilities, contract liabilities, refund liabilities and lease liabilities.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's non-current liabilities amounted to
RMB32,486,000, which includes deferred income — government grants
and lease liabilities.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's net current assets were
RMB4,346,882,000 (2021: RMB3,087,791,000), representing an
increase of 40.78% as compared to last year, mainly due to the liquidity
classification of time deposits.
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Liquidity and Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2022, the time deposits due within one year, cash
and cash equivalents retained by the Group were RMB3,888,811,000 and
increased by 71.08% as compared with the balances on 31 December
2021. The Group's working capital requirement was financed by its own
cash flow. Gearing ratio represented the percentage of total liabilities
over total equity as per consolidated statement of financial position. The
gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 December 2022 was 32.92% (as at 31
December 2021: 35.19%). Issued share capital as at 31 December 2022
maintained at the level of RMB2,482,268,000 as no share was issued
during this year.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, there was no material change in
the financing strategies of the Group and the Group did not incur any bank
borrowings nor any non-current liabilities. The Company would closely
monitor the financial and liquidity position of the Group and financial
market from time to time in order to formulate financing strategies
appropriate to the Group. The total equity attributable to owners of the
Company as at 31 December 2022 was RMB7,452,072,000. The net
assets value per share (representing total equity attributable to owners
of the Company divided by number of shares of the Company as at 31
December 2022) as at 31 December 2022 was RMB3.00.

Significant Investment

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's interests in joint ventures were
RMB486,526,000 and interests in associates were RMB43,792,000. For
the year ended 31 December 2022, the joint ventures and associates of
the Group were under normal operation.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, there were no significant
acquisition and disposal of the Group.

Segment Information

The revenue contributed by light-duty trucks and medium and heavy-
duty trucks was RMB1,934,617,000 and RMB550,992,000 respectively,
representing 76.53% of the total revenue. Light-duty trucks and medium
and heavy-duty trucks are currently the major products accounting for the
highest contribution to the Group.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2022, no asset of the Group was pledged for financial
facilities (for the year ended 31 December 2021: Nil).
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Effects of Foreign Exchange Rate Changes

The major foreign currency transactions of the Group are related to
purchasing automobile parts denominated in Japanese Yen. The Group
did not encounter any difficulty or suffer any significant impact in its
operations or liquidity as a result of fluctuation in the exchange rate.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year or at any
time during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

According to the Company’s Articles of Association, the amount
of profit available for distribution shall be deemed to be the lesser
of the amount of profit determined in accordance with the relevant
accounting principles and financial regulations applicable to companies
established in the PRC ("PRC GAAP"). The Company's profit available
for distribution to shareholders as at 31 December 2022 was the
retained profit of approximately RMB1,227,821,000 (2021: approximately
RMB1,518,696,000).

The profit of the Company for a financial year shall be applied in
accordance with the following order:

(i)  making up losses;
(i) allocation to statutory surplus reserve fund,;

(i) if there are preference shares, payment of dividends in respect of
preference shares;

(iv)  allocation to discretionary surplus reserve fund; and
(v)  payment of dividends in respect of ordinary shares.
The detailed proportion of distribution in respect of items (ii) to (v) above
for any financial year shall be formulated by the Board in accordance
with the operational conditions of the Company and its development

requirements and shall be submitted to shareholders’ general meeting for
approval.

B2 /AHE D AR A A Qingling Motors Co. Ltd
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DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS

The directors and supervisors of the Company during the year and up to
the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

LUO Yuguang (Chairman)

YASUTA Tatsuya (Vice Chairman and General Manager)
MASUDA Yoichi (resigned on 25 August 2022)

YAGI Naoto (resigned on 25 August 2022)
NAKAMURA Osamu (appointed on 25 August 2022)
KIJIMA Katsuya (appointed on 25 August 2022)

LI Juxing

XU Song

LI Xiaodong

Independent Non-executive Directors:

LONG Tao
SONG Xiaojiang
LIU Erh Fei

LIU Tianni

Supervisors:

MIN Qing
PU Qing

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

All the executive directors and independent non-executive directors that
were re-elected and appointed renewed or entered into service contracts
or appointment letters with the Company on 2 June 2021 or 25 August
2022 respectively for a term ending on the date of the annual general
meeting of the Company in 2024.

All the supervisors that were re-elected and appointed renewed or
entered into appointment letters with the Company on 2 June 2021 or 15
December 2021 for a term of ending on the date of the annual general
meeting of the Company in 2024.

None of the directors or supervisors has a service contract with the
Company or its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received annual confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive directors as regards to their independence to
the Company and considers that each of the independent non-executive
directors is independent to the Company.

DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS" AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2022, none of the directors or the supervisors and
chief executives of the Company had any interests or short positions in
any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations as defined under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFQO") as recorded in the register required to be kept
under section 352 of SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code")
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company, its holding company, or any
of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to
enable the directors and supervisors of the Company to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company
or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ MATERIAL
INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
OR CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in relation
to which the Company, its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party and in which any directors or supervisors or their
connected entities had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at any time during the year or at the end of the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contracts other than employment contracts concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of
the business of the Company were entered into by the Group or existed
during the year.

B2 /AHE D AR A A Qingling Motors Co. Ltd
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EFEREENREURBZIR INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS IN
COMPETING BUSINESS

RAFERN » ARRZEFREFWRNER During the year, none of the directors or supervisors of the Company had
NAIEBBFH R e T 2 EBP R aE any interest in any business which compete or may compete with the
= e business of the Company.

N
zZs
I

EX EEREETHRARH&R DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS" AND CHIEF
AL EXECUTIVES’ REMUNERATION AND THE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS

B  EIEREaTBRAEMERESHIA The details of directors’, supervisors’, and chief executives’ remuneration
T2 FIE ﬁﬁ/\,m/\ﬁﬂ‘&#ﬁi’% BIEE13 - RREF and the highest paid individuals are set out in note 13 to the consolidated
N 2ERERARBRSTMALTHRES - financial statements. Within two years, all of the five highest paid

individuals of the Company are directors.

BRRABREEZRE NUMBER OF SHAREHOLDERS AND SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS
RNZZEZ—_F+=-fA=+—0 &R 7%?% As at 31 December 2022, there were 170 Shareholders recorded in the
it ERRRER A A170% > MARBES - register of Shareholders of the Company and the Shareholders other
E% 53 ﬁBZ/\ELA?l\ZHx?%ﬁﬁéﬁm%& than a director, supervisor or chief executive of the Company, having
EE 150 33615 R E AR AR AIETFH R D an interest and short positions in 5% or more of the relevant class of
IR ECMARSE AR AREBERNS the issued share capital of the Company as recorded in the register of
BEITIRAS % s A E RIS ROAB AT ¢ interests in the shares and short positions required to be kept by the

Company under Section 336 of SFO were as follows:

RARRGOEFEER - Long positions in the shares of the Company:

EHERERN
BEXFESL {E#8RF
Percentage of B
FRriSAEnEHE the relevant Percentage of
BREE B in%aR Number of &{3 class of entire share
Name of Shareholders Class of Shares shares held Capacity share capital capital
BB EE)BERQA NERK 1,243,616,403% E#=HEH A 100.00% 50.10%
Qingling Motors (Group) Domestic shares  1,243,616,403 shares Beneficial owner 100.00% 50.10%

Company Limited

B+8AEARAR HAZ 496,453,654 Em#EA A 40.08% 20.00%
Isuzu Motors Limited H shares 496,453,654 shares Beneficial owner 40.08% 20.00%

R EXFIBEBEEN  RARBEZS=_F Save as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified of any other
+Z A=+ —AUEEEANERARATEE relevant interests or short positions in the issued share capital of the
TR E M E AR SOA R RRA Company as of 31 December 2022.

3R 2022 ANNUAL REPORT
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Remuneration Committee (composed of one executive director and
four independent non-executive directors) on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating
results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

DIVIDEND POLICY

A dividend policy is adopted by the Company which aims at setting out
the principles to be followed for paying dividends to the Shareholders of
the Company. When considering the dividend payment, the Board shall
take into account the factors including but not limited to the Company's
financial results, general business conditions and strategies, and statutory
and regulatory restrictions. There is no assurance that dividends will be
declared or distributed in any particular amount or in any form for each
year or in any year.

B2 /AHE D AR A A Qingling Motors Co. Ltd
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group had continuing connected transactions with
(a) Qingling Group and its subsidiaries EEE 5§54 AR A alChongging
Qingling Casting Company Limited (“CQCC"), EEE K IBEER QA
Chongging Qingling Forging Co. Ltd. (“CQFC"), EEEXEBER AT
Chongging Qingling Axle Co. Ltd. ("CQAC"), EEE B ERFARAR]
Chongging Qingling NHK Seat Co. Ltd. (“CONHK"), EEERERARA
&lChongaing Qingling Plastic Co. Ltd. (“CQPC"), EEEXEIRAR A
Chongging Qingling Aluminium Casting Co. Ltd. (“CQACL"), EEE$%A
HEA&EFHABR A FChongging Qingling Automobile Chassis Parts Co.
Ltd. (“QAC"), EEE =7 PR 2 FChongging Qingling Machinery
Parts Co. Ltd. ("QM") and EEE#RZEMRTEHBR A E("Qingling Zhuan
Yong”, formerly known as EEE$ 98 FREIEHFR A FChongging
Qingling Automobile Manufacture and Assembly Co. Ltd.), EEESA
BHEHEMERR A T("Qingling Parts”), EEEHERITRREER AT
("Qingling Vehicle Parts Manufacturing”) and EEE# R EE A
[R A R]("Keyu Parts”), (b) Chongging Qingling Mould Company Limited
("Qingling Mould”), a sino-foreign equity joint venture company owned
as to 50.56% by the Company and 49.44% by Isuzu, also a subsidiary
of the Company; (c) Isuzu, (d) B 3% (FE) AR 25" Isuzu China
Engine”), an entity established and jointly controlled by the Company
and Isuzu, formerly known as 85T +45 (B ) & AR A FQingling
Isuzu (Chongging) Engine Co., Ltd. (“QIEC"), (e) B A+ (EE) R
BHE RIEE R A AQingling Isuzu (Chongaing) Automobile Sales and
Service Co., Ltd. ("Qingling Isuzu Sales”), an entity established and jointly
controlled by the Company and Isuzu, (f) I +85E: (EE) /BRI %
ABRAR]Isuzu Qingling (Chongging) Engineering Co., Ltd (“Isuzu Qingling
Engineering”), an associate controlled by Isuzu and (g) it @& H &4
(EE)EM A 7Bosch Hydrogen Powertrain Systems (Chongging) Co.,
Ltd. ("Bosch”), 40% equity interests of which are owned by the Qingling
Group. Qingling Group and Isuzu held 50.10% and 20.00% of the issued
share capital of the Company respectively as at 31 December 2022.
Pursuant to the Listing Rules, the above parties are connected persons
of the Group. Details of the continuing connected transactions with the
parties are as follows:
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(@)  Significant continuing connected transactions with Qingling Group
and its subsidiaries:

(i)

On 26 November 2019, the Company entered into the New
Parts Supply Agreements with Qingling Group (on behalf of
itself and its subsidiaries — QM, Qingling Zhuan Yong, QAC,
Qingling Parts and Keyu Parts), CQCC (on behalf of itself
and its subsidiaries — Qingling Vehicle Parts Manufacturing),
CQFC, CQAC, CONHK, CQPC and CQACL, respectively,
relating to the supply of certain automobile parts by Qingling
Group, CQCC, CQFC, CQAC, CQNHK, CQPC and CQACL,
respectively, to the Company, and the supply of certain
consolidated services by the Company to CQFC and the
lease of certain machineries by the Company to CQAC. With
respect to the automobile parts provided to the Company,
the price is based on actual costs incurred or reasonable
costs (whichever is lower) plus no more than 8% profit
margin determined in the following order: at prices not higher
than market prices; or if no comparable market price, at
prices based on actual costs or reasonable costs (whichever
is lower) incurred plus no more than 8% profit margin, and
in any event, at prices no less favourable than those offered
to independent third parties. The payment shall be made
within one month after receipt of bill. With respect to the
consolidated services provided by the Company to CQFC, the
price is determined based on actual costs incurred plus taxes
payable. With respect to the lease of machineries by the
Company to CQAC, the rental payable is determined based
on normal commercial terms which are no less favorable than
terms offered by CQAC to independent third parties.
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On 26 November 2019, the Company also entered into the
New Autoparts and Materials Agreement with CQCC, CQFC,
CQACL, CQAC, CQPC, CONHK, QAC, QM, Qingling Zhuan
Yong and Qingling Parts respectively. The Company will
sell to CQCC the scrap metal left over from the Company’s
manufacturing process and the prices shall not be lower
than the market price of scrap metal of the same type
and the price of such scrap metal sold by the Company to
independent third parties (if any); the Company will supply
to CONHK, Qingling Zhuan Yong and Qingling Parts semi-
finished auto parts and the prices of which will be determined
based on costs incurred by the Company plus a profit margin
of not exceeding 8%; and the Company will supply to all
Qingling Autoparts Companies (referring to all subsidiaries of
Qingling Group in the abovementioned agreements) crafting
materials including but not limited to gasoline, diesel, cutting
fluid, tools and equipment, and machinery spare parts which
will be sourced by the Company from suppliers which are
independent and not connected persons to the Company,
and the prices of which will be equivalent to the cost of
sourcing such materials from independent third parties plus
no more than 8% profit margin.

During the year, the amounts for the above continuing
connected transactions are as follows:

Sales of automobile parts and others:

with respect to Qingling Group (Note 7): approximately

RMB5,468,000;

with respect to CQCC: approximately RMB11,316,000;

with respect to CQFC: approximately RMB803,000;

with respect to CQAC: approximately RMB7,124,000;

with respect to CONHK: approximately RMB4,681,000;

with respect to CQPC: approximately RMB245,000; and

with respect to CQACL: approximately RMB492,000.
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Purchases of automobile parts:

with respect to Qingling Group (Note 2): approximately
RMB106,352,000;

with respect to CQCC: approximately RMB9,058,000;

with respect to CQFC: approximately RMB16,695,000;
with respect to CQAC: approximately RMB256,612,000;
with respect to CONHK: approximately RMB37,554,000;
with respect to CQPC: approximately RMB44,007,000; and
with respect to CQACL: approximately RMB4,606,000.

Supply of consolidated services:

With respect to CQFC: approximately RMB1,393,000;

Lease of machineries:

With respect to CQAC: approximately RMB383,000.

Note 1: Including approximately RMB1,216,000, approximately
RMB1,823,000, approximately RMB672,000 and
approximately RMB1,757,000 representing the sales of
parts and raw materials to QM, Qingling Zhuan Yong,
QAC and Qingling Parts respectively during the year.

Note 2: Including approximately RMBO, approximately
RMB9,523,000, approximately RMB90,454,000,
approximately RMB2,550,000, approximately
RMB3,825,000 and approximately RMBO representing
the purchases of automobile parts from Qingling Group,
QM, Qingling Zhuan Yong, QAC, Qingling Parts and Keyu
Parts respectively during the year.
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(ii)

(iif)

(iv)

Qingling Moulds entered into the New Qingling Group Moulds
Supply Agreement with Qingling Group and its subsidiaries
CQCC, CQFC, CQPC, CQACL, CONHK, Isuzu China Engine
and CQAC at a price determined on normal commercial terms
on 26 November 2019, relating to the provision of moulds
and related products and maintenance and processing
services by Qingling Moulds to the aforesaid companies. As
there are no sufficient comparable transactions, the price is
determined with reference to reasonable costs incurred, plus
a profit margin of not exceeding 8% and the consideration
payable is determined after arm’s length negotiations
between the parties thereto, and on terms no less favourable
to Qingling Moulds than terms offered to independent
third parties. During the year, the amount of the continuing
connected transaction was RMBO.

The Company entered into the New Chassis Supply
Agreement with the Qingling Group (on behalf of itself and
its subsidiary — Qingling Zhuan Yong) on 26 November 2019,
relating to the supply of automobile chassis and related
components by the Company to Qingling Group, the price is
determined with reference to the market prices of chassis
and related components with a credit period of three to
six months after the sale. During the year, the amount of
the continuing connected transaction was approximately
RMB190,767,000.

The Company entered into the New Warehouse Leasing
Agreement on 26 November 2019 with Qingling Group (for
itself and on behalf of its wholly-owned subsidiary-Keyu
Parts), relating to the lease of (i) warehouse: an open-air
warehouse with an area of approximately 25,833.51 m?, an
indoor warehouse with an area of approximately 50,000 m?, (ii)
a parcel of land with an area of approximately 20,697 m? to be
used as site for autoparts inspection, testing and operation, (iii)
a parcel of land with an area of approximately 19,880.4 m? to
be used as site for storage of autoparts and raw materials, (iv)
a parcel of land with an area of approximately 10,000 m?, (v)
a house used as cultural and educational center with an area
of approximately 4,784.28 m?; and (vi) a parcel of land located
at the east of CQFC with an area of approximately 22,507.7
m? by Qingling Group (or its wholly-owned subsidiary-Keyu
Parts) to the Company at a consideration of approximately
RMB5,840,000, RMB961,000, RMB923,000, RMB464,000,
RMB830,000, and RMB1,029,000 (VAT exclusive),
respectively per annum.
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For the above item (i), the leasing consideration is determined
after arm’s length negotiations between the parties, on
normal commercial terms, and (for the Company) at prices
not higher than market prices or no less favourable than
those offered by Qingling Group to independent third parties.
For the above lands mentioned in item (i) to item (iv), the
considerations are determined after arm’s length negotiations
between the parties, on normal commercial terms with
reference to the prevailing market rent and current rent
payable by the Group under the warehouses leasing
agreements, and (for the Company) at prices not higher than
market prices or no less favourable than those offered by
Qingling Group to independent third parties. For the above
lands/properties mentioned in item (v) and ltem (vi), the
considerations are determined after arm’s length negotiations
between the parties, on normal commercial terms, and
(for the Company) at prices no less favourable than those
offered by the Company for leasing of comparable properties
from independent third parties. The directors (including
independent non-executive directors) are of the view that the
New Warehouse Leasing Agreement is fair and reasonable,
such transactions will continue to be conducted on normal
commercial terms and in the ordinary and usual course of
business of the Group, and, such transactions (including
the rents payable by the Company), are in the interests of
the Company and the shareholders (the “Shareholders”)
of the Company as a whole. During the year, the amount
of the continuing connected transaction was approximately
RMB10,047,000.

The Company entered into the New Machinery Leasing
Agreement with CQFC on 26 November 2019, relating to
the lease of equipment for processing of casting and forging
parts from CQFC by the Company. The consideration payable
is determined after arm’s length negotiations between the
parties thereto, on normal commercial terms, and (for the
Company) with leasing terms no less favourable than those
offered by CQFC to independent third parties. During the
year, the amount of the continuing connected transaction
was approximately RMB2,000,000.
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(vi)

The Company entered into the New Qingling Group
Equipment Lease (the “Lease”) with the Qingling Group
on 26 November 2019,relating to the lease of equipment,
namely the 110kVA electrical substation and its ancillary
facilities (the "“Leased Equipment (Qingling Group)”), from
Qingling Group by the Company. The rent for the Leased
Equipment (Qingling Group) is determined after arm's
length negotiations between the parties thereto, on normal
commercial terms, and (for the Company) with terms no
less favourable than those offered by Qingling Group to
independent third parties. The Company shall pay the rent for
the quarter before the last day of such quarter by crediting
a bank account specified by the Qingling Group. During the
term of lease, electricity charges incurred by the Company
for using the Leased Equipment (Qingling Group) will be
borne by the Company. As the account for the payment of
electricity charges is opened under the name of Qingling
Group, the monthly payment of electricity charges for the
electricity consumed by the Leased Equipment (Qingling
Group) is advanced by Qingling Group, which will be settled
by the Company. The Company shall pay the electricity bill
for last month before the last day of each month. During the
year, the amount of the continuing connected transaction in
relation to the lease of Leased Equipment (Qingling Group)
was approximately RMB875,000.

The details and amount of the above connected transactions with
Qingling Group and its subsidiaries during the year are set out in
note 37(i) to the consolidated financial statements.

Significant continuing connected transactions with Qingling Moulds:

On 26 November 2019, the Company and Qingling Moulds entered
into the following agreements:

(i

The New Qingling Moulds Supply Agreement, relating to the
supply of moulds and related products and maintenance and
processing services by Qingling Moulds to the Company,
the supply of raw materials, processing services, and
consolidated services by the Company to Qingling Moulds
including but not limited to water, electricity and gas supply
services, equipment repair and maintenance services,
medical and hygiene services and the three warranties.
The price is determined on normal commercial terms, or if
there are no sufficient comparable transactions to assess
whether they are on normal commercial terms, on terms
fair and reasonable to the Company and no less favourable
than terms offered by Qingling Moulds to independent third
parties.

During the year, the purchase amount of the continuing
connected transaction was approximately RMB34,645,000,
the sales amount was approximately RMB715,000 and the
consolidated services income was RMB1,345,000.
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The New Qingling Moulds Lease, relating to the lease of
a parcel of land with an area of 7,420 m? on the Land (the
“Land (Qingling Moulds)") from the Company to be used
for the production and operation of Qingling Moulds, and
the effective period is from 1 January 2020 to 31 December
2022. The rent for the Land (Qingling Moulds) is determined
with reference to the prevailing market rent and the rent paid
by Qingling Moulds under the Qingling Moulds Lease, after
arm’s length negotiations between the parties thereto and on
normal commercial terms, and (for the Company) with terms
no less favourable than those offered by the Company to
independent third parties. The monthly rent under the New
Qingling Moulds Lease is RMB3,587.35 per month. During
the year, the amount of the continuing connected transaction
was approximately RMB43,000.

(c)  Significant continuing connected transactions with Isuzu:

(i

(ii)

On 26 November 2019, the Company entered into the New
Isuzu Supply Agreement with Isuzu whereby Isuzu supplies
the Company with certain automobile parts produced by Isuzu
and which are required in the production processes. As there
are no sufficient comparable transactions, the price of the
Company's purchases of automobile parts is determined with
reference to actual or reasonable costs (whichever is lower)
incurred plus a profit margin of not more than 10%, and the
payment shall be made at the time of delivery. During the
year, the amount of the continuing connected transaction
was approximately RMB54,610,000.

On 26 November 2019, the Company entered into the
New Company Supply Agreement with Isuzu whereby the
Company supplies Isuzu and/or its wholly-owned subsidiary
with complete vehicle, accessory sets and other automobile
parts. As there are no sufficient comparable transactions, the
price is determined in accordance with actual or reasonable
costs (whichever is lower) incurred plus a profit margin
of not more than 10%, and the payment shall be made
within 40 days after delivery. During the year, the amount
of the continuing connected transaction was approximately
RMB2,397,000.
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(iii)

During the year, the Company continued the transactions
under the F Chassis Technology Transfer Agreement, 700P3X
Series Technology Transfer Agreement and Technology
Licence Agreements with Isuzu entered on 20 February 2000,
23 May 2008, and 27 April 2016, respectively, in relation to
the transfer of technology and provision of technical know-
how and the permission to use the trademark of Isuzu by
Isuzu to the Company for the production and sales of F series
Chassis and related parts and components, 700P3X series
vehicles and related parts and components, CYH vehicles,
CYZ vehicles and EXR/EXZ vehicles.

Pursuant to the F Chassis Technology Transfer Agreement,
the transaction pricing is set as an initial fee (which has
already been fully paid by the Company to Isuzu), plus
royalties, which is determined with reference to the price
of the parts and components manufactured and sold by the
Company pursuant to the agreement, staff training fees and
technical assistance fees.

Pursuant to the 700P3X Series Technology Transfer
Agreement, the transaction pricing is set as the product
development and production technical support fee (which
has already been fully paid by the Company to Isuzu) plus
a commission fee calculated at 3% of the on-site added
value of each vehicle. The on-site added value is determined
by reference to the wholesale price of the vehicle less
the aggregate of the import price of relevant parts and
components, the price of parts and components with
standard specifications and the price of engine assembly and
parts.

Pursuant to the Technology Licence Agreements (as
defined in sub-section (i) below), for the sale of each CYH,
CYZ and EXR/EXZ vehicles, the transaction pricing is set as
the royalties payable by the Company to Isuzu, which are
calculated at 3% of the on-site added value of each vehicle.
The on-site added value is determined by reference to the
wholesale price of the vehicle less the aggregate of the
import price of relevant parts and components, the price of
parts and components with standard specifications and the
price of licensed engines.
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In addition, the Company entered into the 3XCAB Agreement
with Isuzu on 23 June 2016, pursuant to which, Isuzu will
continue to provide technology and technical know-how, staff
training and technical assistance in relation to the Company's
production of permitted cabs as defined under the relevant
agreement in respect of the permitted vehicles as defined
under the agreement on production and sale and permit the
Company to use the trademark and emblem of “ISUZU".
With respect to the transfer of technology and provision
of technical know-how, the transaction pricing is set as
commission fee, payable by the Company to Isuzu in relation
to the sale of each permitted vehicle, which is calculated at
3% of the on-site added value of each vehicle (the on-site
added value is determined by reference to the wholesale
price of the vehicle less the aggregate of the import price
of relevant parts and components and the price of parts and
components with standard specifications). For the use of the
trademark of Isuzu, JPY2,000 is payable to Isuzu in relation to
the sale of each permitted vehicle.

Also, the Company and Isuzu entered into the Trademark
Licensing Agreement on 26 March 2021. Isuzu continues
to grant the Company a non-transferable right to use the
trademarks and emblems of Isuzu, “ISUZU" and “"F+$",
in the sale of the 600P, 100P and TF/UC series vehicles
produced by the Company from 28 March 2021 to the
expiry date of the term as stipulated by relevant PRC rules
or regulations, and the license fee for each series of vehicle
is as follows: JPY2,000 for each 600P series vehicle sold,
JPY1,500 for each 100P series vehicle sold and JPY1,500 for
each TF/UC series vehicle sold.
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During the year, the amount incurred for the continuing
connected transaction under the technology transfer
agreements, technology licensing agreements and Trademark
Licensing Agreement was approximately RMB6,540,000.

The details and amount of the above continuing connected
transactions with Isuzu during the year are set out in note 37(ii) to
the consolidated financial statements.

Significant continuing connected transactions with Isuzu China
Engine:

On 26 November 2019, the Company and Isuzu China Engine
entered into the following agreements:

(i)

(ii)

The New Supply Agreement, relating to the provision of
parts of engines and raw materials by the Company to
Isuzu China Engine whereas Isuzu China Engine provides
engines and their parts to the Company. The Agreement
shall be effective from 1 January 2020 to 31 December
2022, and may be renewed at expiration with the consent
of the parties and with the consent of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and/or the
approval of the Shareholders in accordance with the Listing
Rules, if necessary. As there are no sufficient comparable
transactions, the selling price of the products to be supplied/
purchased shall be the actual costs of the supplying party
plus a premium of not exceeding 10%. Such premium shall
be finalised by both parties on the basis that it is fair and
reasonable to both parties. Payment for the previous month
shall be made to the supplier by the end of each month.
During the year, the purchase amount of the continuing
connected transaction was approximately RMB655,192,000
and the selling amount was approximately RMB193,195,000.

The New Consolidated Services Agreement, relating to the
provision of certain services (including services such as water,
electricity and gas supply, transportation, equipment repair
and maintenance, medical and hygiene and three warranties)
by the Company to Isuzu China Engine. The Agreement shall
be effective from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2022. The
actual price for the services to be provided by the Company
under the New Consolidated Services Agreement or any
further specific agreement(s) shall be the actual costs of the
Company plus taxes payable. During the year, the amount
of the continuing connected transaction was approximately
RMB1,280,000.
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The New Equipment Lease, relating to the lease of leased
equipment (the “Lease Equipment (Isuzu China Engine)”) by
the Company to Isuzu China Engine. The Agreement shall
be effective from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2022.
The rent for the Lease Equipment (Isuzu China Engine) is
determined on normal commercial terms through arm’s
length negotiations between the parties thereto as well as (for
the Company) on terms no less favourable than those offered
by the Company to independent third parties, with reference
to the market value of Lease Equipment (Isuzu China Engine).
During the year, the amount of the continuing connected
transaction was approximately RMB42,210,000.

The New Factory Lease, relating to the lease of land
(the "Leased Land"”) and factory premises (the “Factory
Premises”) by the Company to Isuzu China Engine. The
Agreement shall be effective from 1 January 2020 to
31 December 2022. The monthly rent is approximately
RMB351,000 (VAT exclusive). The rents for the Lease
Land and the Factory Premises are determined on normal
commercial terms through arm’s length negotiations
between the parties thereto as well as (for the Company) on
terms no less favourable than those offered by the Company
to independent third parties. During the year, the amount
of the continuing connected transaction was approximately
RMB4,210,000.

The details and amount of the above continuing connected
transactions with Isuzu China Engine during the year are also set

out in note 37(iii) to the consolidated financial statements.
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Significant continuing connected transactions with Qingling Isuzu
Sales:

On 26 November 2019, the Company and Qingling Isuzu Sales
entered into the following agreements:

(i) The New Sales JV Lease, relating to the lease of the land
located at Ab-1-2, Erlang Science and Technology New City,
Jiulongpo District, Chongging City, the PRC (the “Sales JV
Leased Land”) and the buildings and structures erected
thereon (the “Sales JV Premises”) by the Company to
Qingling Isuzu Sales. The lease agreement shall be effective
from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2022. The rent for
the Sales JV Leased Land and the Sales JV Premises is
determined on normal commercial terms through arm’s
length negotiations between the parties thereto as well as (for
the Company) on terms no less favourable than those offered
by the Company to independent third parties. The monthly
rent is approximately RMB130,000. On 9 November 2021,
the Company entered into a compensation and rehousing
agreement with the Chongqging Municipal Housing Authority
of Jiulongpo District and the New Sales JV Lease was
terminated in advance on 9 November 2021.

(i) ~ The New Sales JV Supply Agreement, relating to the
provision of automobiles and parts by the Company to
Qingling Isuzu Sales. The Agreement shall be effective
from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2022 and may be
renewed at expiration with the consent of the parties and
with the consent of the Stock Exchange and/or the approval
of the Shareholders in accordance with the Listing Rules,
if necessary. The actual selling prices of the automobiles
or their parts to be supplied/purchased under other related
terms in any other specific agreement shall not be lower than
the market prices of the automobiles or their parts and shall
not be lower than the prices offered to independent third
parties. If there are no comparable market prices, prices shall
be based on actual costs or reasonable costs (whichever is
lower) incurred plus a profit margin of not more than 8%.
During the year, the amount of the continuing connected
transaction was approximately RMB7,264,000.

The details and amounts of the above continuing connected
transactions with Qingling Isuzu Sales during the year are set out in
note 37(iv) to the consolidated financial statements.
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Continuing connected transactions with Isuzu Qingling Engineering:

On 26 November 2019, the Company and Isuzu Qingling
Engineering entered into the following agreements:

(i) The New Consolidated Services Agreement (Isuzu Qingling
Engineering), relating to the provision of certain services
(including services such as water, electricity and gas supply,
vehicle rental supply, telecommunication, network cable
lease and other support) by the Company to Isuzu Qingling
Engineering. The Agreement shall be effective from 1
January 2020 to 31 December 2022. The price of the service
to be provided by the Company under the New Consolidated
Services Agreement (Isuzu Qingling Engineering) or any
further individual service contract is determined at the actual
costs of the Company plus taxes payable. During the year,
the amount of the continuing connected transaction was
approximately RMB61,000.

The details and amount of the above continuing connected
transaction with Isuzu Qingling Engineering during the year are also
set out in note 37(v) to the consolidated financial statements.

Continuing connected transactions with Bosch:

On 30 December 2021, the Company and Bosch entered into
the Supply Agreement in respect of the supply of hydrogen-
powered modules by Bosch to the Company. The Agreement shall
be effective from 30 August 2021 (or the date which the Supply
Agreement complies with all relevant approval formalities and/or
other approval procedures under the Listing Rules (if applicable),
whichever is later) to 31 December 2022. The selling price is
based on the industry benchmark price of a fair market. During
the year, the amount of the continuing connected transaction was
approximately RMB146,001,000.

The details and amounts of the above continuing connected

transactions with Bosch during the year are also set out in note
37(vi) to the consolidated financial statements.
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Other continuing connected transactions:

The Company, Isuzu China Engine and Isuzu Qingling Engineering
entered into the New Testing Agreement on 26 November 2019,
relating to the provision of testing services (including but not limited
to smoking tests, external property tests and combustion analysis
tests for full-loading and steady rolling engines; temperature
resistance tests for vehicles; and endurance tests and vibration
tests for parts) by the Company to Isuzu China Engine and Isuzu
Qingling Engineering. The Agreement shall be effective from 1
January 2020 to 31 December 2022. Prices for services provided
shall not be less than the market prices. If there are no comparable
market prices, prices shall be determined based on the actual or
reasonable costs incurred (whichever is lower) plus a profit margin
of not more than 8%. During the year, the Company did not provide
the testing services to Isuzu China Engine and Isuzu Qingling
Engineering.

The details and amounts of the above continuing connected
transactions with Isuzu China Engine during the year are also set
out in note 37(iii) to the consolidated financial statements.

The Company's auditor was engaged to conduct audit work in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and with reference to Practice Note
740 "Auditor’'s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Pursuant to the Rule 14A.56 of the
Listing Rules, the auditor has issued a letter to the Board of the
Company that nothing has come to their attention that causes them
to believe that the continuing connected transactions disclosed by
the Group (except those de minimis transactions which are fully
exempted pursuant to Rule 14A.76(1) of the Listing Rules):

1. have not been approved by the Board of the Company;
2. were not,in all material respects, in accordance with the
pricing policies of the Group if the transactions involve the

provision of goods or services by the Group;

3. were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance
with the relevant agreement governing the transactions; and

4. have exceeded the relevant annual caps set by the Company.
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The independent non-executive directors of the Company confirm
that the transactions have been entered into by the Group in the
ordinary and usual course of its business, on normal commercial
terms or better and in accordance with the agreement governing
them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Shareholders as a whole.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(i)

On 27 April 2016, the Company and Isuzu entered into (i) the CYH
Technology Licence Agreement; (ii) the CYZ Technology Licence
Agreement; and (iii) the EXR/EXZ Technology Licence Agreement
(collectively, the “Technology Licence Agreements”), respectively,
in relation to the provision of technology and technical know-
how, staff training and technical assistance and the licence to use
the trademark and the emblem of Isuzu by Isuzu to the Company
for the production and sale of (i) CYH; (ii) CYZ; and (iii) EXR/EXZ
vehicles in the PRC on a non-exclusive basis.

For the CYH Technology Licence Agreement, an initial fee of
JPY700,000,000 is payable by the Company to Isuzu in the
following manner: (i) 40% of the initial fee shall be payable within
30 days from the date of approval granted by the relevant PRC
authorities; (ii) 10% of the initial fee for each of the sample vehicles
CYH®, CYH®, CYH® and CYH® and a total of 40% of the initial
fee shall be payable within 30 days from the date of completion
of the provision of each CYH vehicles confirmed in writing by both
the Company and Isuzu; and (iii) 5% of the initial fee for each of the
sample vehicles CYH®, CYH®, CYH® and CYH® and a total of
20% of the initial fee shall be payable within 30 days from the date
of the bulk production of each CYH vehicles confirmed in writing by
both the Company and Isuzu.

For the CYZ Technology Licence Agreement, an initial fee of
JPY700,000,000 is payable by the Company to Isuzu in the
following manner: (i) 40% of the initial fee shall be payable within
30 days from the date of approval granted by the relevant PRC
authorities; (ii) 40% of the initial fee shall be payable within 30 days
from the date of completion of the provision of technical knowhow
confirmed in writing by both the Company and Isuzu; and (iii) 20%
of the initial fee shall be payable within 30 days from the date of
the bulk production of the CYZ vehicles confirmed in writing by
both the Company and Isuzu.

B2 /3E MM AR A A Qingling Motors Co. Ltd
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(ii)

For the EXR/EXZ Technology Licence Agreement, an initial fee
of JPY700,000,000 is payable by the Company to Isuzu in the
following manner: (i) 40% of the initial fee shall be payable within
30 days from the date of approval granted by the relevant PRC
authorities; (ii) 40% of the initial fee shall be payable within 30 days
from the date of completion of the provision of technical know-how
confirmed in writing by both the Company and Isuzu; and (iii) 20%
of the initial fee shall be payable within 30 days from the date of
the bulk production of the EXR/EXZ vehicles confirmed in writing by
both the Company and Isuzu.

The Company also has to pay royalties to Isuzu in relation to the
sale of each CYH, CYZ and EXR/EXZ vehicles, which are calculated
at 3% of the on-site added value of each vehicle.

No payment was conducted in the current period because the CYH
agreement is no longer being developed.

On 4 July 2018, the Company and Isuzu entered into (i)VC66(CYH)
National Vlb Technology Development Agreement; (ii) VC66(CYZ)
National VIb Technology Development Agreement; and (iii)
VCB6(EXR/EXZ) National VIb Technology Development Agreement,
respectively. The Company engaged Isuzu to carry out design
change related development for the relevant (i)VC61(CYH), (ii)
VCB1(CYZ) and (iii)VCB1(EXR/EXZ) basic vehicles so as to allow
equipping such vehicles with the sample engine for VC66 series
vehicles and ensure compliance with the relevant National
VIb emission regulations and other regulations required by
certifications on model (announcement), oil consumption, safety
and CCC, compliance with the same CAN (Control Area Network)
communication standard as used for the basic vehicles, and to
provide technical guidance or study services. Isuzu shall submit the
Company with the relevant technical information together with a
set of documents and electronic data recording the details of such
technical information in accordance with the agreement. The term
of the agreement is from 28 June 2017 to the date of completion
of payment of consideration under the agreement.

In respect of the VC66(CYH) National VIb Technology Development
Agreement, the Company shall pay the consideration to Isuzu in the
following way: (a) Payment of JPY 125,356,000 within 30 days from
the date of entering into of the VC66(CYH) National VIb Technology
Development Agreement; (b) Payment of JPY 125,356,000 within 30
days upon completion of Isuzu’s provision of relevant information
on development technology to the Company as confirmed by both
parties in writing; (c) Payment of JPY62,678,000 within 30 days
from the date of commencement of manufacturing and assembling
vehicles using the relevant information on development technology.
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In respect of the VC66(CYZ) National VIb Technology Development
Agreement, the Company shall pay the consideration to Isuzu in the
following way: (a) Payment of JPY 125,356,000 within 30 days from
the date of entering into of the VC66(CYZ) National Vlb Technology
Development Agreement; (b) Payment of JPY 125,356,000 within 30
days upon completion of Isuzu’s provision of relevant information
on development technology to the Company as confirmed by both
parties in writing; (c) Payment of JPY62,678,000 within 30 days
from the date of commencement of manufacturing and assembling
vehicles using the relevant information on development technology.

In respect of the VC66(EXR/EXZ) National VIib Technology
Development Agreement, the Company shall pay the consideration
to Isuzu in the following way: (a) Payment of JPY257,284,000
within 30 days from the date of entering into of the VC66(EXR/EXZ)
National VIb Technology Development Agreement; (b) Payment
of JPY257,284,000 within 30 days upon completion of Isuzu's
provision of relevant information on development technology to the
Company as confirmed by both parties in writing; (c) Payment of
JPY 128,642,000 within 30 days from the date of commencement
of manufacturing and assembling vehicles using the relevant
information on development technology.

The consideration payable under the above agreements is
determined based on the technical advancement and market
prospect of products and with reference to the consideration under
the technology licence agreements of other companies in the
industry. The above payments shall be made by the Company to
Isuzu in JPY after deduction of taxes payable by Isuzu to the PRC
government.

In 2018, the Company paid JPY 125,356,000, JPY125,356,000 and
JPY257,284,000 to Isuzu in respect of (i) VC66(CYH) National VIb
Technology Development Agreement : (ii) VC66(CYZ) National
VIb Technology Development Agreement; and (iii) VC66(EXR/EXZ)
National VIb Technology Development Agreement, respectively.
No payment was made in current period about the above three
contracts.

For the 700P3X (with 4JZ1 150 horsepower National Vib)
Technology Development Agreement dated 2 August 2019, an
initial fee of JPY580,370,000 is payable by the Company to Isuzu
in the following manners: (i) Payment of JPY232,148,000 within 30
days from the date of entering into of the 700P3X (with 4JZ1 150
horsepower National VIb) Technology Development Agreement; (ii)
Payment of JPY232,148,000 within 30 days from the completion
of Isuzu's provision of the relevant technological development
information to the Company as confirmed by both parties in
writing; (iii) Payment of JPY116,074,000 within 30 days from the
date of commencement of mass manufacturing and assembling
of vehicles using the relevant technological development
information by the Company or the collaborative enterprises of the
Company as confirmed by both parties in writing. The entity pays
JPY232,148,000 in 2019, which was not paid in the current period.

B2 /3E MM AR A A Qingling Motors Co. Ltd

41



42

552

HE

DIRECTORS" REPORT

(iii)

RIERNAFERDN T35 2B FFHE
K &I EN AR B BTSRRI ES7 (i) ©

ERRRZE-N\FAA+NBBRE
g uLﬂTEQEF%£+

REBEBE OO TRER(EE)A
HERHERAB(ATRERIEE
B (BB MBEEHDORE - R
ﬁ+f%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ+?¢l?ﬁ%)
A TRERABETHHERZT—NF
+AZBXRGRKEE) - EEnTTﬁﬁgx
BHpEE - UL - Ao BB AR
WapthHRERAETEMG - A8
R B ERE M T ERNTFER
A RERTRERABETHHNEE
AE- -BE ¥ -BH  AE- -5
R E M — R BT - A TERER
RETBHSRE T EEAERRE o 1t
I RZB-NE+AZBXSKER
%) ApaE - BREERATRITE
ATHEEAR - WAREESBERE
MEES GF A+ 85 B B B a0 E R D
B RVBEHEHESE - AYIBE
AR TR SRR AN MELEHRE
K735 ©

ARE - BREBERAEHHRAETRME
BHENATRPEESRANHELL
) H2REEEMEBESHAINA T
TEEBEEATRERTETHRME
HELLG) - ARBIFFHEA—F
—tF+ A=+ BERMESE
Bt A+RTPEESHELA+RE
RABETHMHHFEEEERTE - R
BRtRTPEEPHRFERS RO TR

BRTET AR MEE - ATRPE
BEBR R A TRERIBETEHNRER
2HEEN_FT—tF+-_A=1t—H

D RIAEARS84,919,7007T kAR
1,404,035,5007C - IHEZHESLER
LeBlEn R AR -

3R 2022 ANNUAL REPORT

(iif)

The details and amounts of the connected transaction with Isuzu
during the year are also set out in note 37(ii) to the consolidated
financial statements.

On 18 September 2018, the Company convened a Board meeting
at which the proposal regarding the merger by absorption of i+
BRERER)IETHMMHAMR AR (Isuzu Qingling (Chongging)
Autoparts Co., Ltd.) (“Isuzu Qingling Autoparts”) by QIEC (the
“Merger”) was considered and approved. QIEC (currently known
as Isuzu China Engine) and Isuzu Qingling Autoparts entered into
the Merger Agreement on 2 October 2018 (after trading hours),
pursuant to which, Isuzu China Engine will absorb and merge
with Isuzu Qingling Autoparts, and Isuzu China Engine will be the
surviving company upon completion of the Merger and assume all
the assets, liabilities, operations, qualifications, personnel, contracts
and all other rights and obligations of Isuzu Qingling Autoparts
and Isuzu Qingling Autoparts will be dissolved and deregistered.
Further, on 2 October 2018 (after trading hours), the Company,
Qingling Group and Isuzu also entered into (i) the joint venture
agreement to set out their respective rights and obligations in Isuzu
China Engine in accordance with the Merger; and (ii) the Priority
Supply Memorandum to set out the agreement in relation to the
priority supply of goods by Isuzu China Engine to the Company.

The proportion of the capital contribution by the Company, Qingling
Group and Isuzu to Isuzu China Engine upon completion of the
Merger are determined with reference to their respective capital
contribution to Isuzu China Engine and Isuzu Qingling Autoparts
before the Merger and the net asset values of Isuzu China Engine
and Isuzu Qingling Autoparts as valued by the independent
valuer with 31 December 2017 as the valuation benchmark date.
According to the Isuzu China Engine Valuation Report and the
Isuzu Qingling Autoparts Valuation Report, the total interests of
shareholders of Isuzu China Engine and Isuzu Qingling Autoparts
as at 31 December 2017 amounted to RMB884,919,700 and
RMB1,404,035,500, respectively. The amount and proportion of
their respective capital contribution are set out in the table below:
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HE&EHE HELEH
Amount of capital Proportion of
contribution capital contribution

GE7)

(USD)
il s Isuzu 164,107,986 50.61%
BREHE Qingling Group 97,472,556 30.06%
¥\ N/N The Company 62,679,458 19.33%
piN T4 B EiL I A The existing continuing connected transactions entered into
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between the Group with Isuzu China Engine include the followings:

(a)

the New Supply Agreement dated 26 November 2019
entered into between the Company and Isuzu China Engine
relating to the provision of parts of engines and raw materials
by the Company to Isuzu China Engine, and the provision
of engines and their parts by Isuzu China Engine to the
Company;

the New Equipment Lease dated 26 November 2019 entered
into between the Company and Isuzu China Engine relating
to the leasing of the Leased Equipment (Isuzu China Engine)
by the Company to Isuzu China Engine;

the New Factory Lease dated 26 November 2019 entered
into between the Company and Isuzu China Engine relating
to the leasing of the Leased Land and the Factory Premises
by the Company to Isuzu China Engine;

the New Consolidated Services Agreement dated 26
November 2019 entered into between the Company and Isuzu
China Engine relating to the provision of certain services by
the Company to Isuzu China Engine; and
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(iv)

(e) the New Testing Agreement dated 26 November 2019
entered into between the Company and, among others,
Isuzu China Engine relating to the provision of certain testing
services by the Company to Isuzu China Engine.

Following the conclusion of the Merger, Isuzu China Engine, being
the surviving company, would assume all the assets, liabilities,
operations, qualification, personnel, contracts and all other rights
and obligations of Isuzu Qingling Autoparts, all the terms under
the aforesaid agreements, therefore, will remain unchanged,
except that the name of the party to an agreement will be changed
from Isuzu Qingling Autoparts to Isuzu China Engine in certain
circumstances (as appropriate), and Isuzu China Engine will
continue to proceed with the continuing connected transactions
contemplated thereunder.

On 26 March 2021, the Company entered into an agreement with
Qingling Zhuan Yong, pursuant to which the Company agreed to
pay RMB89 million to Qingling Zhuan Yong regarding the judgment
by BRA FIImEEEARZER the Intermediate People’s Court
of Futian District, Shenzhen, Guangdong on 14 May 2018 and the
appeal judgement by ERA =R ARER the Guangdong Higher
People’s Court on 2 August 2019, (collectively, the “Judgments”)
and Qingling Zhuan Yong also agreed to recover the debts under
the Judgments from the other debtors in accordance with the
Judgments. In the event that Qingling Zhuan Yong successfully
recovers any amount of such debts from the other debtors, subject
to the compliance with the relevant provisions of applicable laws,
regulations and rules (including but not limited to the Listing Rules),
it will, upon receipt of such amount, return the remaining amount
after deducting its cost incurred therefrom to the Company.

On 16 December 2022, the Company entered into the Marketing
Fee Agreement with Isuzu, pursuant to which Isuzu agreed to pay
to the Company a marketing fee of approximately RMB94,000,000
for the conducting of advertising and promotional activities of
the Isuzu brand, including market development, product trials,
exhibitions, advertising and other promotional activities by the
Company. All advertising and promotional activities contemplated
under the Marketing Fee Agreement have been completed by the
Company in December 2022.

The information of the related party transactions entered into by
the Group is set out in note 37(i) to (vi) to the consolidated financial
statements. Those related party transactions also constitute
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions as
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, and the Board confirms
that the Company has complied with the requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for those transactions.



IXEERRER

BE-_Z-_—_F#+-_A=1+—HBIFE K&
BMRAAEEEGEFEIERES2.38% ' AN
HEEEAEEEE15.43% - BRERKEN
BRAE] ARalz—MEeERARATRER
HEHEZHRBHTFAEEZ —FMBAESA
AYBAER AARER - HEREERE
MEBAR > MER+HZRIGHFBHNLEX
[BERS]—fR - B Lt EN  HE-Z
T CE+-A=+—BHIFE  AAREER
BEE CHBMBASTABRRBEESSHAE
BE5% A EARRARIZBAZE) SEEEANEER
AAREmITAER BE-_T-_—_F+—-A
=t+—HIFE  BEREEAEATFE  BE
BREBIN  AEERRBRPEGABHESERR
AEERIHERE 230% °

AJiRAREE %7 « RARHE - SORRHEEEEL
L EF

AAFREMEARRAFEILEETHR N
IR ARRE 7 - RERHE - SRR A
A o

AR 3 R AR B S I 8 ) R Ak R4
BRI TR ORI T sl R 2 ik
1E - BE - BBREESRLER -

REFR

RZZ-_—F+-_A=+—8 AEBWET
A& 35173k B B BB A B B AR A2 ER 1B 2 (£ 1A
TEHER -

MR HESRE*AFRZ LHiE
-

RAFER  AABRHEMBATLEREE -
BERHEEMARRBZ LHES °

B8

R-Z-_—F+-_A=+—8 A&£EBEEEA
HE2,846 AN(Z T ——4 : 2,934 A) ° IAARE
ER - EEABRMEFERI BB ESKE
B AEERGASEEE THRITEHRSLE
st & -

EEERE
DIRECTORS' REPORT

FIVE LARGEST SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the purchases from five largest
suppliers accounted for 32.38% of the total purchases of the Group.
The purchases from the largest supplier accounted for 15.43% of the
total purchases. Qingling Group and its subsidiaries, a joint venture of
the Company and a Japanese trading company, through which Isuzu
channels its supply of parts and components to the Group, are included
in the five largest suppliers of the Group. Details of transactions with
Qingling Group and its subsidiaries and with Isuzu are set out in the
section “Connected Transactions” above. Other than disclosed above,
the Company's directors and supervisors, their associates or any
Shareholders (which to the knowledge of the directors own more than 5%
of the Company’s share capital), did not have any interests in the Group's
five largest suppliers for the year ended 31 December 2022. For the year
ended 31 December 2022, Qingling Group was the largest customer. The
aggregate sales attributable to the Group's five largest customers (except
Qingling Group) were less than 30% of the Group's total sales.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, OPTIONS, WARRANTS
OR SIMILAR RIGHTS

The Company and its subsidiaries did not issue or grant any convertible
securities, options, warrants or similar rights during the year.

There were no outstanding or conversion of convertible securities,
options, warrants or similar rights issued or granted by the Company or
its subsidiaries and jointly controlled entity during the year.

DESIGNATED DEPOSITS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not hold any designated deposits
or any time deposits that were overdue but could not be collected upon
maturity.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, none of the Company or its subsidiaries had purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company'’s listed securities.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 2,846 employees (2021: 2,934
employees). During the year, no material change was noted for the
number of employees or their remuneration policy. The Group actively
formulated and implemented various training to its staff of all levels.
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STAFF RETIREMENT SCHEME

Details of the Group's staff retirement benefits scheme are set out in
note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules. Based on specific enquires to all directors and
supervisors, the Company confirms that all directors and supervisors
have complied with the requirements of the Model Code during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company's Articles
of Association.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information on the Company’s corporate governance practices is set
out in the “Corporate Governance Report” from pages 48 to 67.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of its directors, there is sufficient public float as
not less than 25% of the Company's issued shares are held by the public
throughout the year 2022.

REVIEW OF ACCOUNTS

The audit committee has reviewed with the management and auditors
of the Company the accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Group and discussed auditing, internal controls and financial reporting
matters including the review of the audited consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2022.

AUDITORS

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting for 2023 to
re-appoint Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants LLP
and Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditors of the Company.
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CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

In accordance with Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, during the period
from 25 August 2022 (the date of 2022 interim report of the Company)
to 28 March 2023 (the date of the 2022 annual report of the Company),
changes in information of directors required to be disclosed pursuant to
paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules are as

follows:

1. Mr. MASUDA Yoichi resigned as an executive director of the
Company with effect from 25 August 2022;

2. Mr. YAGI Naoto resigned as an executive director of the Company
with effect from 25 August 2022;

3. Mr. NAKAMURA Osamu was appointed as an executive director of
the Company with effect from 25 August 2022; and

4. Mr. KIJIMA Katsuya was appointed as an executive director of the
Company with effect from 25 August 2022.

By order of the Board
LUO Yuguang
CHAIRMAN

Chongging, the PRC
28 March 2023
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The Company puts high emphasis on and endeavors to maintain a
high standard of corporate governance. The Board believes that good
corporate governance practices are important to promote investors’
confidence and protect the interest of our Shareholders. The Company
attaches importance to our staff, our code of conduct and our corporate
policies and standards, which together form the basis of our corporate
governance practices. The Board has adopted sound corporate
governance and disclosure practices, and is committed to continuously
improving those practices and cultivating an ethical corporate culture.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company has complied with
the code provisions in the Corporate Governance Code as set out in
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.

PURPOSE, VALUES, STRATEGY AND CULTURE

The core purpose of the Company is to create value for its shareholders.
It strives to become the leading pioneer in the motor industry that is
trusted by its consumers, and a place where its employees are proud to
work for. Its mission is to lead the development of the industry and set
the industry bench-marks. In this connection, it endeavours to maintain
accountability to its employees, consumers, shareholders, the society,
and the environment. These purpose and values shape the Company's
strategy, which are geared towards building a trusted and beloved motor
enterprise whereby values for shareholders are created.

The Company’s purpose, values and strategy form the foundations
of the Company’s corporate culture. Its corporate culture is centered
on adherence to high ethical standards and practices, and striving for
sustainable development.

THE BOARD

Members of the Board are accountable to the shareholders for the
success and sustainable development of the Company. The Board
is responsible for the management of all the important issues of
the Company, including the duties of convening general meetings,
implementing the resolutions passed at the general meetings,
determining the operating strategies and investment proposals of the
Company, formulating the plans of the Company for annual financial
budgets and final accounts, establishing and approving the internal control
and risk management systems and monitoring the performance of the
members of the senior management. The directors shall make objective
decisions for the interests of the Company.
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Number of Directors
10

9 Independent

8 Director
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Gender Position

BIUIITES

Non-executive

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board adopted board diversity policy in September 2013 to comply
with the new code provisions in relation to board diversity effective from
September 2013.

When determining the composition of the Board, the Company shall
take into account our business operations and select candidates with
appropriate and necessary skills and experience and those who can
express their views in a multi-angle perspective. All Board appointments
will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and education
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

As at the date of this report, the Board of the Company is comprised of
11 members, including 7 executive directors and 4 independent non-
executive directors. Independent non-executive directors account for
36.4% of the number of Board members.

An analysis of the Board based on a scope of diversity perspective is set
forth below:

70-79 21-30

FHeAE B
Age Group

PR

Length of Service
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Mr. MASUDA Yoichi and Mr. YAGI Naoto have tendered their resignation
as executive directors of the Company due to work reallocation. Mr.
NAKAMURA Osamu and Mr. KIJIMA Katsuya were elected as executive
directors of the Company at the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company held on 25 August 2022 to succeed Mr. Mr. MASUDA Yoichi
and Mr. YAGI Naoto as executive directors.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board of the Company is
comprised of 11 directors:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LUO Yuguang (Chairman)

Mr. YASUTA Tatsuya (Vice Chairman and General Manager)
Mr. NAKAMURA Osamu

Mr. KIJIMA Katsuya

Mr. LI Juxing

Mr. XU Song

Mr. LI Xiaodong

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LONG Tao

Mr. SONG Xiaojiang
Mr. LIU Erh Fei

Mr. LIU Tianni

Biographical particulars of the directors are set out in the section headed
"Biographical Details of Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management”
in this annual report.

The current Board comprises 11 male members. The Company is
determined to enhance gender diversity in the Board to achieve gender
equality in terms of gender ratio within 2024. The Company expects the
above is achievable with suitable effort in promoting gender diversity.
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While the current senior management of the Company comprises all male
members, viewing from the Company’s perspective as a whole, as at the
year ended 31 December 2022, the Company has 2,846 employees in
total comprising of approximately 627 females and 2,219 males (a female-
to-male ratio of 3.54:1), reflecting a gender equality principle generally
adhered by the Company. The Company is mindful of the objectives
as set out in the diversity policy when assessing the candidacy of the
employees, and will ensure that the Company shall continue to follow the
policy.

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, all the directors,
including independent non-executive directors, shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years, and their re-
election is subject to a vote of the Shareholders.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from
each of the existing independent non-executive directors in accordance
with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all the
independent non-executive directors are independent in accordance with
the Listing Rules.

RESPONSIBILITIES AND DELEGATION OF THE
BOARD

The Board determines the overall strategies of the Company, and
monitors the performance of the senior management and the related
risks and control systems so as to achieve the development objectives
of the Company. Day-to-day management of the Company is delegated
to the executive directors and the senior management, who are required
to report back to the Board. All the members of the Board have separate
and independent access to the senior management, and are provided
with full and timely information about the conduct of the business
and development of the Company, including monthly reports and
recommendations on significant matters.

The Board has delegated some of its functions to the committees under

the Board, and will seek independent and professional advices from them
in respect of related matters.
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EFERRRHESE BOARD MEETINGS AND ATTENDANCE
EESTHRTEERI AR RNTE L EE The Board meets regularly to review the financial and operating
R WERRERE - RZZE==F AR performance of the Company and to discuss future strategy. In 2022, the
_JWFFFEJT8/A§$ @& NMIATESRZ Company held eight Board meetings, and the attendance record of each
T CFHEERELRMNBFEL director at the board meetings in 2022 is set out below:
HaliEgs SERARHEE

= TERY SR (A7T)

Attendance in Person/ Attendance by Proxy/
Directors Number of Meetings Number of Meetings (Note7)
BiTEE
Executive Directors
BFEREEEEFER) 8/8 0/0
Mr. LUO Yuguang (Chairman)
LZHRMITAE (BIEFRRAESIE) 8/8 0/0
Mr. YASUTA Tatsuya (Vice Chairman and General Manager)
BEAE—EERZE-__FEN\ATHEB D 3/3 2/2
Mr. MASUDA Yoichi (resigned on 25 August 2022)
RIREERZEFNATHAEET) 2/2 1N
Mr. NAKAMURA Osamu (appointed on 25 August 2022)
JAREASER-E-—FN\A-+ABEE) 4/4 1/1
Mr. YAGI Naoto (resigned on 25 August 2022)
AERHELER - —FNA-+HAEZRD) 2/2 1/1
Mr. KIJIMA Katsuya (appointed on 25 August 2022)
ZEELESE 8/8 0/0
Mr. LI Juxing
(G 717 Al
Mr. XU Song
TNREAE 717 1/1
Mr. LI Xiaodong
BAFRTESE
Independent Non-executive Directors
v 8/8 0/0
Mr. LONG Tao
KRNI A 7/7 1/1
Mr. SONG Xiaojiang
Bl —FRSEAE 8/8 0/0
Mr. LIU Erh Fei
BIRIRAEE 6/6 2/2
Mr. LIU Tianni
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Pursuant to Article 103 of the Articles of Association
of the Company, where a director is unable to attend
the board meetings due to certain cause, he may
in writing appoint other director to attend the board
meetings on his/her behalf.

Notes: 1.

2. The Company has convened 5 board meetings prior to
the resignation of Mr. MASUDA Yoichi and Mr. YAGI
Naoto.

At the board meetings, the Board reviewed significant matters including
the Company's annual and interim financial statements, annual budget,
proposals for final and interim dividends, annual report and interim report.
At least 14 days’ notice is given to all directors for all regular board
meetings and all directors are given the opportunity to include matters for
discussion in the agenda. The agenda and board papers for each meeting
are sent to all directors at least 3 days in advance of every regular board
meeting. All minutes of the board meetings are kept by the company
secretary and are available to all directors for inspection.

There is no material financial, business, family, or other relationship
between any two members of the Board.

The Board had adopted effective mechanisms to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board. Subject to approval of the
Chairman of the Board, the directors may seek, at the Company’s
expense, independent legal, financial or other professional advices from
advisors independent to those advising the Company as and when
necessary in appropriate circumstances to enable them to discharge their
responsibilities effectively. The Board will review the implementation an
effectiveness of such mechanisms on an annual basis.

The Board considers that the above mechanisms are effective in ensuring
that independent views and input are provided to the Board.

COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. LEI Bin and Mr. TUNG Tat Chiu Michael were appointed as company
secretaries for PRC and Hong Kong affairs respectively on 30 May 2019
and 28 April 1994. Mr. LEI Bin is a full-time employee of the Company,
and works as a chief financial officer of the Company. He is familiar with
the daily routine of the Company.
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Mr. TUNG Tat Chiu Michael is a practicing lawyer in Hong Kong and
the senior partner of Tung & Co., the Hong Kong legal adviser of the
Company, and a China Appointed Attesting officer. He holds a B.A.
degree in law and accounting from the University of Manchester, the
United Kingdom. He has over 20 years of experience as a practicing
lawyer in Hong Kong. Mr. TUNG is also the company secretary of a
number of companies listed in Hong Kong. Although Mr. TUNG is not an
employee of the Company, he has been appointed by the Board to advise
on legal and governance-related issues. The primary corporate contact
person of the Company is Mr. LEI Bin, the company secretary for the
PRC affairs.

As confirmed respectively by Mr. LEI Bin and Mr. TUNG Tat Chiu
Michael, they had taken the relevant professional trainings for no less
than 15 hours during the year of 2022.

CHAIRMAN AND GENERAL MANAGER

Mr. LUO Yuguang and Mr. YASUTA Tatsuya hold the positions of
Chairman of the Board and General Manager respectively, which are two
clearly separate positions.

The Chairman is responsible for leading, and overseeing the operations of
the Board, effectively planning the board meetings and ensuring that the
Board is acting in the best interests of the Company. The Chairman shall
proactively encourage directors to fully participate in the Board's affairs
and make contribution to the functions of the Board. The Board, under
the Chairman’s leadership, has adopted good corporate governance
practices and procedures and has taken appropriate steps to maintain
effective communication with the shareholders.

The General Manager is responsible for managing the business of the
Company, as well as formulating and implementing the Company’s
policies and is answerable to the Board in relation to the overall
management of the Company. The General Manager of the Company
works in close association with other executive directors and the
administration team of each core business division, ensuring the funding
requirements of the business of the Company are sufficiently met and
at the same time closely monitors the operation and financial results of
the Company according to business plans and budgets, and advises the
Board on matters in relation to the Company’s development. The General
Manager of the Company is required to keep close communication
with the Chairman and all directors to keep them fully informed of all
substantive matters relating to the Company's business development,
and is also responsible for building and maintaining a highly efficient
administrative support team to support him to discharge the assigned
duties in this position.



JJ:%E-/D#&I:

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EFSASRERR

P B E TR G B I R A
K RBREEAR A RIS B2 B K LA
RO KB - MAIRAR TR AR
TR o

EEEIIBHERRE - £ ERERHEAR
AIRR - ARKATROGAEMER - AEE
EERENREFEAETERS o I AR
ABBMAERE2EBERXER - UER
NEREMB LG - ARA T RZEERHE
AR RILA Re B Ath 1 A B AR E Y SR SR AR AR
N NBREFETREANERERESR X
RIS RFEEE AR ROER -

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME

Each newly appointed director is provided with necessary induction
and information to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the
Company's operations and businesses as well as his responsibilities
under the relevant statutes, laws, rules and regulations.

Directors’ training is an ongoing process. During the year, directors
are provided with monthly updates on the Company’s performance,
position and prospects to enable the Board as a whole and each director
to discharge their duties. In addition, all directors are encouraged to
participate in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills. The Company updates directors on
the latest development regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements from time to time, to ensure compliance and
enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices.
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RESRHNGLE  ESHE T -—F1+= According to the records provided by the directors, a summary of the
A=+—HIFEEZFIOBMEBHOT : trainings received by the directors for the year ended 31 December 2022
is as follows:

E= o1l o

Directors Types of Training

BiTES

Executive Directors

BFREE(EFER) A B, C

Mr. LUO Yuguang (Chairman)

ZHR I E(BIEF R RATLEE) C

Mr. YASUTA Tatsuya (Vice Chairman and General Manager)

EAG—4A(R_E-_—FN\AZ-+HBHEIT) C

Mr. MASUDA Yoichi (resigned on 25 August 2022)

PR ER T ZFNAZTHAEEZD) C

Mr. NAKAMURA Osamu (appointed on 25 August 2022)

JREALEERZZEZZFNAZ+HREBFRHD ©

Mr. YAGI Naoto (resigned on 25 August 2022)

RERREFEWR_ZE_—_FN\NAZ+HHEZT) C

Mr. KIJIMA Katsuya (appointed on 25 August 2022)

FERLE A C

Mr. LI Juxing

RN ©

Mr. XU Song

ENN-V C

Mr. LI Xiaodong

BIUEMITES

Independent Non-executive Directors

BESLE A C

Mr. LONG Tao

KRNI 4 A C

Mr. SONG Xiaojiang

B = A E A B, C

Mr. LIU Erh Fei

IR EE A B, C

Mr. LIU Tianni

Kiat - Notes:

A. HEEN SR KT R, RwmiE - A.  Attending briefing sessions and/or seminars and/or forums.

B. EEN ek St ek FHmELRRE B. Making speeches at briefing sessions and/or seminars and/or forums.
o

& MERMLE —MEK EFBE - LW (e Reading seminar materials or magazines and updates relating to
MAEMEAEE R ERTERENHTE economy, general business, directors’ responsibilities and the
TRl s R R EHER o Listing Rules or the latest development of other applicable regulatory

requirements.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

Three committees have been set up by the Board, namely, the
Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Audit Committee. The Board is responsible for discharging corporate
governance functions as set forth in the Corporate Governance Code.
Sufficient resources are provided to enable each committee under the
Board to undertake their specific roles.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established its nomination committee on 26 March 2012
with the terms of reference. The nomination committee is comprised of
four independent non-executive directors (namely Mr. LONG Tao, Mr.
SONG Xiaojiang, Mr. LIU Tianni and Mr. LIU Erh Fei) and one executive
director (namely Mr. LUO Yuguang). Mr. LUO Yuguang, an executive
director, serves as the chairman of the nomination committee, and
is responsible for the nomination of the directors. The committee is
delegated by the Board to formulate the policies for the nomination of
directors and establish the procedures for the nomination of directors and
the standards for the selection and recommendation of directors. It is
also responsible for the review of the structure, size and composition of
the Board and the assessment of the independence of the independent
non-executive directors. Directors shall be elected at the shareholders’
general meeting for a term of three years. Upon expiry of the term, a
director shall be eligible for re-election. Accordingly, all directors are
appointed for a specific term.

The nomination committee held two meetings in 2022. It reviewed
the structure, number and composition of the Board, assessed the
independence of the independent non-executive directors, and made
recommendations to the Board on appointment of directors and the
adoption of Board Diversity Policy.
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The attendance record of the members of the nomination committee at
the meetings held in 2022 is set out below:

HEE FRRB

Attendance/Number of Meetings

BITESE
Executive Director
BFENEE

Mr. LUO Yuguang

WIERTESE

Independent Non-executive Directors
b

Mr. LONG Tao

RNIHEE

Mr. SONG Xiaojiang

B Rt

Mr. LIU Erh Fei

BIXREE

Mr. LIU Tianni

REZBEHHN LAEARHEREENHK
% ERBEEFEXNEZTICBRNORE
BBTFREB(BREEARKEA - BRIEAMN
REASBESINNTS L BEZNESENES
ANE - EHERZABERENFAER  RBE2Z
Bl a s ey ETERNE - FHERTR
SEEEBE BEERRET  AELR K
BE - BYM - EBEAARFRRKERRE
EREHN LR RENETRERBE - )
REFENRFEBSTHE - FHETRIE
REZBENZERRFEEENESSEL
HBER -

FHERE

RARERZBEBRFMOA - +HRLT H
ZEg -FMHEESHARTEBELIFH
TEERIAREBEL  RNTEE - 8=
REERFRERE) N —BRTEFET K
STV - HFHZEESTFEAR/ NI LR
fF o
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2/2

2/2
2/2
2/2

2/2

After discussing and understanding the demand for filling the vacancy for
directorship of the Company while balancing the board diversity policy,
the nomination committee identifies appropriate candidates for directors
through various channels (including in the Group, through the nomination
of shareholders and in the market out of the Group). After obtaining
the approval from the candidate on the nomination, the nomination
committee will assess his qualifications, academic degree, professional
ethics, relevant experience, skill, independence and whether he can
coordinate with the future development plan of the Company, devote
time and efforts in performing his duties and responsibilities as well as
the current structure of the Board. The nomination committee will make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment of a new director
after the completion of the assessment.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established its remuneration committee on 20 April 2006.
The remuneration committee is comprised of four independent non-
executive directors (namely Mr. LONG Tao, Mr. SONG Xiaojiang, Mr.
LIU Erh Fei and Mr. LIU Tianni) and one executive director (namely Mr.
LUO Yuguang). The remuneration committee is chaired by Mr. SONG
Xiaojiang.
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Remuneration Bands (RMB)

The main duties of the remuneration committee shall be: (a) to make
recommendations to the Board on the policy and structure for the
remuneration of all directors and senior management and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy; (b) to review and approve the management's
remuneration proposals with reference to the Board's corporate goals
and objectives; (c) (i) to determine, with delegated responsibility, the
remuneration packages of individual executive directors and senior
management; or (ii) to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive directors and senior
management; (d) to consider salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the group; (e) to review and approve the compensation
payable to executive directors and senior management for any loss or
termination of their office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent
with contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive; (f) to
review and approve compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or
removal of directors for misconduct to ensure that they are consistent
with contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and appropriate;
and (g) to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive directors.

REMUNERATION POLICY FOR DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a model to make recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration package of individual executive directors and
senior management.

The directors are remunerated in accordance with the nature of their
duties and comparable market conditions. Incentive bonus would be
granted to reward and motivate well-performed directors.

The remuneration of the members of the senior management by band for
the year ended 31 December 2022 is set out below:

AB

Number of persons

0%250,000
250,001 %360,000

M LB SRERABNEEERE
ZUIMOREE o

0 to 250,000 7
250,001 to 360,000 1

Note: The members of the senior management disclosed above refer to
those employees other than directors and supervisors.
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Members

The remuneration committee held two meetings in 2022. It made
recommendations to the Board on the remunerations of the independent
non-executive directors and the specific remuneration packages of
individual executive directors and senior management. The attendance
record of the members of the remuneration committee at the meetings
held in 2022 is set out below:

HEE EHERE

Attendance/Number of Meetings

BITES
Executive Director
BFRAE

Mr. LUO Yuguang

WIAFRITES

Independent Non-executive Directors
v

Mr. LONG Tao

RANIHEE

Mr. SONG Xiaojiang

2Rt

Mr. LIU Erh Fei

BIRR&EHE

Mr. LIU Tianni

FREAT

ARFEREMRANKIBZEZ B @I ATHE
BERE  BRZESONMBEYIFRITES
MR P EE T RU SRR ATR R RS
MBEI R RS - EEZRB BRI AR
FxFE Bt ED R AREEEL - B RE
ERBIRERE -

BERZEENBERNE R RRREFELELRI
EPERATHE  EBEARRAMEFERE
it~ BRARRNMBEERRERKE  BEXR
RAINEHIE - BB NIRRT EINFERS Z
HAE -
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2/2
2/2

2/2

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee with specific terms
of reference in accordance with the Listing Rules. The audit committee
is comprised of four independent non-executive directors, who possess
appropriate commercial and financial skills and experience to understand
financial statements. The audit committee is chaired by Mr. SONG
Xiaojiang and other members are Mr. LONG Tao, Mr. LIU Erh Fei and Mr.
LIU Tianni.

The terms of reference of the audit committee include the duties to
recommend the engagement and replacement of external audit firms,
oversee the Company’s internal auditing system and implementation,
verify the Company’s financial information and disclosure, examine
the Company’s internal control system, and take charge and act as a
communication channel between internal and external auditors.
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The audit committee held two meetings in 2022. It reviewed the final
results for 2021 and the interim results for 2022. The attendance record
of the members of the audit committee at the meetings in 2022 is set
out below:

4] HESE FHERE
Members Attendance/Number of Meetings
BIERTESE

Independent Non-executive Directors

BEEEE 2/2
Mr. LONG Tao

RNIHEE 2/2
Mr. SONG Xiaojiang

2 - A 2/2
Mr. LIU Erh Fei

BIR(R L 2/2
Mr. LIU Tianni

PETLBEE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

EFgN B —F=AZTRNERBEEE
JASTRIR T RIEXA 2 1 EFTEBEEEE
RRENBESEEAEFTERITERE AR
BENEFRESE  ZRESEeRHIE RS
AARFNEEERRLER  TREEE
REEE R REREENSREREARN
B RFEERERR R RERARREE
TERMEERESENBREER ¢ HIE
wa REREE REFNRTER RE R T
(WA) : R AR mE T (hEERTADH
BARE(RRERRE) ROEKE -

The Board adopted the Terms of Reference for Corporate Governance
set out in Code A.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code as the terms
of reference for the Board to perform their duties in relation to corporate
governance on 26 March 2012, which include developing and reviewing
the Company's policies and practices on corporate governance and
making recommendations to the Board; reviewing and monitoring the
training and continuous professional development of directors and
senior management; reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) for the Company’s employees and directors;
and reviewing the Company’s compliance with the Corporate Governance
Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the year 2022, the Board has performed the corporate governance
function as mentioned above.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the ultimate responsibility in overseeing the operation of
all business units under the Company’'s management. It shall appoint
suitable qualified personnel to serve on the boards of all subsidiaries
operating in key business areas, attending their board meetings to
oversee the operations of these companies. The management in each
business division is accountable for the operations and performance of
the business within its area of responsibility.

The Company’'s management has implemented a system of internal
control to provide reasonable assurance that the Group’'s assets are
safeguarded, proper accounting records are maintained, applicable
laws and regulations are complied with, reliable financial information
are provided for the Company’s management for publication purposes
and investment and business risks (including environmental, social
and governance risks) affecting the Group are identified and properly
managed.

The Board is responsible to ensure a sound and effective risk
management and internal control system to safeguard investments of
Shareholders and assets of the Group and provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against the risks of material misstatement or loss,
and to manage but not eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives.

The Board shall review the effectiveness of risk management and internal
control systems of the Company and its subsidiaries at least once every
year. The scope of a review includes financial control, operation control,
compliance control and risks management functions. The Board will
also consider the relevant adequacy of resources, staff qualification and
experience, training programs and budget of the Company's accounting
and financial reporting function and the Company’s environmental, social
and governance performance and reporting. As at 28 March 2023, the
Board has completed the aforementioned review for 2022 and the Board
is of the view that the Company's risk management and internal control
systems can properly and effectively safeguard the investments of the
Shareholders and the assets of the Group.

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

The Company has adopted an anti-corruption policy to govern acceptance
of advantages by employees and a whistleblowing policy to provide
guidance to employees and external stakeholders to report concerns
about any suspected or actual improprieties relating to the Group.
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Supervisors

INSIDE INFORMATION

With respect to the procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information, the Company is aware of its
obligations under Part XIVA of the Securities and Futures Ordinance and
the Listing Rules and has established the inside information disclosure
policy with close regard to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside
Information” issued by the Securities and Futures Commission.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by directors and supervisors. After specific enquiry with
all the directors and supervisors of the Company, all directors and
supervisors of the Company confirmed that they have completely
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
throughout 2022.

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

The supervisory committee is comprised of two members, one of whom
is a representative of the Shareholders (namely Ms. MIN Qing) and one
of whom is the representative of the staff and workers (namely Ms. PU
Qing). Mr. GUAN Jinming, the chairman of the Supervisory Committee,
resigned on 30 May 2018 and caused a temporary vacancy for the
position. In 2022, the supervisors of the Company exercised their right
of supervision in accordance with the laws to protect the legal interests
of the shareholders, the Company and the employees. The details of
the work of the Supervisory Committee are set out in the Supervisory
Committee's Report in this annual report.

The Supervisory Committee held one meeting in 2022. The attendance
record of the members of the Supervisory Committee at the meetings in
2022 is set out below:

HESE FHERE
Attendance/Number of Meetings

BRARHENES

Representatives of the Shareholders
BIE 2+

Ms. MIN Qing

RIRKKRHENES

Representative of the staff and workers
SfE 22+

Ms. PU Qing

11

11
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EXTERNAL AUDITORS

The external auditors currently appointed by the Company are the
Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants LLP and
Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as its PRC and international auditors
respectively. They were not engaged to perform non-audit work in order
to maintain their independence. The work that the external auditors are
engaged to perform must bring clear benefits and value-added effects
to the Company, and will not cause adverse effect on the independence
or independent standing of their audit function. The remuneration of the
auditor is disclosed in the financial statements.

DIRECTOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

With the assistance of the accounting department, the Board is
responsible for preparing the financial statements for each financial year
and ensuring that, in preparing such financial statements, appropriate
accounting policies are adopted and applied and the PRC accounting
standards and systems and International Financial Reporting Standards
are observed, to give a true and fair view of the financial position and
operating results of the Company. The statement of the auditor about
their responsibilities on the Group's financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor's Report on pages 68 to 72.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
RIGHTS

After the announcement of the Company’s interim and annual financial
results, the Company has proactively arranged for briefing meetings for
people from the investment community at regular intervals, using the
opportunity to promote investor relations and two-way communication.
The Company, through the investor relations manager, responds to the
information requests and inquiries from the investment community.
The Company also publishes information such as the Company's
announcements and circulars on its website (www.gingling.com.cn)
in a timely manner under the requirements of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange.

The Company encourages shareholders to attend the annual general
meeting at which the Chairman and directors will answer questions
about the Company’s business raised by shareholders. The Company
distributes annual and interim reports to shareholders in a timely manner
for their inspection.
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FR - AREBAMIBRERE - EEHFR During the year, the Company has convened two general meetings. The

JJ:%E/D-‘F&I:

RARGHLEELNT - attendance record of directors at the general meetings is set out below:
EE HEE BRRAERE
Directors Attendance/Number of Meetings
RITES

Executive Directors

BFERFEEFER) 2/2
Mr. LUO Yuguang (Chairman)

BRI (BIE FR RAGKTE) 2/2
Mr. YASUTA Tatsuya (Vice Chairman and General Manager)

BEG—EEM T —FNA-THHEHD 0/2
Mr. MASUDA Yoichi (resigned on 25 August 2022)

PRSAEER - E-_—FNA-+HBEZRD 0/0
Mr. NAKAMURA Osamu (appointed on 25 August 2022)

NREAZERZZE__FNAZTHAED 0/2
Mr. YAGI Naoto (resigned on 25 August 2022)

AERBEEMR T —_FNAA-_+HAKED) 0/0
Mr. KIJIMA Katsuya (appointed on 25 August 2022)

FERKLHE 2/2
Mr. LI Juxing

TRIRFEE 1/2
Mr. XU Song

FNREE 1/2
Mr. LI Xiaodong

BIAFRITES

Independent Non-executive Directors

BEELAE 2/2
Mr. LONG Tao

KNI 1/2
Mr. SONG Xiaojiang

€ i 2/2
Mr. LIU Erh Fei

BIRREE 1/2
Mr. LIU Tianni

BEEXH CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

RAFEA - HEEANARATNEBEXHEM During the year, the Company did not make any amendment to its

BE o constitutional documents.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Set out below is a summary of certain rights of the Shareholders of the
Company:

Convening of extraordinary general meeting on requisition by
shareholders

Pursuant to Article 80 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
two or more shareholders who hold an aggregate of 10% or more
of the shares carrying voting rights at the meeting proposed to be
held may, sign one or several written requisition in the same form
requesting the Board to convene an extraordinary general meeting of
shareholders or a class meeting of shareholders, specifying the objects
of the meeting. Upon the receipt of the aforesaid written request(s),
the Board shall convene an extraordinary general meeting or a class
meeting of Shareholders as soon as possible. The number of the shares
held as aforesaid shall be calculated based on these shares held by the
Shareholders as at the date of the written requisition.

Where the Board fails to give a notice convening the meeting within
thirty days upon the receipt of the aforesaid written requisition, the
requisitionists may themselves convene a meeting, within four months
upon the receipt of the said requisition by the Board. A meeting convene
by the requisitionists shall be convened in the same manner, as nearly as
possible, as that in which meetings are to be convened by the Board.

Any reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists by reason of
the failure of the Board duly convene a meeting, shall be borne by the
Company and be deducted from the amounts payable by the Company to
such directors who were in default.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at shareholders’ general
meetings by shareholders

The content of a proposal shall be a matter that should be determined
by shareholders’ general meeting, which shall have definite topics to be
discussed and specific matters for resolution and shall be in line with the
laws and administrative regulations.

Shareholders that independently or collectively hold more than 3% of
shares in the Company may make a temporary proposal and submit
it to the convener(s) in written form ten days prior to a shareholders’
general meeting. The convener(s) shall give a supplementary notice of
shareholders’ general meeting to announce the content of the temporary
proposal within two days upon receipt of the proposal.

Except as provided in the preceding paragraph, after sending out a notice
of shareholders’ general meeting, the convener(s) shall not make any
amendments to the proposals included in the notice or add any new
proposals.
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The procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as a
director is made available in the website of the Company.

Procedures for directing shareholders’ enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the
Board of the Company in writing through Mr. LEIl Bin, the company
secretary, whose contact details are as follows:

Mr. LEI Bin

Qingling Motors Co. Ltd

1 Xiexing Cun, Zhongliangshan, Jiulongpo District, Chongqing, the
People’s Republic of China

E-mail: hk1122@qingling.com.cn

Tel: (86) 23-65265671

Fax: (86) 23-68830397

The company secretary shall forward the shareholders’ enquiries and
concerns to the Board and/or relevant board committees of the Company,
where appropriate, to answer the shareholders’ questions.

The Board has adopted a Shareholder's Communication Policy in 2022
which sets out the Group’'s commitment of maintaining an effective
ongoing dialogue with shareholders. In summary, the Company
establishes different communication channels with shareholders and
stakeholders including: (i) provision of printed or electronic copies of
corporate communications; (i) provision of timely corporate information
on the company website; (iii) holding of annual general meetings to
provide platform for shareholders to raise comments and exchange
views with the Board; and (iv) arrangement in serving the shareholders in
respect of all share registration matters. The Board reviewed the validity
of implementation of the Shareholder’'s Communication Policy during
the year and considered that it remained effective in enhancing timely,
transparent, accurate and open communication between the Company
and the shareholders.

In 2023, the Company will continue to dedicate efforts into enhancing the
standard of its corporate governance according to the ongoing regulatory
changes, development trend of the Company, and feedback opinions
from shareholders, ensuring a stable and healthy growth for the Company
while adding value to shareholders.

The Board of Directors
LEI Bin

Company Secretary

Chongging, the PRC
28 March 2023
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF QINGLING MOTORS CO., LTD.
(a Sino-foreign joint venture joint stock limited company incorporated in
the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Qingling
Motors Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 73 to 186, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code"), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’'s Report

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

ESTIMATED WRITE-DOWN OF INVENTORIES

We identified the estimated write-down of inventories as a key audit
matter due to the management judgment required in the estimation
of the net realisable value, which is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

As disclosed in notes 4 and 25 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group had inventories of RMB1,418,835,000 (net of write-down for
inventories of RMB72,986,000) as at 31 December 2022. In determining
the net realisable value, the management of the Group considers the
historical selling prices of similar products, the estimated costs of
completion, the estimated costs necessary to make the sale, the current
market conditions, forecast usage and sales volume of similar products.

Our procedures in relation to the write-down of inventories included:

° Obtaining an understanding of the Group's forecast usage,
selling prices, costs of completion, costs necessary to make
the sale, and sales volume of inventories which are used by the
management of the Group in the estimation of the net realisable
value;

° Considering the selling prices and sales volume of inventories
during the year ended 31 December 2022 and subsequent to
the year end, on a sample basis, and comparing this information
with the Group's expected selling prices and sales volume of
inventories at year-end date;

° Challenging the assumptions of determining the estimated selling
prices and sales volume of forecast sales, on a sample basis, with
reference to the current market conditions and historical selling
prices and sales volume of similar products; and

° Comparing the cost of inventories, including costs of completion
and costs necessary to make the sale, at year-end date, on
a sample basis, with the estimated net realisable value and
checking if adequate write-down of inventories has been made.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED
WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’'s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.
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° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that
a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Chen Ping Him.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

28 March 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

BHE_FE-—F+_A=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2022

—EBE__F T4
2022 2021
Hiat AR®TT AREFT
NOTES RMB'000 RMB'000
1) & Revenue 15) 3,248,080 4,828,237
HEKA Cost of sales (3,132,923) (4,273,893)
EH| Gross profit 115,157 554,344
EmUA Other income 7 385,405 463,350
HEhp Other expenses (7,295) (9,560)
TEEMEEREER TRERIE Impairment losses under expected
(kR HEED) credit loss model, net of reversal 8 (9,529) 614
H ARG RIBKFRE Other gains and losses, net 9 13,705 85,653
5385 K SH B AR Distribution and selling expenses (78,260) (244,464)
EIEER Administrative expenses (213,745) (232,801)
hEEH Research expenses (243,132) (269,928)
B SR AS Finance costs (4,717) (1,374)
DIREE R Share of results of associates (7,339) (5,616)
DhEEEEEA Share of results of joint ventures 10,131 4,306
BRI (B548) 27 (Loss) profit before tax 10 (39,619) 344,524
SRR (Z ) Income tax credit (expense) 11 34,636 (13,638)
FR(HR)BFIRGSEGZH)KSE (Loss) profit and total
comprehensive (expenses) income
for the year (4,983) 330,886
el (xTH) ke : (Loss) profit and total
comprehensive (expenses) income
attributable to:
VIN/NEI Tt 2= DN Owners of the Company (14,575) 322,080
TR A Non-controlling interests 9,592 8,806
(4,983) 330,886

AR#RMB ARBRMB
FRER(EE) ZF Basic (loss) earnings per share 17 (0.01)7T 0.137¢
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

R-ZFE-—F+—-H=+—H
At 31 December 2022

= —E-—fF
2022 2021
Kiat AREFT AR¥TFr
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’'000
EREEE Non-current assets
Y% - WE REE Property, plant and equipment 18 1,153,221 1,047,558
FHEEE Right-of-use assets 19 61,126 44,738
wEYE Investment properties 20 18,956 19,235
%ﬁéﬁ% Intangible assets 21 154,997 189,659
REFE D Interests in associates 22 43,792 51,131
REERE R Interests in joint ventures 23 486,526 489,471
IR IR & B Deferred tax assets 24 53,779 13,939
TEHFER Time deposits 27 1,499,018 3,132,775
SR - BEREREZIES Deposit paid for property, plant and
equipment 186 -
3,471,601 4,988,506
mEEE Current assets
=& Inventories 25 1,418,835 1,035,550
FEUBRERR - el SR M H M EUER  Trade, bills and other receivables and
IE R TE5RIE prepayments 26 1,557,481 2,697,025
EdEEE Tax recoverable 12,448 11,770
TE BT 3K Time deposits 27 2,915,887 599,083
ReERBFEEZEED Cash and cash equivalents 28 972,924 1,673,977
6,877,575 5,917,405
ENEE Current liabilities
AR BREERR Trade, bills and other payables
H b fEATRUE 29 1,973,545 2,119,936
HmEaE Tax liabilities 4,263 3,050
SHEE Contract liabilities 30 478,958 594,746
REAME Refund liabilities 31 59,115 89,066
HEAR Lease liabilities 32 14,812 22,816
2,530,693 2,829,614
mEEERE Net current assets 4,346,882 3,087,791
HEERTDHAR Total assets less current liabilities 7,818,483 8,076,297
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

At 31 December 2022

= B —4F
2022 2021
HizE AR¥FIT AREFT
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’'000
2931 | Capital and reserves
A& A Share capital 33 2,482,268 2,482,268
AR B R R Share premium and reserves 4,969,804 5,257,429
AARELREE AFEIRRER Equity attributable to owners of the
Company 7,452,072 7,739,697
VTR R Non-controlling interests 333,925 327,525
HawsE Total equity 7,785,997 8,067,222
ERBAERE Non-current liabilities
HEARE Lease liabilities 32 27,361 1,923
IREWA — BT 1B Deferred income — government
grants 34 5,125 7,152
32,486 9,075
7,818,483 8,076,297

FIRBEEFISCB 2 EEMBHRERN_—_ZE—= The consolidated financial statements on pages 73 to 186 were approved
FE-A-+ \AEEESERERERT and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2023 and

HTYEEREREEZ: are signed on its behalf by:
TER I LI Juxing XU Song
BE FE DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

HE_FE-—F+_A=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2022

n‘/-ﬁ

FLFHAEARK
Attributable to owners of the Company
HERR
Bt  B¥ER HsLEE MRE HELWE  GERN It FEERG @it
Statutory Discretionary Non-
Share Share Capital surplus surplus  Retained controlling
capital ~ premium reserve reserve fund  reserve fund profits ~ Subtotal interests Total
NEEFT  AREFT  ARETT  AREFT  ARETT  ARETL  ARETT  ARETL  ARETT
AMBU0O  RMBOG  AMBUOO  RMBOOD  AMBUOO  RMBOMO  AMBUOD  RMBUGO  AMBUDD
W) W) s
Note) — frote 14 fnote 19
W-E--£-5-H At 1 January 2021 2482268 1,764,905 51200 1204923 2347 1640201 7,665,844 321581 7987425
EmgfRage s Profit and total comprehensive
income for the year - - - - - 322,080 322,080 8,806 330,886
EEAR Appropriation for the year - - E 31574 N E e =
BRIRIA-E-5EAH 2020 fingl dividends recognised
Reite) and paid fnote 76/ = - = S - 822 (248220) - 482
REFERRELARE Dividends paid to non-controling
interests - - - - - - - (2.862) (2862)
i Sy s At 31 December 2021 2482268 1,764,905 51200 1236497 2341 1682480 7,739,697 321505 8067222
ERBRENREAE0I) (Loss| profitand totel
W& comprehensive (expenses)
income for the year - - - - - (14,575) (14,575) 9,59 (4,983)
BRIREN-E 558 2021 fingl dividends recognised
Redite) and paid (note 76/ = - = S - (2730500 (273,050) - (273050
REFARRELARE Dividends paid to non-controling
interests - - - - - - - (3,192) (3,192)
AZFZZE+ZA=T-H At 31 December 2022 2482268 1,764,905 51200 1236497 2347 1304885 7452,072 333926 7785997
st - Note:

The capital reserve mainly includes an amount of RMB572,206,000
(2021: RMB572,206,000) which represents the excess of the value of
the net assets immediately before the establishment of the Company
injected into the Company by E$ /5B (@) AR A7 ("Qingling
Group” — ultimate holding company of the Group) and Ff REAR
7 A as part of the reorganisation in 1994 which was approved by the
State Administration of State-owned Assets, over the nominal value of
1,500,000,000 shares issued upon establishment of the Company of
RMB1,500,000,000.

BERANESEFERE -2 ARKES72,206,000
TT(ZE=Z—F : AR¥572,206,00070) &
B NEBEEAEEERHERBEAATE
RYBAERAEGEEBRAR(ERSE
B BAEESRLIZERAR) RERAEFR
REEARRBIMEEFAENMEA— LT
FEAN LD - LLEAR BRI B FTEETT
1,500,000,000F% K E{E A R #1,500,000,000
JCZ IS o
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

#

o F - A H=F—HIFE

For the year ended 31 December 2022

= T
2022 2021
AR®TT AREETIT
RMB'000 RMB'000
BEXER Operating activities
BT AT (E518) % A (Loss) profit before tax (39,619) 344,524
BYEFREE - Adjustments for:
B RK AS Finance costs 637 1,374
ﬂ A Interest income (181,077) (178,357)
DEHE DR Share of results of associates 7,339 5,616
DMEEEREEE Share of results of joint ventures (10,131) (4,306)
BRI T B Government grants recognised (90,877) (180,830)
FE W R IE R (B s 18 Bl Reversal of impairment losses on
trade receivables (531) (540)
Hfth U R IE R (E B 18 () Impairment losses (reversal of) on
other receivables 10,060 (74)
FEMR Write-down of inventories 645 23,293
ME - BERREBINE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 51,885 45,858
FREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 23,862 20,660
EAERE Amortisation of intangible assets 38,499 38,922
REMENE Depreciation of investment
properties 279 2,159
LEREME K F 5 Gain on disposal of an investment
property, net - (79,566)
HEME - BEMEE2EEFE Loss on disposal of property, plant
and equipment, net 161 6,454
Ve A B 1R 5 Net foreign exchange loss 8,338 690
BEECHBA 2 ELEREN Operating cash flows before
movements in working capital (180,530) 45,877
FEE N Increase in inventories (383,930) (217,244)
FEURBRER - FEMNE 15 R EAb FEUMCGRIE IR T8 Decrease in trade, bills and other
T FRIE R receivables and prepayments 1,156,400 303,320
FERTERER » PR SRR R E MR TR Decrease in trade, bills and other
payables (138,471) (319,119)
ARaEOR)EMN (Decrease) increase in contract
liabilities (115,788) 222,608
REAERD Decrease in refund liabilities (29,951) (18,025)
BEEW AR Decrease in deferred income (2,400) =
REXE fﬁ% Cash generated from operations 305,330 17,417
BISFBRR Income taxes paid (4,669) (5,189)
BEEXEBRBARPE Net cash from operating activities 300,661 12,228
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HE_FE-—F+_A=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2022

= T
2022 2021
AR®TT AREETIT
RMB'000 RMB'000
BREXR Investing activities
7 A JE BT Placement of time deposits (1,175,000) (1,921,000)
HEEUE BT Withdrawal of time deposits 591,000 2,656,000
BEWE  BERE&E Purchases of property, plant and
equipment (165,820) (138,597)
BEEFEE Purchases of intangible assets (3,837) =
W g —EaEhEMRE Dividends received from a joint
venture 13,076 2,168
R—HEEEEZIRE Investment in an associate = (24,500)
FBUTA Interest received 129,605 217,791
HEME - BREMEEFTSHKIA Proceeds on disposal of property,
plant and equipment 5 4,999
HE—RIREYESNIE Proceeds on disposal of an
investment property - 97,554
BRI R B E MR BR AT 48 BY Government grants received related
to assets 1,250 -
B A EREEMNIE Advances to Qingling Group (202,260) =
WEITE 4R B fL S B ) RUE Repayments of advance to Qingling
Group 118,300 -
BEEB(FRAMBR&BEHE Net cash (used in) from investing
activities (693,681) 894,415
MEER Financing activities
BERIRE Dividends paid (273,050) (248,227)
B —EM B AR FEERRRAR S Dividends paid to a non-controlling
shareholder of a subsidiary (3,192) (2,862)
meE E%}i#\ Repayments of lease liabilities (22,816) (21,246)
SAFBE Payments of interest expense (637) (1,374)
HEEBRARRPH Net cash used in financing
activities (299,695) (273,709)
HeRBESSEMRD)IBMEHE Net (decrease) increase in cash
and cash equivalents (692,715) 632,934
R—A—HZEESRALEEY Cash and cash equivalents at 1
January 1,673,977 1,041,733
ERgmnre Effects of foreign exchange rate
changes (8,338) (690)
BT+ RA=+—HZHeRAEEFEY Cash and cash equivalents at 31
ENRITHREBRRAE December, represented by bank
balances and cash 972,924 1,673,977
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R E - —HFf A= —HIFFE
For the year ended 31 December 2022

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Qingling Motors Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) is a sino-foreign joint venture
joint stock limited company incorporated in the People’s Republic of
China (the "PRC") with limited liability and its shares are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The address of the registered
office and principal place of business of the Company is 1 Xiexing Cun,
Zhongliangshan, Jiulongpo District, Chongqing, the PRC. The principal
activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are the
production and sale of Isuzu light-duty trucks, pick-up trucks, medium and
heavy-duty trucks and automobile parts, accessories and others.

The parent and ultimate holding company of the Company is Qingling
Group (a state-owned enterprise established in Chongaing, the PRC).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB")
which is also the functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries.

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the
current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments
to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the annual period beginning on 1 January 2022 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendment to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 2021

Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds
before Intended Use

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018 -
2020

Amendments to HKAS 16
Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs
The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year
has had no material impact on the Group's financial positions and

performance for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set
out in these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEr_E -+ _HA=+—HIIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2022
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2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 (including the October  Insurance Contracts'

2020 and February 2022
Amendments to HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets between an

HKAS 28 Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture?
Amendment to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback®
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-

current and related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with covenants®

Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting Policies’
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates'

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction’

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.
g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below, the directors
of the Company anticipate that the application of all other new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE—FE - —F+ - H=+—HIFFF
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the recognition exemption of
deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets in paragraphs 15 and 24 of
HKAS 12 /ncome Taxes so that it no longer applies to transactions that,
on initial recognition, give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences.

As disclosed in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, for
leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable to the
lease liabilities (please see note below), the Group applies HKAS 12
requirements to the relevant assets and liabilities as a whole. Temporary
differences relating to relevant assets and liabilities are assessed on a net
basis.

Upon the application of the amendments, the Group will recognise a
deferred tax asset (to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary difference
can be utilised) and a deferred tax liability for all deductible and taxable
temporary differences associated with the right-of-use assets and the
lease liabilities.

The amendments are effective for the Group's annual reporting period
beginning on 1 January 2023. As at 31 December 2022, the carrying
amounts of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities which are subject to
the amendments amounted to RMB42,117,000 and RMB42,173,000
respectively, in which the Group will recognise the related deferred tax
assets and deferred tax liabilities of RMB6,326,000 and RMB6,318,000
respectively. The cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments
will be recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
profits (or other component of equity, as appropriate) at the beginning of
the earliest comparative period presented.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE - FE-—FEAf = —HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2022
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of
the consolidated financial statements, information is considered material
if such information is reasonably expected to influence decisions made by
primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”)
and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis at the end of each reporting period, as explained in
the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration
given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly
observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at
the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure
purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are within
the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases, and measurements
that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as
net realisable value in HKAS 2 /nventories or value in use in HKAS 36
Impairment of Assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEr—FE-—F+-HA=+—HIFFE
For the year ended 31 December 2022

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements
(Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are
categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within
Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly

or indirectly; and

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

3.2 Significant accounting policies

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company and
its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

has power over the investee;

is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and

has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the
three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over
the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary.
Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the Group's
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately from
the Group's equity therein, which represent ownership interests entitling
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the relevant
subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B E - H=+—HILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the joint
arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control
of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint ventures are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the equity
method of accounting. The financial statements of associates and joint
ventures used for equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform
accounting policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events
in similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment in
an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associate or joint venture. Changes in net assets of the
associate/joint venture other than profit or loss and other comprehensive
income are not accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in
ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group’s share of losses
of an associate or joint venture exceeds the Group's interests in that
associate or joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate
or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further
losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf
of the associate or joint venture.
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3R 2022 ANNUAL REPORT

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an
associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the investment
over the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included
within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group's
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in
profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that the
interest in an associate or a joint venture may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36
as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value
in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount.
Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including
goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of the investment.
Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with
HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of
the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the associate or
joint venture that are not related to the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE—FE - —F+ - H=+—HIFFF
For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation
is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of
goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or services
that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group's performance as the Group performs;

° the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs; or

° the Group's performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right
to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer goods or
services to a customer for which the Group has received consideration (or
an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

Revenue from sales of trucks, chassis, automobile parts, accessories
and others are recognised when the control of goods is transferred,
being when the goods are delivered to the customer's specific location.
A receivable is recognised by the Group when the goods are delivered
to the customer's specific location as this represents the point in time
at which the right to consideration becomes unconditional, as only the
passage of time is required before payment is due. The customers have
neither rights of return nor rights to defer or avoid payment for the goods
once they are accepted by the customers.
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3R 2022 ANNUAL REPORT

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration, the Group estimates the
amount of consideration to which it will be entitled using the most likely
amount, which better predicts the amount of consideration to which the
Group will be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is included in the
transaction price only to the extent that it is highly probable that such
an inclusion will not result in a significant revenue reversal in the future
when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates the estimated
transaction price (including updating its assessment of whether an
estimate of variable consideration is constrained) to represent faithfully
the circumstances present at the end of the reporting period and the
changes in circumstances during the reporting period.

Refund liabilities

The Group recognises a refund liability if the Group expects to refund
some or all of the consideration received from customers.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to a
customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its promise is a
performance obligation to provide the specified goods or services itself
(i.e. the Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or services to
be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or service before
that good or service is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange for the
provision of the specified good or service by another party. In this case,
the Group does not control the specified good or service provided by
another party before that good or service is transferred to the customer.
When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of
any fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for
arranging for the specified goods or services to be provided by the other

party.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE—FE - —F+ - H=+—HIFFF
For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception,
modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will
not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee
Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases
of warehouse that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. Lease
payments on short-term leases are recognised as expense on a straight-
line basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use assets includes:
° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the commencement date,
less any lease incentive received,;

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition
of investment property as a separate line item on the consolidated
statement of financial position. Right-of-use assets that meet the
definition of investment property are presented within “investment
properties”.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liabilities at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest
accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) whenever:

° the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment
of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the related lease
liabilities is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments
using a revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes in market rental rates
following a market rent review, in which cases the related lease
liabilities is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments
using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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BEr—FE-—F+-HA=+—HIFFE
For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

° the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the
right to use one or more underlying assets; and

° the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in scope
and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect
the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, the
Group remeasures the lease liability, less any lease incentives receivable,
based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by making
corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use assets.

The Group as a lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or
operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to
the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases
are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor (Continued)

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not part of the
original terms and conditions are accounted for as lease modifications,
including lease incentives provided through forgiveness or reduction of
rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a new
lease from the effective date of the modification, considering any prepaid
or accrued lease payments relating to the original lease as part of the
lease payments for the new lease.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and
on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance
that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to them and that
the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis
over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses the related
costs for which the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that the Group should
purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are
recognised as deferred income in the consolidated statement of financial
position and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis
over the useful lives of the related assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEr—FE-—F+-HA=+—HIFFE
For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Government grants (Continued)

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose
of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable. Such grants are presented under “other income”.

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans including state-
managed retirement benefit schemes in the PRC are recognised as an
expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are recognised
as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of
the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries, annual leave) after deducting any amount already
paid.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from (loss) profit before tax because of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
the initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, and interests in associates
and joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part
of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions in
which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the related lease
liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax deductions are
attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE—FE - —F+ - H=+—HIFFF
For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable to the
lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 /ncome Taxes requirements
to the leasing transaction as a whole. Temporary differences relating
to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis.
Excess of depreciation on right-of-use assets over the lease payments for
the principal portion of lease liabilities results in net deductible temporary
differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable entity
by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when
they relates to items that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held for use
in the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes (other than construction in progress as described below).
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include any costs directly attributable to bringing
the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable
of operating in the manner intended by management, including costs
of testing whether the related assets is functioning properly and, for
qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policy. Sale proceeds of items that are produced
while bringing an item of property, plant and equipment to the location
and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management (such as samples produced when testing
whether the asset is functioning properly), and the related costs of
producing those items are recognised in the profit or loss. The cost
of those items are measured in accordance with the measurement
requirements of HKAS 2. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis
as other property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their
intended use.
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3R 2022 ANNUAL REPORT

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of properties
which includes both leasehold land and building elements, the entire
consideration is allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition. To
the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably,
interest in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets” in the
consolidated statement of financial position. When the consideration
cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease building element and
undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land, the entire properties
are classified as property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets other than
properties under construction and specialised production facilities and
moulds less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using
the straight-line method. Specialised production facilities and moulds
which can be identified in relation to specific production processes
are depreciated by reference to the expected production volume of
these facilities and moulds after taking into account of their estimated
residual values. The estimated useful lives, residual values, the expected
production volume and the depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of the reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or
retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals.

Investment properties are initially measured at costs, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation is
recognised so as to write off the cost of investment properties over their
estimated useful lives and after taking into account of their estimated
residual value, using the straight-line method.
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BE—FE - —F+ - H=+—HIFFF
For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Investment properties (Continued)

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposal. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is
derecognised.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are
carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful
lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future
economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains or losses
arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
investment properties, and intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
investment properties carried at cost, intangible assets with finite useful
lives to determine whether there is any indication that these assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets, investment properties carried at cost, and intangible assets are
estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
investment properties, and intangible assets (Continued)

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate assets are
allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or group
of cash-generating units to which the corporate asset belongs, and is
compared with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit
or group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot be
allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit,
the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-generating
units, including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of
corporate assets allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with the
recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets
on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit
or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is
not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of
the impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset
is allocated pro-rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of cash-
generating units. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE—FE - —F+ - H=+—HIFFF
For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
investment properties, and intangible assets (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a cash- generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated statement of
financial position include:

(@)  cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand deposits; and

(b)  cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term deposits (generally
with original maturity of three months or less). Cash equivalents
are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments
rather than for investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Costs of inventories are determined on a weighted average method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the
sale. Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental costs directly
attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs which the Group must
incur to make the sale.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal
or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the Group
will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash
flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is
the present value of those cash flows (when the effect of the time value
of money is material).

Warranties

Provisions for the expected cost of assurance-type warranty obligations
under the relevant contracts with customers for sales of trucks and
chassis are recognised at the date of sale of the relevant products, at the
directors’ best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the Group's
obligation.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value
except for trade receivables arising from contracts with customers
which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.



3. RAEMERRNERELERE
B R BR ()

3.2 FEEFBR ()
EHT R

ERMERNAEEREEXNSRA G H#E
A Rz B R R E D A SRARMF S BRZ
A BENETREREEL SR A REN
FH - HOER) S BREERET R A HR
BeBARIN(BREMEBRERNE - 1
HRAREMGESIRI NI RERL
B ENIERR ZEMFEILE -

EHEE
EREENDBERRETE
A TR B E BE R R IR AR

= .
= -

o URASREBEENKBEMNRSRASE
MNEBRABENEREE &

. ERMEENENETREEBBHEER
&7 MABRSREEBNI RS
RAREERASEENFE -

AEERBEBVNBHREERNEORPH TR
([BEMBHREERNESE ) ERN MR
BEHRDLBENATE -

.\m 7f ﬁﬁ#ﬁ%:z Bﬁ ;I
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial
asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective
is to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows;
and

° the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and

interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All of the Group's financial assets recognised under HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments ("HKFRS 9") are subsequently measured at amortised cost.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for
financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost. Interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of
the financial asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is
no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following the determination
that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit
loss ("ECL") model on financial assets (including trade, bills and other
receivables, time deposits, cash and cash equivalents) which are subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default
events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In contrast,
12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on the Group's
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to
the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade and bills receivables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE—FE - —F+ - H=+—HIFFF
For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal
to 12m ECL, unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL.
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based
on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring
since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument'’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk,
e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant

decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor;
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BE—FE - —Ff+ - H=+—HIFFF
For the year ended 31 December 2022
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

° an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory,
economic, or technological environment of the debtor that results
in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a debt
instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition if the
debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting
date. A debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk if i) it has
a low risk of default, ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and iii) adverse changes
in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash
flow obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument to have low
credit risk when it has an internal or external credit rating of ‘investment
grade’ as per globally understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to
identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes
past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEr—FE-—F+-HA=+—HIFFE
For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(ii) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of
default occurs when information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has occurred
when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

(ili)  Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have

a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial

asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired

includes observable data about the following events:

(@)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons
relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise

consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating
that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss
given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data and forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of the financial
asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for
all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade, bills and other receivables where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance account.



3. RAEMERRNERELERE
B aHRR (k)

3.2 FEEFHBR ()

2HTR )

PRAEEE)

BURMER M EE
WEEEKRRRSRENAORFNEER X

AEECERCREEREZEEERBEN
BABSRRRER - AIBUEERSREE

REUHHERIZ B AT BN S REER © %
HEEZREERCKREBRABZZEERN
B AER -

ETERREREZ
DERAESER

BEERAEEETHEETADREAOZH
AEARERABEMMES TANERIBAE
BEENESTE -

ERITA

BaTARBRAEREERNSEDS (GINRE
FIBERE) ZERNELK - AARETHERT
ATHREWPISFIR - MEBRBITERKAET
BE o

RESHKATTEZ S RAE

TRABBREERNENR  BANRE  ERXREAE
REACENTOR - ERRAERMN SRR
AT E -

BURERERAR

EEREAEE B TERR - BUSZEIH
B AEBEREUEERESRAE - WEUBHER
ZeRBERAERED N REMRECZER
BERTER o

,.\m 7f ﬁ&#ﬁﬁ Bﬁ ;I

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE—FE - —F+ - H=+—HIFFF
For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights
to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset
to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the
difference between the asset’'s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and bills payables, refund liabilities and
other payables are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEr_E -+ _HA=+—HIIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2022
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the net amount
presented in the consolidated statement of financial position when, and
only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set off
the recognised amounts; and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described
in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and underlying assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at end of the reporting period
that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE—FE - —F+ - H=+—HIFFF
For the year ended 31 December 2022

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Write-down of inventories

Write-down of inventories require the estimation of the net realisable
value, which is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less estimated cost of completion and estimated costs
necessary to make the sale. These estimates are based on the historical
selling prices of similar products, the estimates cost of completion, the
estimates cost necessary to make the sale, the current market conditions,
forecast usage and sale volume of similar products. It could change
significantly as a result of changes in customer taste or competitor
actions in response to severe consumer product industry cycles. The
management of the Group reassesses these estimates at the end of
the reporting period. As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of
inventories is RMB1,418,835,000 (2021: RMB1,035,550,000), net of
write-down for inventories of RMB72,986,000 (2021: RMB81,887,000).

Provision of ECL for trade, bills and other receivables

The Group assesses ECL for the trade, bills and other receivables
individually based on internal credit rating of these debtors. The estimated
loss rates are estimated based on the Group's historical observed
default rates taking into consideration forward-looking information that
is reasonable and supportable available without undue costs or effort. At
every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are reassessed
and changes in the forward-looking information are considered. As at
31 December 2022, the total carrying amount of trade, bills and other
receivables is RMB1,336,492,000 (2021: RMB2,443,910,000), net of total
allowance for credit losses of RMB12,546,000 (2021: RMB3,017,000).

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The information
about the ECL for the Group's trade, bills and other receivables are
disclosed in note 36.
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BE - FE-—FEAf = —HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2022

5. k& 5. REVENUE
(i) SHRERAERSHHKS (i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
AEBHWZEIERINBRFHE RS « K& The Group's revenue represents sales of trucks, chassis, automobile
RETM - BHREMEENKE - Bk parts, accessories and others to external customers, that are recognised
RE—RHEEER - AEEEHEFZERER at a point in time. The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue
Wasa T from its major products:
—E-= —E-—4F
2022 2021
ARETFIT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
L: ] Types of goods
HERAEAS Sales of light-duty trucks 1,344,581 1,097,316
SHER R® Sales of pick-up trucks 478,749 796,354
SHERA REAH Sales of medium and heavy-duty trucks 509,977 1,003,879
HEEAR Sales of chassis 633,512 1,630,864
HERETH - B REM Sales of automobile parts, accessories
and others 281,261 299,824
st Total 3,248,080 4,828,237
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE—FE - —F+ - H=+—HIFFF
For the year ended 31 December 2022

5. a4\ 5. REVENUE (CONTINUED)
(i) SHERAEFRSHIHNRE(HE) (i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

TR EBERMIEENRE TG DRI Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from contracts with
AR ¢ customers disclosed in the segment information:

THRENE REBH

RES BHRAM

BYERERES KFERES Medium and Automobile

Light-duty Pick-up heavy-duty parts,
trucks trucks trucks accessories o]
and chassis and chassis and chassis and others Consolidated
ARBFT ARBFT ARBFT ARBFT ARBFT
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000

E-E--F+-A=T-HIEE  Forthe year ended 31 December 2022
FEANERS Sales of light-duty trucks 1,344,581 = s = 1,344,581
HEEFE Sales of pick-up trucks - 478749 - - 478749
HEPHRERE Sales of medium and heavy-duty trucks 5 = 509,977 5 509,977
HEER Sales of chassis 590,036 2461 41015 = 633512
HENETH  DHREM Sales of automobile parts, accessories and others 5 = 5 281,061 281,261
Wi Revenue 1,934,617 481,210 550,992 281,261 3,248,080
HE-E--FT-A=t-HLIEE Fortheyear ended 31 December 2021

HEIHERES Sales of light-duty trucks 1097316 = E = 1,097,316
HENFE Sales of pick-up trucks 5 796,354 5 5 796,354
FERULENE Sales of medium and heavy-duty trucks s = 1,003,879 S 1,003,879
HERR Sales of chassis 1,565,205 5,680 59,979 5 1,630,864
HERBDH  PHRER Sales of autormobile parts, accessories and others 5 = 5 299,824 299,824
s Revenue 2662521 802034 1,063,858 299504 188297
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE - FE-—FEAf = —HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2022
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EIR -

(iii) FEFEFSHHBRTRORENRS
E%

RZE-_—F+-_A=+—8  x&£E8H
EYHTRAOBETNRSIBREEDA
R#478,958,000 (T =——4F : AR¥
594,746,0007T) * %S AR ERMNR HEB A
HERBERKEGH -

ERREMRAKETESNHESR - NQF
EEZEIAN TSR T —F+_H
=t+—HART L RBEERS NI HER
TSR EFHERILN ©
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5. REVENUE (CONTINUED)
(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with customers

The Group sells trucks, chassis, automobile parts, accessories and
others to customers, including independent dealers and certain related
parties (details are set out in note 37), according to the relevant sales
agreements. Revenues are recognised when control of trucks, chassis,
automobile parts, accessories and others has been transferred, being
when they have been shipped to the customers’ specific locations
based on the quantity of trucks, chassis, automobile parts, accessories
and others received by the customers. No provisions for returns of
trucks, chassis, automobile parts, accessories and others are set out in
the relevant sales agreements, except for replacement due to quality
problems. Payments of transaction price for sales of trucks, chassis,
automobile parts, accessories and others are agreed at the point when
the customers received them. Advance payments in forms of bank
remittance and/or bank bills from independent dealers are normally
required for sales of light-duty trucks, pick-up trucks, medium and heavy
duties trucks. Sales of chassis, automobile parts, accessories and others
to independent dealers, and related parties are required to be settled in
three to twelve months according to the relevant sales agreements.

Under the Group's standard contract terms, customers have a right to
receive rebates paid by the Company. The Group uses its accumulated
historical experience to estimate the amount of consideration to which
it will be entitled using the most likely amount. A refund liability is
recognised for sales in which revenue has yet been recognised.

Sales-related warranties associated with trucks and chassis and
automobile parts, accessories and others cannot be purchased separately
and they serve as an assurance that the products sold comply with
agreed-upon specifications. Accordingly, the Group accounts for
warranties in accordance with HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets.

(iii) Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligation for contracts with customers

The Group had aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to
remaining performance obligations which are mainly in respect of sales of
trucks and chassis that are unsatisfied amounted to RMB478,958,000 at
31 December 2022 (2021: RMB594,746,000).

Based on the information available to the Group at the end of the
reporting period, the directors of the Company expect the transaction
price allocated to the above unsatisfied contracts as at 31 December
2022 and 2021 will be recognised as revenue in the following year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is engaged in the manufacture and sales of four categories
of products, light-duty trucks and chassis, pick-up trucks and chassis,
medium and heavy-duty trucks and chassis and automobile parts,
accessories and others, and the chief operating decision makers (i.e.
the Company's executive directors) review the segment information by
these categories to allocate resources to segments and to assess their
performance.

Specifically, the Group's reportable segments under HKFRS 8 Operating
Segments are as follows:

Light-duty trucks and manufacture and sales of light-duty trucks

chassis and chassis
Pick-up trucks and — manufacture and sales of pick-up trucks
chassis and chassis
Medium and heavy-duty - manufacture and sales of medium and
trucks and chassis heavy-duty trucks and chassis
Automobile parts, — manufacture and sales of automobile parts,
accessories and accessories and others
others

B85 /AHE D AR A R] Qingling Motors Co. Ltd
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6. HEEFEGR) 6.
) SBBERER (i)

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Segment revenue and results

ARERE Woas o AR IR EE R A 2 #E O I0

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results by

114

T

BE-_Z-_—F#+-_A=+—HLHFE

operating and reportable segment:

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HER RESH.
BYERE KFE  ENEREM R
RES RE®  Mediumand  Automobile
Light-duty Pick-up heavy-duty parts,
trucks trucks trucks  accessories o]
and chassis and chassis and chassis and others  Consolidated
ARRFT ANRBFT ANRBFT ANRBFT ANRBFT
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000
e Segment revenue 1,934,617 481,210 550,992 281,261 3,248,080
S Result
AHER)ER Segment (loss) profi (13,258) (75,019) (8,084) 49,028 (47,333)
LGN Other income 295,405
EEx Other expenses (7,295)
EHEEREE THEEER Impairment losses under ECL model, net of
(nk&m) reversal (9,529)
EHAIE &?ﬁ%ﬁ Other gains and losses, net 13,705
ShERE Central administration costs (39,515)
HiER Research expenses (243,132)
BB Finance costs (4717)
PEBELEEE Share of results of associates (7,339)
MAELEEE Share of results of joint ventures 10,131
RRAEE Loss hefore tax (39,619)
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BE—FE - —F+ - H=+—HIFFF
For the year ended 31 December 2022

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(i) Segment revenue and results (Continued)

HE_ZT-—F+-A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31 December 2021
L
RFE ERER nEEH -
IHERE & i Bk
RES EZ  Mediumand £th
Light-duty Pick-up heavy-duty Automobile
trucks trucks trucks parts, accessories Fa
and chassis and chassis and chassis and others Consolidated
ANREFT ANREFT NRETT NREFT ANRETT
AMB 000 AMB 000 AMB 000 AMB 000 AMB 000
DL Segment revenue 2,662,521 802,034 1,063,858 299,824 4,828,231
E+ Result
AN (EE) Segment profit loss) e (33,1001 14,83 40924 299,857
A Other income 283350
EEx Other expenses (9,560)
BEEEBER THEERR Impairment losses under ECL mode, net of
(NBEE) reversal 614
AtfiEREBLFE Other gains and losses, net 85,653
SHERE Central administration costs (42,778)
HEER Research expenses (269,928)
P Finance costs 1,374)
HMEBELEEE Share of results of associates (5,616)
MERELERE Share of results of joint ventures 4306
BREIER Profit before tax 344,524
HE_Z_—_FR-_ZT-_—F+-_A=+—H There have been no inter-segment sales during the year ended 31

IEFERED BBEHE -

BB NAI2MHE0 2 SRR B T3 BTl
AEENSHBRER - D3P (E518) #ZHMES
/‘*BFJ’T(FEZEETE)E%HXZXLIJ/FEJ i 3 48 5 g
AETFEHAMAWA - Bt - EHEEEBEERER
THRAEBEGRER) - EaF5E &%as'i
B EREEER - HRER - MIEKRA -
fﬁH"i SEEERDEAEREES - lttﬁr'ﬂ

BREREEREADRE RN L EE Y
.:Jr S e

December 2022 and 2021.

The accounting policies of the operating and reportable segments are the
same as the Group's accounting policies described in note 3. Segment
(loss) profit represents the (loss incurred from) profit earned by each
segment without allocation of certain other income, other expenses,
impairment losses under ECL model, net of reversal, other gains and
losses, net, central administration costs, research expenses, finance
costs, share of results of associates and share of results of joint ventures.
This is the measure reported to the chief operating decision makers for
the purposes of resources allocation and performance assessment.

B85 /AHE D AR A R] Qingling Motors Co. Ltd
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

6. HEEFEGR)
(i) HBAERAR

AEEBEERBBERAIZHIEED O

T

KRB —F+_-A=+—H

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(ii) Segment assets and liabilities

operating and reportable segment:

At 31 December 2022

The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities by

] RE
REXE SHIHR
#YERE BFE RES R
RES RE®  Mediumand  Automobile
Light-duty Pick-up heavy-duty parts,
trucks trucks trucks  accessories #8
and chassis and chassis and chassis andothers  Consolidated
ANEBFT ABBFT ABBFT ABBFT ABBFT
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000
2E Assets
AHEE Segment assets 1,247,884 491,460 804,351 288174 2,831,869
AR EREEE Interchangeably used assets between segments
R E S - property, plant and equipment 426,996
~[FREAE - right-of-use assets 61,126
-FE - inventories 376,669
RANE Investment properties 18,956
REELEER Interests in associates 43792
ReEREZER Interests in joint ventures 486,526
RERRLSENREHER Cash and cash equivalents and time deposits 5,387,829
EHAAREE Other unallocated assets 715,43
GALEE Consolidated total assets 10,349,176
=l Liabiliies
AHEE Segment liabilities 451,127 114,037 164,402 - 729,566
ISR EAES - EARERAMENTE Unallocated trade, bills and other payables 1,782,052
TP RERE Unallocated lease liabilities 2173
T A= Other unallocated liablities 9,388
TREAE Consolidated total liabilties 2,563,179
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BE—FE - —F+ - H=+—HIFFF
For the year ended 31 December 2022

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
(ii) Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)
At 31 December 2021

i REEf

RERE R
IHERE FfE RS Hfh
RES REZ  Medumand Automoble
Light-duty Pick-up heavy-duty parts,
trucks trucks trucks accessories A
and chassis and chassis and chassis and others Consolidated

NGETT  AEETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
AMB 000 AMB 000 AMB 000 AMB 000 AMB 000

¢
[

=>

Pz

B FHRRE

-0%  BERRE
-mEaE

-k&
Ranz

MERLR iR
\RELRCER
AeRRESENREHE
EpATNERE

GRERE

fif

HaeE

AR IENER - BNERREMENE
TnkzRERR
EAIAEZBE

GREAR

Assets
Segment assets 1,586,178 574,000 1,143,074 379,1% 3,682,447

Interchangeably used assets between segments

- property, plant and equipment 389,409

- right-of-use assets 44,738

- inventories 314,646
[nvestment properties 19,235
Interests in associates 51,131
Interests in joint ventures 48947
Cash and cash equivalents and time deposits 5,405,835
Other unallocated assets 508,999
Consolidated total assets 10,905,911
Libilities

Segment liabilities 532,231 162,432 23,141 - 926,804
Unallocated trade, bills and other payables 1,876,944
Unallocated lease liabilties 24,739
Other unallocated liabilities 10,202
Consolidated total liabilities 2,838,689

B85 /AHE D AR A R] Qingling Motors Co. Ltd
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BE - FE-—FEAf = —HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2022

S EEF (&)
S PRER AR ()

REFEDHEERDE D HER

6.

(ii)

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and allocating
resources between segments:

. FIEEEHDEEEERZ2®RDE . All assets are allocated to operating and reportable segments other
|ﬁ’\*BZF'ﬁ FFJ%“E wEME E’\Hﬁr than interchangeably used assets between segments, investment
BhEIED NEeELEIER properties, interest in associates, interests in joint ventures, cash
é&fﬂﬁﬁﬁ%&m,ﬁ;ﬂt L/(&Ef’@ and cash equivalents and time deposits, and other unallocated

HARRRFE 2 T A DEEERIN © &

FBEREANKRELERFZ2HD
A DB BINRR - BARERE
ENFIR - TAokz HERERA

assets held by the head office; and

All liabilities are allocated to operating and reportable segments
other than unallocated trade, bills and other payables, unallocated
lease liabilities and other unallocated liabilities of the head office.

RNEZEAA A D ECE ERRS o
(ii) HfrHEmEH (iii)

Other segment information

HE- T+ -A=+—HItEE For the year ended 31 December 2022
HER

EXE REDH G4

#iERE K+E RES Rt

RES RE®  Mediumand  Automobile

Light-duty Pick-up  heavy-duty parts,
trucks trucks trucks  accessories FUSE ]
andchassis  and chassis  and chassis andothers  Unallocated  Consolidated
ARBFT  ARBFT  ARBFT  ARBTT  ARBFT  ARBFT
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000

HANDEERATEEZEE:  Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or
loss or segment assets:

TENE  BERG Additions to property, plant and equipment 659 69,791 6,565 5 80,699 157,714
TEFRELE Additions to right-of-use assets - - - - 40,250 40,250
NEEVEE Additions to intangible assets - - = S 3837 3837
EYEERH Amortisation of intangible assets - - 32,081 = 6,418 38,499
% BRRIENE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 14,566 6,223 12570 - 18,526 51,885
FREAENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets o o = S 23,862 23,862
REMENE Depreciation of investment properties = = = S 219 279
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BE—FE - —F+ - H=+—HIFFF
For the year ended 31 December 2022

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
(iii) Other segment information (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

FUREYS AERE B
BYERE  ERS ReE BAM

REZ REZ  Medumand  Automobile
Light-duty Pick-up  heavy-duty parts,
trucks trucks trucks  accessories AR )
andchassis ~ andchassis  andchassis  and others  Unallocated ~ Consolidated
NREFT  ANRETT  ARETT ARETT AREFT  AREFL
AMB 000 AMB 000 AMB 000 AMB 000 AMB 000 AMB 000
SADDERANTEEZEE  Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or segment
asses:
TENE  BER Additions to property, plant and equipment 39 35,666 20,830 5 94,464 150999
TERRREAE Additions to right-of-use assets - - = 5 15,492 15,492
BYEERE Amortisation of intangible assets = = 32,629 5 6,293 38,922
% BERRERE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 10,846 5,524 11,320 5 18,168 45,858
FREAENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets = 5 5 5 20,660 20,660
RANENE Depreciation of investment properties = 5 5 5 2159 2159
(iv) BESHE (iv) Geographical information

BRIBELEHRELTHFERAIN  AEEEE
AR#%1,918,804,000L(ZZE=——4F : A
R#1,841,792,000L) M3EmB B EMR
FEER - BRARBEUINER ZEHOHE
AR¥51,151,0000L(ZE=—F : AR¥
66,275,0007T)40 + RERZ A EMEES
EFNRPBEZEF -

(v) BREBREFRZEH

REBE-Z-_—_F+-_A=+—HLFE  #
EE—INBREPHRAEREB B A10%
FUE e BE_E-_—F+_A=+—HILF
B RAEREEREWBARZIMA SARE
B AARK1,105,429,0007C * &L B2
iE10% o

Excluding deferred tax assets and time deposits, the Group’s non-current
assets amounting to RMB1,918,804,000 (2021: RMB1,841,792,000) are
located in the PRC. Except for export sales to countries outside the PRC
amounting to RMB51,151,000 (2021: RMB66,275,000), all other sales of
the Group are made to customers located in the PRC.

(v) Information about major customers

During the year ended 31 December 2022, no single external customer
contributed 10% or more to the Group's total revenue. During the
year ended 31 December 2021, revenue from Qingling Group and its
subsidiaries, amounted to RMB1,105,429,000, contribute over 10% of
the total revenue of the Group.

B85 /AHE D AR A R] Qingling Motors Co. Ltd
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BE - FE-—FEAf = —HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2022

7. HMkA 7. OTHER INCOME
= T
2022 2021
ABRETIT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
RAT8) - BIEIEE e i (A aT) Government grants, including release
from deferred income (note) 112,657 216,848
FHEREREES KASEEBM 2 FBIWA Interest income from time deposits and
cash and cash equivalents 181,077 178,357
REZE—AFFRAAUR Receipt from 2015 Litigation
oz%ﬁ/f/f}vm) (as defined in note 40) 36,597 9,355
HAERE 2 BERA Rental income from renting of
equipment 42,593 42,593
MR EMEZHERA Rental income from renting of
investment properties and buildings 4,464 5,629
HEIEARTF U A Miscellaneous service income 8,017 10,568
385,405 463,350

Wit BREHEBEERBEMME R/ TEM - B

Note: The government grants mainly comprise the hydrogen fuel cell vehicles

120

REEEHENERREL  HARAA
SERMEE B R - RRTEEHERE
-

BE-_Z-_—_F#+_-_A=+—HItFE ' &K
EEMESHBE M TEFHELIE TR
AER#90,000,000 (=T =-—%F : AR
180,000,0007T) ° HRIEZT & - BUIFEER
TE R -E-AFHEMREMRKE
MTEEEMBER o

HE-_T-_—_F+=-F=+— EIJLET“
PEFEURA AR 35 A R#5877,000T (=2 =
F: AR¥830,0007T) E18% - iE Uﬁz)\.ﬁé
BEEHIFES34 ©

HPRELAmECBRENRERAMEREH
TER BN BT 7S S 5 RS 10 BB IE I - T
RARFARBARA - b DS REREE
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subsidies, which is compensation for expenses or losses already
incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recognised grants
of RMB90,000,000 (2021: RMB180,000,000) under the hydrogen fuel
cell vehicles subsidies. Under this scheme, the government aims to
accelerate the development of hydrogen fuel cell vehicle industry during
2021-2025.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, RMB877,000 (2021:
RMB830,000) was released to profit or loss from deferred income,
details of deferred income are set out in note 34.

The remaining balances of grants are incentives received upon fulfilling
the conditions for compensation of research expenses already incurred
or as immediate financial support with no future related costs nor
related to any assets.
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BEr—FE-—F+-HA=+—HIFFE
For the year ended 31 December 2022

8. FHEEGR\ATHREES 8. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED

18 - MERIED CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL
—E__F —E-—4F
2022 2021
AR¥TFIT ARETFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
(BE)RESEERS (Reversal of) impairment losses
recognised on:
— FEURAR R — trade receivables (531) (540)
— E fth FEUAR X — other receivables 10,060 (74)
9,529 (614)
BB E BRI FES6 Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 36.
9. HMFBRIRKBH 9. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET
—E-—F T4
2022 2021
AR¥TFiT AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
HE—RIREME 2 W FE Gain on disposal of an investment
property, net - 79,566
P& H U B B8 Net foreign exchange gains 13,539 12,541
HEMERZHE 2 BEFHE Loss on disposal of property and
equipment, net (161) (6,454)
Efth Others 327 =
13,705 85,653
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BE - FE-—FEAf = —HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2022

10. BRIRAN(ER) BT

10. (LOSS) PROFIT BEFORE TAX

—_=E= T —F
2022 2021
AR¥TFiT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BRA% AT (B518) % F B 0Bk GTA) - (Loss) profit before tax has been arrived
at after charging (crediting):
e REMENEZ T Salaries and other payments and 296,886 318,085
benefits
RGBT B W7 12) Retirement benefit scheme 41,965 40,818
contributions (note 12)
BETHRA(BRESRESHE) W13 Total staff costs (including directors’ and 338,851 358,903
supervisors’ remuneration (note 13))
REEFERNERE KA Staff costs capitalised in inventories (147,479) (151,646)
191,372 207,257
EmILAESHE Amortisation of intangible assets 38,499 38,922
W - WE &R ETE Depreciation of property, plant and 51,885 45,858
equipment
REEFERE Capitalised in inventories (31,660) (25,353)
20,225 20,505
HEBEREKAR Finance costs of lease liabilities 637 1,374
ARIRSRITRN R Y Finance costs of discounted bank 4,080 -
ELE=ND®N acceptance bills
REMERE Depreciation of investment properties 279 2,159
FREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 23,862 20,660
ZEE S Auditor’s remuneration
— 2B — Audit service 2,606 2,784
— FERBURTE - Non-audit service 330 313
REBAX 2 FERAN(BIEMBATEARE Cost of inventories recognised 3,132,923 4,273,893
645,0007T (ZZ2=—4F : ARK#¥23,293,0007T)) as an expense (including write-
down of inventories amounting to
RMB645,000 (2021: RMB23,293,000))
FEMBRNEENS Subsequent sales of written-down (9,546) (6,616)
inventories
AR EME 2 BA Rental income from renting of 4,210 5,375
investment properties
B FREAEEHEERACIREZXEREEXEM Less: Direct operating expenses from (279) (1,995)
investment properties that
generated rental income during
the year
3,931 3,380
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R E - —HFf A= —HIFFE
For the year ended 31 December 2022

11. INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE

= T

2022 2021

AR¥TFiT AR¥TFT

RMB’000 RMB’000

BIHEATR IR Current tax 7,256 5,555
BATE(RERE BEO (Over) under provision in prior years (2,052) 3,831
EIERRIE (B 7724) Deferred tax (note 24) (39,840) 4,252
(34,636) 13,638

RIECRIR T E B ARFAECEMEHEBERDN
NEY (B BERMELERBREREREK
BLREBENE2020F F235) (AT @S
BEEXES BRBEENREZESSHE
40%%) B-ZE-—F—HF—HBHE_ZT=ZTF
+ZA=+—8  [RAFEFEE R ER
BIBNEEEEX B 2 TR EEELERA
(U A BB LL B R B0 % I AR ZE A 15% MY
BELEMB(EEMBHRNEE - A7 K
ARARZHBAREEEREATRAR(E
SREADFTBEXEBRABBAT B SAFTE
WEEEEE  TAAFEFEERBARSE
HFEESBERABEALOIZEEE0% @ HEE
PRREAFEZEEBECEMESHRKREIEY °

AARZHBAREREREMBOERET
AaEl([EREMm O RES CRIDFTRERT
HIHERBARAR(DRIIFERDREE=
T —HF+ - A=+—BItFEER2B%(F
Z—F : 25%) M RN EMER

According to the Notice of the Continuation of the Enterprise Income Tax
for Implementation of Exploration and Development of Western Region
(Notice of the Ministry of Finance, State Administration of Taxation and
National Development and Reform Commission No. 23 [2020]) and the
Catalogue of Industries Encouraged to Develop in the Western Region
(Order of the National Development and Reform Commission No. 40),
companies located in the western region of the PRC and engaged in
the businesses encouraged by the PRC government are entitled to the
preferential enterprise income tax (“EIT”) rate of 15% from 1 January
2021 to 31 December 2030 if the operating revenue of the encouraged
business in a year accounted for more than 60% of the total income in
that year. The Company and EE EREEAGR A 7] (“Qingling Moulds"),
a subsidiary of the Company, are engaged in the encouraged businesses
included in the related notice and catalogue and the total revenue of their
major businesses for the year accounted for 60% of their respective total
revenue, and therefore continue to enjoy the preferential EIT rate of 15%
for both years.

EEBRHEFMFOARSZERF (“Qingling Technical Center”) and &
BRORIDF e RREHERS AR AR (“Shenzhen New Energy”),
subsidiaries of the Company, are subject to EIT rate of 256% (2021: 25%)
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

B85 /AHE D AR A R] Qingling Motors Co. Ltd
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R E - L A= —HIFFE
For the year ended 31 December 2022

11. FRisiR (IE50) 8 A (8)

AEZELZFAEHREENXHEREAERR
Hit 2 ERaS R 2 BHAT(BR)IENFE AT

11. INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

The income tax (credit) expense for the year can be reconciled to the (loss)
profit before tax per consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

L comprehensive income as follows:
—E——F —E-—4F
2022 2021
ARSTFIT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
BR#% AT (B518) 5= F) (Loss) profit before tax (39,619) 344,524
LB A TSR 15% T8 2 8 Tax at the applicable income tax rate of
(ZZ=—F : 15%) 15% (2021: 15%) (5,943) 51,679
EREAREEB EBRAZ Tax effect of expenses not deductible
Dk for tax purpose 1,036 1,448
EARAEE 25 Additional tax benefit applicable to the
B M= H77) Group (note) (28,540) (31,334)
HEBATTRME 22 Effect of different tax rate of subsidiaries 1,282 1,168
DEEERERER 2 Tax effect of share of results of
BireE associates 1,101 842
PMEEEREER L Tax effect of share of results of joint
ik ventures (1,520) (646)
BITFE (BB E BE (Over) under provision in prior years (2,052) 3,831
) DA R RERR 2 BT Rk Utilisation of deductible temporary
TRMEER differences previously not recognised = (13,350)
REE 2 ST ) T Income tax (credit) expense for the year (34,636) 13,638

Biat

Note:

BEEERAKER  HRUEEHERTKRESE
HNEEEMRRBI B AMI100% (2T ——4F : 100%)
BoBEZE-—_F+-_A=+—BLFE -
ARG EEEA AR 28,540,000 L( =T =—
£ AR31,334,0007T) °

Pursuant to the relevant tax rules and regulation, expenses in research
nature are deductible at 100% (2021: 100%) of such expenses incurred
additionally. The related tax benefit is amounted to RMB28,540,000 (2021:
RMB31,334,000) for the year ended 31 December 2022.
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12. RFEFIEHE

NEBEEFEITRARIEREBRE IR
e - Bt AEEGEELEBEREEE
$%§Immﬁﬁkﬁﬁfiﬁﬁﬁiﬁi\%§%ﬁ
FHEIFTE M BERR - BIBMRER S - AR

F/BMEMR mﬂzﬁai@muxg@zﬁ %15,5
TEHTETFELHIZFE - AFEIRIEADR
TR BT R HNEEAARE31,5679,000
T(ZZE=—F : AR¥30,884,0007T) °

BEAN - RIBEEREENCEF SR - B
EER-_ZT—+F+_FA—BRITEFS
ABRABRENET (BEAEBNAEKET)
REHESE - *Eﬁm%ifﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁﬂ%%%
AEBAAERBETHMNERSENENE
TTEZETELA @ TRIRRESREAEER
GEBEAEMEERERTINY - C¥FS
FEIZEEBYRAER  H—BUEEES
B/A AFERBRABLTENESR I HNS
A AR10,386,000L(ZFE——F : AR
#9,934,0007T) °

RZZ-__F+_A=1t—H HEE=_F
—oHEt+ - A=t B EFEMHKE RS
T (CT_—F 8 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE—FE - —F+ - H=+—HIFFF
For the year ended 31 December 2022

12. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

The Group has a service agreement with its ultimate holding company,
Qingling Group, whereby the Group will reimburse the contributions
made by Qingling Group to a defined contribution pension scheme
administered by the municipal government in respect of the staff of the
Group. According to such scheme, the Company shall pay an amount
annually, calculated at a percentage of the total wages of the staff,
to a retirement fund administered by the municipal government. The
amount charged to profit or loss during the year under such arrangement
amounted to RMB31,579,000 (2021: RMB30,884,000).

In addition, on 1 December 2017, the Qingling Group established
a voluntary defined contribution enterprise annuities program (the
"Enterprise Annuities Plan”) in accordance with the Qingling Group's
Enterprise Annuities Plan for its eligible employees (including eligible
employees of the Group). Contributions paid by the Group for its eligible
employees are made based on a percentage of their wages and salaries
and are charged to the Group's consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the Enterprise Annuities Plan. The assets of the
Enterprise Annuities Plan are held separately from those of the Group in
an independently administered fund. The amount charged to profit or loss
during the year under such arrangement amounted to RMB10,386,000
(2021: RMB9,934,000).

As at 31 December 2022, no contributions (2021: nil) due in respect of
the year ended 31 December 2022 had not been paid over to the plans.
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13. EF -EERTHAXZME 13. DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF

EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS

126

BECSCIETIRCT-ALER HEE_-Et-A-1-RIEE
Year ended 31 December 2022 Year ended 31 December 2021
b LG ELE
FHR  HRRE  bEH  ERRE R EBzE Gl BVE
R Rfth& (W) RbbE  HEEA &t B Atds (D EbdE  rERA &
Performance Performance
related Retirement related Retirement
Salaries  incentive Other benefit Salaries ~ incentive Other benefit
andother  payments  benefits  scheme andother — payments  benefits  scheme
Fee  benefits (Note) ~ received contributions  Total Fee  benefits Notg)  received  contributions Total
ARRFT  ARBFT ARBFT ARRFT ARRFT ARRFT REFT AREFT AREFT AREFT ARETT ARETR
RVB000  RMBO00  RMBD00  RMBUO)  RMBU0O  RMBYM  RIBU0  AMBOM  AMBUID  AMBUI  AMBUOD  RMBUOD
4iiEs Executive directors
BFE LUO Yuguang - 5M - - 5 628 - Gl - - 53 624
ZARG(ZFZ-FLAZTAZME)  YASUTA Tatsuya fappointed on 30
July 2021) - 30 - 04 - 534 - 135 - 86 - bl
RA(CEZZFNAZTRRZE)  NAKAMURA Osamu (appointed on 25
Aug 2022) - - - - - - /A A N/A NIA /A /A
ASRMCTZENAZTRAZ  KUIMAKatsuya fappointed on 25 Aug
) 2020) - - - - - - /A NA N/A NIA /A /A
3EE LI Juxing - 457 - - 57 514 - 47 - - 53 510
B XU Song - 41 - - 5 514 - 47 - - 53 510
FR LI Xiaodong - 1] - - 51 514 s 157 = 5 5 510
BEB-(CE--ECAZTBRLR  MASUDA Yoichi (appointed on 30 July
“3-F\A-t1RER) 2021 and resigned on 25 Aug 2022) - - - - - - - - - - - -
NREAMZEZ-ELAZTAZER  YAG! Naoto (appointed on 30 July
E-CE)\A-tRRER) 2021 and resigned on 25 Aug 2022) - - - - - - - - - - - -
ME—(ZEZ-FLA=TAER)  HAYASHI Shuichi[resigned on 30 July
2021) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A - 160 - 84 - U4
BEE-H(E-FLAZTRE  MAEGAKI Keiichiro resigned on 30
B July 2021) N/A N/A N/A N/A NiA NIA - - - - - -
WERD(ZF-ELAZTRER)  ADACHI Katsumi lresigned on 30 July
2021) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A - - - - - -
- 212 - 204 08 2,104 - 208 - 10 N2 2619
BUEUES Indgpendent non-executive directors
2 LONG Tao 120 - - - - 10 120 - - - - 120
RINI SONG Xiaojiang 120 - - - - 120 120 = = 120
N LIU Tianni 120 - - - - 120 120 - - - - 120
4R LIV Erh Fei 120 - - - - 120 120 - - - - 120
480 - - - - 480 480 - - - - 480
3 Supervisors
RE MIN Qing - 4 107 - 57 10 - 4 107 - 5 206
FAB(CE--FT-ATRAEE)  ZHANG Yongning lresigned on 15
December 2021) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A - ] % - 3 167
#R(CE--Ft-ATRAZAD  PUQing (appointed on 16 December
2021) - & 9 - 55 19 - 2 4 - 2 8
- 8 206 - 12 406 - 89 205 - 87 31
480 2,360 206 204 340 3590 480 2326 205 170 29 3480
I I — I — — I = I
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B ATHR (L 2 BRIS T S 1~ 2 R B ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE—FE - —F+ - H=+—HIFFF
For the year ended 31 December 2022

13. DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’'S EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Note: The performance related incentive payment is determined by reference
to the individual performance of the supervisors and the executive
director, approved by the remuneration committee (composed of an
executive director and four independent non-executive directors).

Mr. YASUTA Tatsuya (upon appointed as a director), Mr. HAYASHI
Shuichi (upon appointed as a director, resigned on 30 July 2021), who are
general manager of the Company and also assume the role as the chief
executive of the Company and their emoluments disclosed above include
that for services rendered by them as the chief executive.

Save as Mr. NAKAMURA Osamu (upon appointed as a director), Mr.
KIJIMA Katsuya (upon appointed as a director), Mr. MASUDA Yoichi, Mr.
YAGI Naoto, Mr. MAEGAKI Keiichiro and Mr. ADACHI Katsumi, neither
directors nor supervisors waived their emoluments for the years ended
31 December 2022 and 2021.

The Group has been providing accommodation and recuperation to Mr.
YASUTA Tatsuya and Mr. HAYASHI Shuichi at no charge. The estimation
money value of the benefit in kind is RMB204,000 (2021: RMB86,000).

The emoluments of the Company's other executive directors and
supervisors are paid for their services in connection with the management
of the affairs of the Company and its subsidiaries.

The emoluments of the Company’s independent non-executive directors
are paid for their services as directors of the Company.

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors
and supervisors of the Company as an inducement to join or as
compensation for loss of office (2021: nil).

Five highest paid employees
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group,
5 individuals (2021: 5 individuals) were executive directors whose

emoluments for the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 are
included in the disclosure above.

B85 /AHE D AR A R] Qingling Motors Co. Ltd

127



128

e SRR MR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEr_E -+ _HA=+—HIIFE
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14. BAZELRE

RETFBEERER  ARERTEKINEE
BABLAEMBRETFHRHRREHNN10%
(MEEEENEREAD)BARES (81
—RABEREEERES (WEM)) < EE
BB ATEeEERSHRBEISAREMER
0% A BER - WA BRRMEEFE
BRIERARE X RAE L RREE R
SNER - ARBREBAMEITABRATEE
AT BT IR A - BN ECREVAE R B A
BEHRBEITSERTEESERIMEARN
25% ° R RRRIBRAGHA -

15. BAEELRS

TECCFR-IE - —FHERFTEARIER
EERQTES - ARM2,347,000t 2 EB A&
SHESBANBRARREREENBAEFEIRPE
ARETRAARERELBHERRE B
BREafETa BTz E% -

14. TRANSFER TO STATUTORY SURPLUS RESERVE
FUND

Pursuant to the relevant laws in the PRC, each of the group entities
established in the PRC is required to transfer 10% of its profit after tax
as per statutory financial statements (as determined by the management
of the group entities) to the reserve fund (including the general reserve
fund and enterprise development fund where appropriate). The general
reserve fund is discretionary when the fund balance reaches 50% of
the registered capital of the respective entity and can be used to make
up for previous years' losses or, expand the existing operations or can
be converted into additional capital of the respective entity. Each of the
group entities may capitalise the statutory surplus reserve fund by way
of bonus issues provided that the remaining amount of statutory surplus
reserve fund after such distribution shall not be less than 25% of the
registered capital of each of the group entities. The amount shall be
submitted to shareholders’ general meeting for approval.

15. TRANSFER TO DISCRETIONARY SURPLUS
RESERVE FUND

No amount was appropriated to the discretionary reserve fund in 2022
and 2021. The balance of RMB2,347,000 in the discretionary reserve
fund was the amount appropriated by a subsidiary, Qingling Moulds, in
previous years at a percentage of the profit after tax of the respective
years in accordance with PRC GAAP and Articles of Association of
Qingling Moulds.

16. B&R 16. DIVIDENDS
= T
2022 2021
AR#TFT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB'000
AEFEEREDEAIARS Dividends recognised as distribution
during the year:
ZEC—FREAREXN —EBRARE0.117T(ZF 2021 Final, paid - RMB0.11 (2021: 2020
Z—F ZECRFERPREZN—FRARE  Final, paid - RMBO0.10) per share
0.107T) 273,050 248,227

“E-_FHR BERARQR T ERKE
TAREHFTARE  BREHRESTE
BREMKE(CE_—F BE-_T_—_—
F+-_A=+—HIFERABRBARE
273,050,000k F% AR EE0.117T) ©

3R 2022 ANNUAL REPORT

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of the
Company during 2022, nor has any dividend been proposed since the
end of the reporting period (2021: final dividend of RMB273,050,000 or
RMBO0.11 per ordinary share in respect of the year ended 31 December
2021).



e R ERAR MR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEr—FE-—F+-HA=+—HIFFE
For the year ended 31 December 2022

17. BE(SR) 2% 17. (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE
AN ARLERERN(EE BFIR The calculation of the basic (loss) earnings per share attributable to
BTYERGE owners of the Company is based on the following data:
(R &2F (Loss) earnings
s T4
2022 2021
AR¥TFiT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BT E FRER(EER) BF 2 (B8 &5 (Loss) earnings for the purpose of basic
(loss) earnings per share
(RARIERFEE AEGEFE (88 HH) ((Loss) profit for the year attributable to
owners of the Company) (14,575) 322,080
Ein& A Number of shares

—E_C—f —E-—F

2022 2021
T FAR
‘000 ‘000
RUGTEERERER) BF 2 BRHEE Number of shares for the purpose of
basic (loss) earnings per share 2,482,268 2,482,268

R AR A RIFE P IRR E 6 2 1 SR TAE SN VB No diluted (loss) earnings per share was presented as there were no
e smk - S e 25| SRS (518 87 - potential ordinary shares in issues in both years presented.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

18. Y% - BRER &R 18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
LR &
B RERRE KERGH B ERIE @t
Moulds, Furniture,
plant and fixtures and Motor  Construction
Buildings machinery equipment vehicles in progress Total

ARRTE  ARRTL  ARRTL ARRTL ARRTL ARET
AUB 000 AUB 000 AUB000 AUB 000 AUB 000 AUB 000

723 CoST
R=B-—F-5-H At 1 January 2021 671,932 3678315 89,154 14,749 253,252 4707 402
HE Additions - - - - 150,999 150,999
EREARIRE Transfer from construction in progress 8,623 153,584 4520 3,004 (169,731) -
RE Disposals 1,215) (112,678) (3,59) (3.381) S (120,869)
AZEZ-E+ZA=1-H At 31 December 2021 679,340 3,719,221 90,079 14372 234520 4737532
WE Additions - - - - 157,714 157,714
BERTRIE Transfer from construction in progress 8179 24,992 5 1773 (34,944) -
RE Disposals - (909) (715) - - (1,624)
R-E--%+-A=1-H At 31 December 2022 687,519 3,743,304 89,364 16,145 357,290 4,893,622
HEREE DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT
R-E--%-f-H At 1 January 2021 495,300 3,180,687 65,632 11913 - 3,753,532
EENERE Depreciation provided for the year 10,861 31,196 3,095 706 5 45,858
REWH Eliminated on disposals 1,004 (102,044) 3,235) 3,043) - (109,416)
A—Z2--F+-A=1-H At 31 December 2021 505,067 3,109,839 65,492 9,576 - 3,689,974
EERERR Depreciation provided for the year 8760 3859 3475 1,064 5 51,885
REHE Eliminated on disposals S 815) 643 S S (1,458)
RZB-—F+-F=1-H At 31 December 2022 513827 3,147,620 68,324 10,630 - 3,740,401
lﬁﬁﬂ CARRYING VALUES

R-B-—F+-F=1-H At 31 December 2022 173,692 595,684 21,040 5515 357,290 1,153,221
R=BZ-F+-R=+-A At 31 December 2021 174273 609,382 24,587 47% 234520 1,047,558
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE—FE - —F+ - H=+—HIFFF
For the year ended 31 December 2022

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

The above items of property, plant and equipment, except for
construction in progress and specialised production facilities and moulds,
are depreciated on a straight-line basis based on their estimated useful
lives, after taking into account the estimated residual value, as follows:

f&&t T R IR EE

Estimated Residual

useful lives value

s 205 10%
Buildings 20 years

BA - BFE R (EREERERERRIN 5F 1045 10%
Moulds, plant and machinery (other than 5 to 10 years

specialised production facilities and moulds)

&I~ HEBRRE 5% 10%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5 years

_E 5% 10%
Motor vehicles 5 years

ARENEERAFAANOEDMEEAA
R#266,232,000L(ZE=—F : AR¥
271,383,00070) MEREERELEL(BIE
RIER - BEMEE) H2ERSERERER
WIETEEETIANE -

RZFEZZF+ZA=+—0 " REKLTA
AR #3,886,006,000L(ZFE=——F : ARK
3,858,5637,00070) KI¥I% ~ RE R HEEEH
WERDEFER -

FEREMERHEA

AEERBEKLMEHALERME - ZSHE
MEBRAEBIE3F (T ——4F : 123
F)  c ZRSHAEHTREBEAEHENK - RS
HARGLHENER  MEREENEREEE
BARM90,405,000C(ZE-—% : AR
90,603,0007T) ©

Specialised production facilities and moulds with aggregate carrying
amount of RMB266,232,000 (2021: RMB271,383,000) included in
moulds, plant and machinery which can be identified in relation to specific
production processes are depreciated by reference to the expected
production volume of these facilities and moulds.

As at 31 December 2022, property, plant and equipment with original
cost of RMB3,886,006,000 (2021: RMB3,858,537,000) have been fully
depreciated but still in use.

The Group as lessor

The Group leases out a number of equipment under operating leases.
The leases typically run for an initial period of 1 to 3 years (2021:1 to 3
years). None of the leases includes variable lease payments. The carrying
value of the moulds, plant and machinery under operating leases at the
end of the reporting period is RMB90,405,000 (2021: RMB90,603,000).
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BE - FE-—FEAf = —HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2022

19. (FHREEE 19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
HEt BERETF B st
Leasehold ~ Warehouse
lands and buildings  Equipment Total

ARETT ANEETT ARETT ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

RZEZZF+=ZRA=+—A At 31 December 2022

FHEE Carrying amount 19,009 32,405 9,712 61,126
RZZZ—F+ZA=+—H At 31 December 2021

FEE Carrying amount 19,959 20,737 4,042 44,738

BE-T-F+-A=1+—-ALEE For the year ended 31 December 2022
nESHE Depreciation charge 950 18,870 4,042 23,862

BE-S-—F+-fA=+—HAItEE For the year ended 31 December 2021

NELHE Depreciation charge 950 15,670 4,040 20,660

—E—— —E-—4F

2022 2021

AR®TFIT AEET T

RMB’000 RMB 000

B EATR A B RN B A Expense relating to short-term leases 656 656

HER ML Total cash outflow for leases 24,109 23,276

RNEFREEE Additions to right-of-use assets 40,250 15,492
HESE Lease modification - (31,885)
NEZEEE - AEFHBAERE @ BENEER For both years, the Group leases warehouses and buildings and
NE XL - HEA R E T HR &3 A equipment for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for a fixed
EIF(ZE=-—F : AR E3IF) - HEKHK term of 3 months to 3 years (2021: 3 months to 3 years). Lease terms

SEERER FHREY - BRI ETNRBIER are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different
UG o 78 FETE FH & HAPR AT 4 1~ n] 4885 HARR. terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the

B AEEFRERNTESR - WHETEARTH length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a
1THARR contract and determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.
BN SRR — IR TR R o (& Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire these property
ERen] SE D ECATEL N B - :Z2ZE W interests. The leasehold lands components of these owned properties are
ENEE T I T EBREY - presented separately only if the payments made can be allocated reliably.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEr—FE-—F+-HA=+—HIFFE
For the year ended 31 December 2022

19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

The Group has obtained the land use right certificates for all leasehold
lands.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for warehouse. As
at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the portfolio of short-term leases is
similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-term lease
expense disclosed above.

Restrictions or covenants on leases

In addition, lease liabilities of RMB42,173,000 are recognised with related
right-of-use assets of RMB42,117,000 as at 31 December 2022 (2021:
lease liabilities of RMB24,739,000 are recognised with related right-of-
use assets of RMB24,779,000). The lease agreements do not impose
any covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets that
are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.
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BEr_E -+ _HA=+—HIIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2022

20. wEME

20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

$%?ﬁzi‘<‘%7ﬂ’ﬁﬁ_§ﬂjfﬂ ST L FEF - The Group leases out certain leasehold lands and buildings under
MERALZMN - HAO—RETELAIF(ZZ operating leases with fixed rentals payable monthly. The leases typically

——%F :3F) -

run for a fixed period of 3 years (2021: 3 years).

HEARTE SREERM SEAFRAEHE The lease contracts do not contain residual value guarantee and/or

HRRESBRYENESE -

lessee’s option to purchase the property at the end of lease term.

HELH BF a5t
Leasehold
lands Buildings Total
ARMTFT AREFT AR¥TFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
2% COST
R-ZT-—F—HF—H At 1 January 2021 24,388 145,915 170,303
BE Disposals (9,673) (19,954) (29,627)
T —F+-"A=+—HBRK=-ZF At 31 December 2021 and 31
——HF+-A=+—H December 2022 14,715 125,961 140,676
e DEPRECIATION
W-_Z—_—%—HA—H At 1 January 2021 9,922 120,999 130,921
FEREB Provided for the year 441 1,718 2,159
BB Eliminated on disposals (2,451) (9,188) (11,639)
RZZE-—F+=-A=+—H At 31 December 2021 7,912 113,529 121,441
FERE Provided for the year 279 = 279
RZZE-=—F+=-A=+—H At 31 December 2022 8,191 113,529 121,720
REE CARRYING VALUES
RZZE-_—F+=-A=+—H At 31 December 2022 6,524 12,432 18,956
WZZE-_—F+=-F=+—H At 31 December 2021 6,803 12,432 19,235
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHE_FE-—F+_A=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2022

20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

The above investment properties are situated in the PRC held under
medium leases term and are depreciated on a straight-line basis based
on their estimated useful lives, after taking into account the estimated
residual value, as follows:

&5t Estimated
AI{ERAEY  FREE useful lives Residual value
HETH 50 0% Leasehold lands 50 years 0%
BgF 20%F 10% Buildings 20 years 10%

REFBEYENR T -_—F+=-A=+—H
Z”ﬁFE%AE%wgwommxfjf—
&1 AR#49,476,0007T) ° RABETIIRE
EﬁiﬂS%@ﬁ%,ﬁEﬁ@Z%IHﬁEﬂiiFﬁ?%éF
FEtEEGEERETAR(ZE
F BEEFEEIELHEMEGEBERE
FEARNIEHZHEETE °

RABETRBRAEEE - ERWEMRER
HABMHTISEE RIRE EMRIE BZ
BRMENTSRATETHERER - 15
HeH2EYEATEHEBLMREHNES AR
MR ENE LB RETTHE © BiR
E2ESMPEEERLUBEMENHER
HELH WS - ]Ii«‘qu&fF%%&é%E’Jm%ﬁ
HIETEE R TIABETE - WRMAEEREY %
HRE R Eﬁit—ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁwﬁfﬁﬁiﬂﬁtt'
I AR

WEJ%%Z”“?F@M M7 fxm RERE
R REBEATAR

REBNEREMEBURER Z P REA o
RZE-——F+=-A=+— EIE!’J’ REES
BE=B(-ZE=—F =) AREEE
ARM48,929,000L(ZE=-—F : ARY
49,476,0007T) °

The fair value of the Group's investment properties at 31 December 2022
was RMB48,929,000 (2021: RMB49,476,000). The fair value has been
arrived at based on a valuation carried out by B % F & E b b B
EREERETARQERFEREEN G T HHEMEMEEREER

Al), independent valuers not connected with the Group.

The fair value was determined based on the income approach, where
the market rentals of all lettable units of the properties are assessed and
discounted at the market yield expected by investors for this type of
properties. The market rentals are assessed by reference to the rentals
achieved in the lettable units of the properties as well as other lettings of
similar properties in the neighbourhood. The discount rate is determined
by reference to the yields derived from analysing the sales transactions
of similar commercial properties in Chongging China and adjusted to take
into account the market expectation from property investors to reflect
factors specific to the Group's investment properties. There has been no
change from the valuation technique used in the prior year.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use of
the properties is their current use.

The Group's investment properties are office units located in Chongging.

The fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2022 is Level 3 (2021: Level 3)
and the fair value is RMB48,929,000 (2021: RMB49,476,000).

B85 /AE D AR A R] Qingling Motors Co. Ltd
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HE_FE-—F+_A=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2022

21. EREE 21. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
RirERE EEEERRHK e
Production
Technology management
transfer fees system Total
ARMTFT ARMTFT AR¥TFr
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
33 COST
750*'3: F—-A—HK At 1 January 2021 and
—E-—f%+=-A=+—H 31 December 2021 640,366 40,637 681,003
RNE Additions = 3,837 3,837
W_ZE-_—F+=-HA=+—8H At 31 December 2022 640,366 44,474 684,840
1] AMORTISATION
Wn—Z-—_—F—HA—H At 1 January 2021 427,595 24,827 452,422
FERE Provided for the year 32,629 6,293 38,922
R —F+=-A=+—H At 31 December 2021 460,224 31,120 491,344
FERE Provided for the year 32,081 6,418 38,499
RZZE—=F+=A=+—H At 31 December 2022 492,305 37,538 529,843
IREE CARRYING VALUES
RZZE—=F+=A=+—H At 31 December 2022 148,061 6,936 154,997
RZZE-_—4F+=-A=+—H At 31 December 2021 180,142 9,517 189,659

BREBEEATHRAIBFERABD(E TR %A
BIRO AR IR) AT 7 O H 11 838 2% 16 % 10 S A B9 %
MeEEE - - LFFREENENMCAELE
E - WREAAERAFANT+FE+=F%

Payments of technology transfer fees, representing lump sum royalties
under technology transfer agreements with Isuzu Motors Limited
("Isuzu”, the substantial shareholder of the Company), are capitalised as
intangible assets and are amortised over the license period ranging from

136

o ARMAREERIGES - RERINEE
b R T+ S SR BRI B TN E A
REBERR

S EERERGTEHRRA] BB RAARA R ERL
EN =R FRA3E10F o

W-EBE-—F+-"A=+—H EFEENS
BARA 5T A R#£285,693,0007T (Z 2= —4F -
AR #285,693,0007T) B 4 2B HUE SR D E(E
}Eﬁ o
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ten years to thirteen years, commencing from the use of the technologies
in production. Continuing royalties payable to Isuzu under the technology
transfer agreements are charged to profit or loss when incurred.

The production management system has an estimated useful life of
three to ten years and is expected to generate economic benefits to the
Company in the foreseeable future.

As at 31 December 2022, intangible assets with an original cost of
RMB285,593,000 in aggregate (2021: RMB285,593,000) have been fully
amortised but still in use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHE_FE-—F+_A=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2022

w'_ﬁ

22. PERELEZHES 22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
—E-"F T
2022 2021
ABRFIT AREFr
RMB’000 RMB’000
REEDEZIRENAR - RET Cost of investment in
associates, unlisted 55,333 55,333
DB E DR WIERET - REEIRRE Share of post-acquisition
profit of associates, net of
dividends declared (11,541) (4,202)
43,792 51,131

RBERAR  REEZBECEFBTOTHR
N

Details of the Group's associates at the end of the reporting period are as
follows:

ERzh ERES HMBIHE TEEBME FEMEHCHALA BHECRFRRLA FERK
Place of Principal place  Proportion of equity interests Portion of Principle
Name of entity Form of entity establishment of operation held by the Group voting power held activities
8- —Z--F ZEZC &
2022 2021 2022 2021
ITHER(ER) ERIREERAR Al A i Gl 5% 25% 5% 5% K%
(RTRERRITRE ) W)
ITHER(ER) ERIREERAR Incorporated  The PRC The PRC 5% 25% 25% 25%  Technical
(“Isuzu Qingling Engineering") (Note(a)) development
BREREERAR Faifzvd hE i 49% 49% 49% 49% FEHE
[ERER) Wit
ERERAEERLA Incorporated ~ The PRC The PRC 49% 49% 49% 49%  Sale of trucks

{"Qingling Shinerary”) (Note(b))

Haz -

(a) HTHREREMEAZEARFEKINFING
BEo

b) EBERSBSRANPERINPESGERE-

KREBBEEERERIOWEE HE_ZT
ToE+-A=+—BLEE  KEEA
BHRERIEZET(ZE-—F: ARK
24,500,0007T) ©

T BERB R BERIEEBM RS ER

R MECEMBERAAZS 2 -
ZBECEEGSMBRRPRAERIER
§ o

Notes:

(@) Isuzu Qingling Engineering is a sino-foreign joint venture established
in the PRC.

(b)  Qingling Shinerary is a domestic joint venture in the PRC.
The Group owns 49% equity interests in Qingling Shinerary. For the

year ended 31 December 2022, the Group injected capital of nil (2021:
RMB24,500,000) in Qingling Shinerary.

The summarised financial information below represents amounts shown
in the associate’s financial statements prepared in accordance with
HKFRSs.

The associate is accounted for using equity method in these consolidated
financial statements.

B85 /AE D AR A R] Qingling Motors Co. Ltd
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HE_FE-—F+_A=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2022

22. REELERZER (W)

22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

A+RERHE RS Isuzu Qingling Engineering
=B 5 —E-—4F
2022 2021
ABRETT AREEF T
RMB’000 RMB 000
nBEE Current assets 38,789 35,460
IERBEE Non-current assets 1,392 2,550
mENEE Current liabilities (2,699) (1,948)
ERBAE Non-Current liabilities = -
- ~ k.- —TE-—4F
2022 2021
ABRFIT AR®TT
RMB’000 RMB’000
Wz Revenue 23,647 25,028
FREN RERE W R Profit and total
comprehensive income for
the year 1,420 1,548
AEES A TRERTINTHAZEET Group's share of profit of
Isuzu Qingling Engineering 355 387

3R 2022 ANNUAL REPORT
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BHE_FE-—F+_A=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2022

22. REELERZER (W) 22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

R+ ESRHEWEAE (] Isuzu Qingling Engineering (Continued)

it B R BRI B B AR A B TS SR R FE SR B Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
A B g SCBE T MY BR carrying amount of the interest in the associate recognised in the

consolidated financial statements:

ot ~Jocfe- —E-—F
2022 2021
AR®TT ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
R+ ESREIRREEFE Net assets of Isuzu Qingling
Engineering 37,482 36,062
AEBERAHRERFM AR EAEELREL S Proportion of the Group's
ownership interest in Isuzu
Qingling Engineering 25% 25%
REEShAHRERPINFASREEFE The Group's share of net
assets of Isuzu Qingling
Engineering 9,371 9,016
REEMER BRI ERRRE Carrying amount of the
Group's interest in Isuzu
Qingling Engineering 9,371 9,016

BERRE RN AR AR Qingling Motors Co. Ltd 139
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HE_FE-—F+_A=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2022

22. REELERZER (W)
BRER

22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Qingling Shinerary

=B 5 —E-—4F
2022 2021
ARSFT AR¥TFr
RMB’000 RMB’'000
MENEE Current assets 94,520 101,074
IERBEE Non-current assets 1,459 1,693
P =N Current liabilities (23,954) (15,040)
ERBAE Non-Current liabilities = =
WA Revenue 136,381 204,386

REEEBER G HEE Loss and total comprehensive
expenses for the year (15,702) (12,251)

AEBSHERSRZEE Group's share of loss of

Qingling Shinerary (7,694) (6,003)

3R 2022 ANNUAL REPORT
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22. REELERZER (W)

15 P 48 B 75 A R B AR & B 7S ek o R Y
Bt EERRmERETHER

#

For

o F - A H=F—HIFE

the year ended 31 December 2022

22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the

carrying amount of the interest i
consolidated financial statements:

n the associate recognised in the

—E-F —E-—4F
2022 2021
ARETTT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB'000
EBERFEE Net assets of Qingling
Shinerary 72,025 87,727
REBEERERAA =L Proportion of the Group's
ownership interest in
Qingling Shinerary 49% 49%
AEBTEERSRFEETNMNRE Group's share of net assets of
Qingling Shinerary 35,292 42,986
ARSI RFIED 2 AR Adjustments for unrealised
profit (871) (871)
AEETEERESRTE=MIRAER Carrying amount of the
Group's interest in Qingling
Shinerary 34,421 42,115
23. ReBoEZES 23. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

AEERGEEEZREFBI TR :

Details of the Group’s investments in joint ventures are as follows:

ot~ Jocfe- —E-—F
2022 2021
ARBTFT AEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BEREZIRERAN - KL Cost of investment in joint
ventures, unlisted 368,639 368,639
DMEEEDEWEEEEFRETIRRE) Share of post-acquisition

results of joint ventures, net
of dividends declared 117,887 120,832
486,526 489,471

573
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HE_FE-—F+_A=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2022

REELEZER (T

R-FB__FR_F_—F+_A=t—8H"
AEER TG L RRPHEEER

23.

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group had interests in the
following joint ventures:

f{ £ ERpL HRBINE TEEERR FREFRCERLY FHECRFRLA TERH
Place of Principal place  Proportion of equity interests Portion of Principle
Name of entity Form of entity establishment of operation held by the Group voting power held activities
ZEZC —E--F - ot %
2022 2021 2022 2001
Bt R EDRERAT Al A il i 19.33% 19.33% 19.33% 1933% HPEREES
(RT8RESE) (i) [teziE
AR (PEEBEERAF Incorporated  The PRC The PRC 19.33% 19.33% 19.33% 19.33% Manufacture of
("lsuzu Engine") (Note (a)) engines and
relevant parts
BRITR(ER) ZRERBERAR EallA i g 50% 50% 50% 50% EtimiEng
(BRATERED W 2) RpameE
BRI (ER) S RERBERAR Incorporated ~ The PRC The PRC 50% 50% 50% 50% Sale of Isuzu
("Qingling Isuzu Sales") (Note (b)) brand
automobiles
and autoparts

Biat

(a) EAETREHEA-—HR-_ZTLERALET
B RINEERE  EEREREH
MRS FRRE - ATREBHAMER
#324,260,000% 7T (AR #2,110,104,000
L) Atk BEREBERARRDREE
HF50.61% * 30.06% 5 19.33% HIFT A HE
M o ANEEEMMRA EEENBBERT
REEW - BREASHNEFAEEZARES
SLtBEETHN—F - E%ﬁ%é@ﬁﬁm
FRARHZZFHIENSF —BRAR

(b) EHRATHRHEEA—HAR-_TZTNFLA
ERERIHNRIINEERE  T2RFH
ERTHMENTERAETHMEG - HiE
B & A 520,900,0005 7T © AR A AER
AT HETE10,450,000E T (ARE
68,579,0007T) °» AN AR S — 5 HEEEH
HEESATHRIEE  BEAHENTZRE
ZAREFENELEFTHH=% - Hti06
EBEH AR BT RN — ]
[IE -

AECRURBEMAREEEE S NEE
ERHMAEERKNENREZIERR
5 -

3R 2022 ANNUAL REPORT

Notes:

(a)

(b)

Isuzu Engine is a sino-foreign joint venture that was established in
the PRC in May 2007, and is principally engaged in manufacture of
engines and relevant parts. The registered capital of Isuzu Engine was
USD324,260,000 (RMB2,110,104,000), and each of Isuzu, Qingling
Group and the Company held 50.61%, 30.06% and 19.33% of equity
interests, respectively, therein. The Company has joint control of
arrangement with other two parties over Isuzu Engine by virtue of the
contractual right to appoint one out of the seven directors to its board
of directors, whose decisions about the relevant activities require
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

Qingling Isuzu Sales is a sino-foreign joint venture that was established
in the PRC in September 2008, and is principally engaged in selling
Isuzu brand automobiles and autoparts. The registered capital is
USD20,900,000 and the Company contributed USD10,450,000
(RMB68,579,000) to Qingling Isuzu Sales. The Company has joint control
of arrangement over Qingling Isuzu Sales by virtue of the contractual
right to appoint three out of the six directors to its board of directors,
whose decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

There are no significant restrictions on the ability of joint ventures to
transfer funds to the Group in form of cash dividends, or to repay loans or
advances made by the Group.
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BHE_FE-—F+_A=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2022

23. REBELEZEIGR) 23. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)
aBHE T MEFEHER Summarised financial information of the joint ventures
AEMEALLE S PHEEEIEHI|MT - Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s joint
TﬁlJHﬁ&é{ﬂﬁg@%\ﬁEﬁ;?%ﬁﬁkiﬁz g ventures is set out below. The summarised financial information below
5 AR TEIBE AT D Y &4 o o represents amounts shown in the joint ventures’ financial statements

prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

S ERERIFHE B mENEAEREY . . . .
BE o The joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method in these
consolidated financial statements.
£+§%¥:ﬁw Isuzu Engine
—E-—F TET 4
2022 2021
ABRFIT ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
mEEE Current assets 1,508,152 1,523,134
IEREEE Non-current assets 1,120,822 1,210,327
mRENBE Current liabilities (258,554) (383,313)
ERBBE Non-current liabilities (162,884) (118,949)
BEFE Net assets 2,207,536 2,231,199
T EERBESBEEUNTSE The above amounts of assets and
liabilities include the following:
RERRESEFEY Cash and cash equivalents 1,057,809 1,191,692
nEemeRECTNRERNKIER Current financial liabilities (excluding
H A FET FRIE R trade and other payables and
provisions) (5,792) (49,652)
EnBerAECTEERNTIER Non-current financial liabilities
HAtbfET FRIE R B ) (excluding trade and other
payables and provisions) (110,148) (116,194)

B85 /AE D AR A R] Qingling Motors Co. Ltd 143
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HE_FE-—F+_A=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2022

23. REEBELEZHEI () 23. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)
T+ 55 B EhS (1) Isuzu Engine (Continued)
=B 5 —E-—4F
2022 2021
ARSTFTT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
Wes Revenue 814,453 1,180,565
FRa | KR e W= 1B858 Profit and total comprehensive
income for the year 46,301 3,902
MARBEIRERAREERAIRE Dividends declared to and received
by the Company 13,076 2,168
TR FEREFBEATRIE The above profit for the year include
the following:
WTE KR Depreciation and amortisation 80,948 78,886
FILBWA Interest income 46,180 44,944
FRS R (R S i Income tax (credit) expense (246) 1,003

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
carrying amount of the interest in Isuzu Engine recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:

B 2 B TS E R RAR & B TS TR HERR Y
RA+HRES WS RREENER

—E-—F -4

2022 2021

AREFIT AREFT

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR BEPR L EEFE Net assets of Isuzu Engine 2,207,536 2,231,199
REBERA BB BRSO Proportion of the Group's ownership

interest in Isuzu Engine 19.33% 19.33%

PEARZIRGEFEL 2 A Adjustments for unrealised profit (2,148) (2,596)

AEERATRESH C EsREE Carrying amount of the Group's
interest in Isuzu Engine 424,569 428,695
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BHE_FE-—F+_A=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2022

NREeELECHI (B 23. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)
BRI+ HHE Qingling Isuzu Sales

=B 5 —E-—4F

2022 2021

ABR¥TFIT AR¥TFr

RMB’000 RMB’000

MENEE Current assets 132,477 120,525

ERBEE Non-current assets 8,698 9,996

mEafE Current liabilities (10,443) (1,744)

ERBEE Non-current liabilities (7,494) (7,900)

BESE Net assets 123,238 120,877

FREERBESRE/ATRIA

The above amounts of assets and liabilities include the following:

—E-_F B4
2022 2021
AR®TFIT ARETFT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
Re MR EEY Cash and cash equivalents 115,978 111,413
mEEHma BT EREENRER Current financial liabilities (excluding
H AT I R B E) trade and other payables and
provisions) - -
R ECTEREENKIER Non-current financial liabilities
H AT RIE R EE) (excluding trade and other
payables and provisions) - -
Wz Revenue 17,910 14,049
FREF KR e W B 5 Profit and total comprehensive
income for the year 2,361 7,104
EFERF BN T EIE The above profit for the year include
the following:
e R Depreciation and amortisation 1,271 1,073
FEMA Interest income 4,153 4,068

573
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BE T —F+_H=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2022

23. REELEZHEE () 23. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)
BT () Qingling Isuzu Sales (Continued)

SO B RS AR A A B TS SRR TR Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
R4S T 4044 it Y BEEE M %IBE carrying amount of the interest in Qingling Isuzu Sales recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:

ot oot 3 —T-—fF
2022 2021
ARTFIT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB'000
EBRATRIEEZEEFE Net assets of Qingling Isuzu Sales 123,238 120,877
AEERERATRIES A EERILD Proportion of the Group's ownership
interest in Qingling Isuzu Sales 50% 50%
PARFRGEEED 2 AR Adjustments for unrealised loss 338 338
AEERESR A TREE 2 ERREE Carrying amount of the Group's
interest in Qingling Isuzu Sales 61,957 60,776
24. BEREIE 24. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
e AP BRARENME - & TELEHREE For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of financial
ERBED TR - UTAESRBERVIEL position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset. The
WIS - following is the analysis of deferred tax balances for reporting purposes:
ot - Jofot- 3 —T-—fF
2022 2021
ARETFIT ARBFT
RMB’000 RMB'000
RIERIBE E Deferred tax assets 53,779 13,939
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BHE_FE-—F+_A=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2022

24, BRERIAEE (18) 24. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (CONTINUED)
LXT7%$$IE/\ZK¢J+&ZW¢J+EEE%ZI The followings are the major deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised
BEHEEERBENRABES and movements thereon during the current and prior years:
BUERR
b4 DE it
BHEERE  MREE  MERR 0 MESM  NMRAE 0 BEKR  GRNRE  REES ]
ECL of trade Acerual
andother  Impairment ~ Write-down  forselling  Accelerated Deferred ~ Right-of use
receivables ~ on properties  of inventories rehates ~ depreciation income assets  Tax losses Total

AEETE  ARETT ARETT ARETL ABETT ARETT ARETT ARRTT ABETR
AUBOYD  AMBUDD  AUBONO  AMBUD  AUBOW  AMBUW  AUBOW  AWBUD  AUBO

R-E--%-f- At 1 January 2021 578 9 9782 13414 7,082 1197 m = 18,191
HERAMR) Crecited (charged) toproftorloss . . 2501 {4,500 (17556) (125 (229 15,653 {1,250
R-E-E+-A=t-H At31 December 2021 578 9 1208 8914 (2463%) 107 (13 15,653 13.9%9
HERTAUR) Crecited (charged) to proftorloss 1509 S (1,335 - m 303 W] 30674 39810
O St o 31 December 2022 2087 90 10948 8914 (24364 769 8 5,307 53779

IR - A ERTSEEA R 368,845,000 At the end of the reporting period, the Group had tax losses of
(=B~ —4F : AJR¥E104,353 0007T) A FERE RMB368,845,000 (2021: RMB104,353,000) available for offsetting

SHSTRFIE o IR MR SR RIE S - against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised of such
losses.
5 25. INVENTORIES

—EB-CfF —T-—F
2022 2021
ARBTFT AE¥TFT
RMB’000 RMB'000
Rt Raw materials 585,265 538,165
FEE Work in progress 286,215 309,978
BURY Sh Finished goods 547,355 187,407
1,418,835 1,035,550

B85 /AE D AR A R] Qingling Motors Co. Ltd
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HE_FE-—F+_A=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2022

26. FEURARRR - FEMGSRIR R H i fE
WRIA R R RIA

R|ESR - AEEZ BURHR - BEEERK
H At SR R AR FIRANT

26. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s trade, bills and other
receivables and prepayments are as follows:

—E-_F T
2022 2021
ABR¥FT AE¥TT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
FEURBR FURL(E 1B R B Trade receivables, less allowance for
credit losses 116,900 102,810
JEW SRR Bills receivables 845,821 2,083,402
H b U GRIE R (= 1B R R Other receivables, less allowance for
credit losses 203,831 77,698
R EHE FRIA Prepayments for raw materials 170,935 142,530
AU B E R Value-added tax recoverable 50,054 10,585
FEURFEED - HOBRE B Es1E BB (HY72) Grants receivable, less allowance for
credit losses (note) 169,940 180,000
1,557,481 2,597,025

Bt - T+ A=+—HERZT-_—%F

i

+ZA=+—8 6BRBELAEBELET
SRR E M T A B TE T A B A0 A R A
B (FI5E7) - At - BREBIR =T ==
+ZA=t+—-BR=ZZ=—F+ZA=1+—
BER #HE-Z-_—_F+-A=+—HI1t
ﬁr 2 UELA R #590,000,000 7T EY B AT 18
E o

R-T-_—F+-_A=+—BR-_T=-—%
+ZA=+—R0 BFPAYNMEENEIKEER
D RIAEARE116,900,0007T FIREE E1EE
B AR¥2,164,0007T) X AR#102,810,000
TTEHBREEEEREARE2,695,0007T) °

W-E-—F—A—H BPANEKERS
AR#310,176,0007T (3B A R#3,235,000
TCiE IR AEME) -

HEEMZEEHNTERIECMEA Btk
BB ARRINEER/IF) -

3R 2022 ANNUAL REPORT

Note: As at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, there was reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attached and
the grants under the hydrogen fuel cell vehicles subsidies (note 7).
Hence a grant receivable was recognised as at 31 December 2022 and
31 December 2021. During the year ended 31 December 2022, grants
receivable of RMB90,000,000 have been received.

As at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, trade receivables
from contracts with customers amounted to RMB116,900,000 (net of
allowance for credit losses of RMB2,164,000) and RMB102,810,000 (net
of allowance for credit losses of RMB2,695,000), respectively.

As at 1 January 2021, trade receivables from contracts with customers
amounted to RMB310,176,000 (net of allowance for credit losses of
RMB3,235,000).

The credit period granted on sales of goods is mainly from 3 to 6 months
except for the subsidiaries of Qingling Group, to which a credit period of
1 year was granted.
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26. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

At the end of the reporting period, the aged analysis of the Group’s
trade receivables, net of allowance for credit losses, presented based on
invoice dates at the end of the reporting period, which approximated the
respective revenue recognition dates, is as follows:

—=—_— —E-—4F

2022 2021

ARSFT AR¥TFr

RMB’000 RMB’'000

3ME A AR Within 3 months 97,960 73,645
3Z6{EAH Between 3 to 6 months 4,593 5,547
7E212{8 A8 Between 7 to 12 months 6,356 6,658
15 A | Over 1 year 7,991 16,960
116,900 102,810

R|ESR - AEBRETAREYZRKE
BAREE AT

At the end of the reporting period, the aged analysis of bills receivables of
the Group based on issue date is as follows:

= —E-—fF

2022 2021

ARSFT ARTFT

RMB’000 RMB’'000

(KENENA Within 1 month 315,809 630,793
1228 A Between 1 to 2 months 137,857 319,575
2Z3{EH Between 2 to 3 months 120,004 251,312
Z6fE A Between 3 to 6 months 263,904 801,996
621218 8 Between 6 to 12 months 8,247 79,726
845,821 2,083,402

LRERSEEY RIRITELESR - HAHAE
TEARA -

R-E-_—F+-_A=+—H8 st AKREEE
HQE'ETA:\E!@%EEEE@@AEM5 396,0007T(—

— : AR¥21,371,0007T) © #ZZIER
%ﬁiaﬁﬁa B AP EHH0B I £

BHARYE1,428000(ZF=—F : AR
10,195,0007T) (A A% FEEA BT GREH

QORRSMEEABE T ANEBRERE -
TR RRH) ° NEBW AR Z L RBGRIRLE
AR A (EfAHEA -

All the above bills receivables are guaranteed by banks and their maturity
dates are within 12 months.

As at 31 December 2022, included in the Group's trade receivables
balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of RMB5,396,000
(2021: RMB21,371,000) which are past due as at the reporting date.
Out of the past due balances, an aggregate of RMB1,428,000 (2021:
RMB10,195,000) has been past due 90 days or more and are not
considered as in default, as these debtors normally fully settled the
outstanding balances subsequently with reference to the debtors’
settlement pattern. The Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances.
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26. FEURARRR - FEMGSRIR R H i fE
W 7R IR B, T £+ #R 0R (#9)

REIR - REBRKERR - At RKFIR
RIENFHBARIE R EES 2 58 - BN

26. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Included in the Group’s trade and other receivables and prepayments at
the end of the reporting period are amounts due from related parties as

150

N follows:
—E-—F —E-—4F
2022 2021
ARETFIT ARETFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
A+4R Isuzu 100,000 =
BREENBAR Subsidiaries of Qingling Group 56,573 77,388
F SR Isuzu Engine 15,437 =
f SRS TR B Isuzu Qingling Engineering 8 21
172,018 77,409

LW EE 2 FRRE S IE - EERK
BB

The above amounts due from related
unsecured and interest-free.

parties are trade in nature,

—E-_—F —E-—4F

2022 2021

ARSFTT AREFT

RMB’000 RMB’'000

BERER Qingling Group 83,960 =

EAFIRERE 5 - EER - BEIRERE

The above amount was non-trade related, unsecured, and repayable on

8o demand.
FERNREZENZTSSBET The maximum amount outstanding during the year was as below:
k- ook - 3 T —F
2022 2021
AR®TFT ARKTIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EHREE Qingling Group 112,226 =

RZBE-Z—F+-A=+—H st \xEEHE
SR8 FR B 3E R0 98 S 80 A FE RS TR 1 2 FRIA
AR ¥EB6,603,000 L (ZF=——F : ARK
99,745,0007T) °

YRR - MU IR K HoAth e WK IR RO (E /T
{2 R BB HIEE36 ©
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As at 31 December 2022, the Group's prepayments include
advance payments to independent suppliers of steel amounting to

RMB86,603,000 (2021: RMB99,745,000).

Details of impairment assessment of trade, bills and other receivables are

set out in note 36.



27. EHER

IRITFE N3 E36ME A REIE - MERZFF
BANF215%E4.18%(ZFE-—F :2.10%
Z4.18%) °

TE R BB R A RIS BN RES6

28. BiaRBAEERY

RIT4E A AREI71,830,000L(=ZF =
£ AR¥1,672,902,0007T) Hzrni»—@ﬂ
0.0001%ZE1.90%(=ZF——4F : 0.0001% &
0.42%)5H 8. °

AR EE BRI EEIAINE
TRBEIREHIIMT
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27. TIME DEPOSITS

The time deposits are with a term from more than 3 months to 36
months and carry interest at rates ranging from 2.15% to 4.18% (2021:
from 2.10% to 4.18%) per annum.

Details of impairment assessment of time deposits are set out in note
36.

28. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Bank balances of RMB971,830,000 (2021: RMB1,672,902,000) carry
interest at market rates, which ranging from 0.0001% to 1.90% (2021:
0.0001% to 0.42%) per annum.

The bank balances and cash that are denominated in currencies other
than the functional currencies of the relevant group entities are set out
below:

—=—_— —E-—4F

2022 2021

ARFIT AR¥TFr

RMB’000 RMB’'000

ES(E M) United Stated Dollar (“USD") 18,978 11,691
AE(HED Japanese Yen (“JPY") 170,455 2,892
BT (M) European Dollar (“EUR") 44 43
%m(fﬁém) Hong Kong Dollar (“HKD") 130 119
mgE([HReE]) Great Britain Pound (“GBP") 3 3
189,610 14,748
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29. EfER  BEAREREME 29. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER PAYABLES

TR
RIS - ANEEEEMBES « BN =R At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s trade, bills and other
RE M EAZIENT payables are as follows:
= T
2022 2021
ARETTT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB'000
FERBRR BN R Trade and bills payables 1,570,470 1,666,388
JEFTSHEE M Selling expenses payables 171,483 211,298
H A RiIE Other tax payable 2,375 2,802
H b e SRR (BT Other payables (note) 229,217 239,448
1,973,545 2,119,936
KiaF - Note:
N-ZEBE-_—_FE+-_B=+—H8  EthENKE As at 31 December 2022, other payables amounted to RMB229,217,000 (2021:
AAR®229,217,000(ZBE=-—F : AR RMB239,448,000) mainly including accrued continuing royalties payable of
#239,448,0007T) * = B BIFEEE 5B il RMB10,533,000 (2021: RMB18,897,000), accrual royalties and license fee of
EREARYK10,5633,000c(Z T ——4F : A RMB58,129,000 (2021: RMB61,523,000), payables for purchase of property,
K¥%18,897,0007t) ' BARMEABARE plant and equipment of RMB21,305,000 (2021: RMB19,361,000) and payroll
58,129,000t (=& =—% : AR¥61,523,000 payable of RMB24,273,000 (2021: RMB24,480,000).

) BEDE BERISEBEEMNREBBARE
21,305,000 (= 2= —% : AR#19,361,000
m)&ﬁéﬁlé/\ﬁﬁﬁm 273,0007t(Z T =—%F :
AR #24,480,0007T) °

PEREHR  AEERESAY HERH2 At the end of the reporting period, the age analysis of trade and bills

5| FERTBEER B JE T I B BB AT T payables of the Group based on purchase date/ bills issue date is as
follows:

= T
2022 2021
ARETTT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB'000
3fE A LAA Within 3 months 1,458,571 1,437,413
3261EA Between 3 to 6 months 99,921 197,792
7&1218 A Between 7 to 12 months 1,110 15,658
128 A Over 12 months 10,868 15,525
1,570,470 1,666,388
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29. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER PAYABLES
(CONTINUED)

Included in the balance of trade, bills and other payables at the end of the
reporting period are amounts due to related parties as follows:

ol - = St T4

2022 2021

ARETTT AREFT

RMB’000 RMB’000

LB Isuzu Engine 242,098 93,443

A48 Isuzu 68,682 80,420

EREEMB AT Subsidiaries of Qingling Group 45,366 148,350
B EEH RE( ER)ARAR A Z) BHaEHER(EE)BRAT

(note) 28,797 3,200

EREE Qingling Group 21,835 14,822

B A TIRHE Qingling Isuzu Sales 1,642 788

BRER Qingling Shinerary = 2,547

408,420 343,570

Biat - B A0%REREREEFE -

ERFRSEZNE - BIER 28 - KED
FEEEHA3E6MEA -

RIREHHAR - RS &ﬁmﬁéﬁ KIEH &
HiF AARE68,682,000L(ZE=—F : AR
#:80,420,0007T) *© BRAZKIBTIABEZIME ©

Note: 40% equity interest of which is owned by Qingling Group.

These amounts are trade in nature, unsecured, interest-free and the
credit period granted on purchases of materials is 3 to 6 months.

At the end of the reporting period, included in trade and other payables

are amounted aggregating to RMB68,682,000 (2021: RMB80,420,000),
which are denominated in JPY.
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30. aAR

RIZE-_—F+-A=+—8  AEEHEY
BEAAREA478,958,000L(ZZE=—4F : A
R#594,746,0007T) @ EBIEEBAEREMTE
WEFREMNEPBRI REMTEMNET - 1
—E-—HE+-f=+— EIE’JD,\’T%fEH—JEA%c

K_i*

=+ - A+ HIEFERNRE
ﬁﬁgfv"
R-ZT-_—F—A—H AHNBEEEARK
372,138,0007T °
HE-_T-_—_F+_A=+—HILtFE B
WQA%%mmmanfoﬁAEM
372,138,00070) Z WA AF A N E ELE
RIEHR  AEBREMNELSROANA

BEAARES029,000L(ZE=_—F : ARK
8,247,0007T) °

BREAR

A R AR R RS SN e
&R -
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30. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's contract liabilities of
RMB478,958,000 (2021: RMB594,746,000) mainly represent the Group's
obligation to transfer trucks and vehicles to customers subsequently for
which the Group has received advance payments from the customers.
Contract liabilities as at 31 December 2022 will be recognised as revenue
for the year ending 31 December 2023.

As at 1 January 2021, contract liabilities amounted to RMB372,138,000.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, revenue of RMB594,746,000
(2021: RMB372,138,000) recognised that was included in the contract
liability balance at the beginning of the year.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has contract liabilities due to
Qingling Shinerary amounted to RMB3,029,000 (2021: RMB8,247,000).

31. REFUND LIABILITIES

The refund liabilities are arising from selling rebates to customers at the
end of the reporting period.
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32. HEARK 32. LEASE LIABILITIES
ot - St 3 —E-—4F
2022 2021
ABRFIT ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EMEGARE Lease liabilities payable:
1R Within one year 14,812 22,816
1A EZ=2F A THIRA Within a period of more than one
year but not more than two years 13,410 1,923
2F A EEIFLATHIMA Within a period of more than two
years but not exceeding three
years 13,951 -
42,173 24,739
o 12 RAABEERZ G ERBBE) Less: Amount due for settlement
within 12 months shown under
current liabilities (14,812) (22,816)
12 A& EERFKG| RIERBIAEE) Amount due for settlement after 12
months shown under non-current
liabilities 27,361 1,923

HEaBEERANEEEEEXNT3.98% %
4.48% (ZFB=—%F : 4.05%E4.48%) °

The incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities range from 3.98
% to 4.48 % (2021: from 4.05% to 4.48%).

573
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33. & 33. SHARE CAPITAL

R-E-_—%—A—H-
—E-—%+"HA=1+—HER
—E__F+_"A=+—H
At 1 January 2021,

31 December 2021 and

31 December 2022
ABRETIT

RMB’'000

it BEITRERE Registered, issued and fully paid 2,482,268

f&HEE

EAfY —_—%f—A—H"
T —F+ZA=+—HRK
2 F+=ZA=+—H
Number of shares
At 1 January 2021,
31 December 2021 and
31 December 2022
FAR
‘000

SFREEEARE 1 TR, Shares of RMB1 each
- A& — Domestic shares 1,243,616
—HA% — H shares 1,238,652

2,482,268

WEHXEEF' BB R, S AP IE}E{FHEJZIE’\]E Domestic shares are ordinary shares subscribed for and credited as fully
BIUARERERARY AT @R ﬂﬁ paid up in RMB by the PRC government and/or entities established in the

HHX/E_'J':P BB &Sk pA e B s M AR S O B B2 PRC. H shares are ordinary shares subscribed for in HKD and credited as
LASMA T LA T8 RIAA R A RS A% 2 fully paid up in RMB by persons other than the PRC government and/or
By Z A o entities established in the PRC.

NEREHEREHENS T EHZEERERE Domestic shares and H shares rank pari passu in all respects with each
% o NERTAREBEAZSFER AT E other. Domestic shares are not freely traded in The Stock Exchange of
HEE - Hong Kong Limited.

RATE M - 28T RERRARMERNIL There were no changes in the registered, issued and fully paid share
REEE) - capital of the Company during both years.
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BVEERENBUTHR - SHRIRIEERED
% BEERBUARENEENIE20FAE
PR AR -

HE-_ZT_—_F+_-_A=1+—BILtFE H
AN 58 (B 2R 52 2 38 <F B 48 Bh A B A1 1

Htk DR EB A RE?2,400,000T(Z B = —%
) o REFUWERAREE,250,000tBREBE
FREOBRTHEE(CE——F E) o 2
AT R BN S BEE WA BIRER AL AERE
BEMAFERFHRNEASRA « ZBERERA
EFWELWA%%EAE%W7%Mﬂ—
T~ —fF : AR¥830,000T) - R-ZZT ==
F+-A=+—H" AEMauammﬂ_;
——F : AR¥7,152,0007T) 2 BREME & 5

35. BFEERETHE

REFEREERN - UERAEEANZEERK
ARELE  RANERABLEBRERERR
BRRFERE SR - ARE 2 BRI R R

REB 2 EARBERBEARREAR ARG ER
(BHREDEITEA - RESEH REAMEHERE) -

ARREETREBEREARE - (ERALLERZ
—#fn - ARAREFEEREEBEANIERERE
ZERKARRL - AREFERIRNRE -
BT A KRBT E RSB RRBEER T
BHBREARRE -
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34. DEFERRED INCOME - GOVERNMENT GRANTS

The deferred income represents government grants subsidising the
Group's equipment for technology innovation and environmental
protection.

The amount represents government grants received by the Group for
acquisition of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.
The balance will be amortised based on the useful lives of respective
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets from 3 to 20 years.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, RMB2,400,000 (2021:
nil) was returned since the Group did not fully comply with the
conditions attaching to the government grants. Government grants of
RMB1,250,000 have been received in the current year for the purchase
of new equipment (2021: nil). The amounts received in prior years have
been treated as deferred income and are transferred to income over the
useful lives of the relevant assets. This policy has resulted in a credit
to income in the current year of RMB877,000 (2021: RMB830,000).
As at 31 December 2022, carrying amount of RMB5,125,000 (2021:
RMB7,152,000) will be amortised in the future.

35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.
The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital, retained profits
and other reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure from time to
time. As part of this review, the directors of the Company consider the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. The
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends and new share issues as well as the issue of new debt or the
redemption of existing debt.
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36. &#MTH 36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) &MI AR (a) Categories of financial instruments
—=—_— —E-—4F
2022 2021
ABR¥TFIT AR¥TFr
RMB’000 RMB’000
EMEE Financial assets
B SHRC AR Amortised cost 6,724,321 7,849,745
SRR Financial liabilities
BESHRC AR Amortised cost 2,030,285 2,206,200

(b) SEEBERERERRBEK

AEENTESHM T ABERKERR « BIKRE
B REMEIRIE - TR iﬁ%&fﬁg—‘?
BY) - ERRR - BARIE R EAAENFRIE
REBEBEREEEE - ?%%mﬂl,ﬂﬁ'}uﬂ
FBERMERIREE - Bk fmﬂlﬂﬁ@@ﬁ’]ﬂ

’TTEI'D%J—L 2 (ONER R R AR - A

MEVE SRR AR % E R B

%EﬁlJEQTY c AEEMEZERKAEE K
HEBREZSERBR 2 HETESERE -
EEEAREERETNHERR  BRER KX
BRETEEEE
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(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's major financial instruments include trade, bills and other
receivables, time deposits, cash and cash equivalents, trade, bills and
other payables, refund liabilities and lease liabilities. Details of the financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with
these financial instruments include market risk (currency risk and interest
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. There has been no significant change to
the Group’s exposure to these risks or the manner in which it manages
and measures these risks. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.
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(b) SMEIREERFRRE ()

mEmEE

() SMNEERE
AEEZERRTETINEEE - EMELINE

R o AR E BB B E KRB AE RN
PER - R EREUL BAR R R ESNE R

AT AREERRERRRANSHERFE
SNERBR B EERE¥ BB ZREE :
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Market risk
(i) Currency risk

Several entities of the Group have foreign currency sales and purchases,
which expose the Group to currency risk. The Group manages its foreign
currency risk by closely monitoring the movement of the foreign currency
rates and will undertake necessary procedures to mitigate the currency
risk.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated
monetary assets and monetary liabilities that are subject to currency risk
at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

gE afE
Assets Liabilities
Jamt = - 3 RZEZ—F RIEZZE RZEZ—F
+=ZA=+—-8B +=ZA=+—H +=ZBR=Z+—H +=A=+—H
At 31 December At 31 December At 31 December At 31 December

2022 2021 2022 2021
ABRBFIT AE#BTFT ABRBFIT AE#BFT

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

eI usD 18,978 11,691 57 =
B JPY 170,455 2,892 68,740 80,424
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36. & T A (i)

(b) SEERRERBRRBRK )
HEmAE ()
() SMEER ()

BURRE ST
AEBMZEIERBKEETRAEZEER
Ej_]o

TRHAMAEEZAREHEZE TR AEBEHE
5%(_7_ F 5%)%&%%@51@@05%(:
—F 1 5%)IAEBEREABERNIHRE
WEHE BRACHRELER  REREEBY
HNETE RS IR AR B) 2 7TME - REDITE
aﬁrﬁ%kmﬁaﬁﬁl\ﬁzqﬂﬁ,%%lﬁﬁ LA&%@?E
AAREHETLKBEERS% (T - —4F :
5%) M{EH AR - TEIJE%&%«%EWWM&
EERD (CE=—F  BREBREFE M) B
WEANBRTE RN CRA)IE - HFARREIE
BRI % (T -—F 1 5%)  QIeHER
BREE (BB RFESBRERNTE -

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

(1) Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the risk of fluctuations in USD and JPY.

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a 5% (2021: 5%)
increase in the exchange rate of RMB against USD and JPY. 5% (2021:
5%) is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk
internally to key management personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange
rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the period
end for a 5% (2021: 5%) change in RMB against USD and JPY. A positive
number below indicates a decrease in post-tax loss (2021: an increase
in post-tax profit) for the year, where the RMB strengthen 5% (2021:
5%) against USD and JPY. For a 5% (2021: 5%) weakening of the RMB
against USD and JPY, there would be an equal and opposite impact on
the post-tax (loss) profit for the year.

—E_C T
2022 2021
ARTFT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
i 15k (E518) Profit or (loss)
Ev usD (804) (497)
HIE JPY (4,323) 3,295

(i) FIEE Rz

AEEA R A EEFRE R E 2 R RE E R
FIRRMEHIF R REEBERR -

AEBZRERENXRAR T BEPREARE

Bi%F BIIRZ RITEBR R ERFRELEZTF
KA EIRE -
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(i) Interest rate risk

The Group’s fair value interest risk relates primarily to time deposits
carried at fixed interest rates and lease liabilities.

The Group's cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the
fluctuation of deposit interest rate arising from the Group's bank balances
and time deposits carried at variable rate.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

(i) Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to bank balances carried prevailing deposit interest rate at the
end of the reporting period. 0.25% (2021: 0.25%) increase or decrease
in interest rate is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key
management personnel and represents the management’s assessment
of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 0.25% (2021: 0.25%) higher/lower and all
other variables were held constant, the Group's post-tax loss for the year
ended 31 December 2022 would decrease/increase by RMB2,065,000
(2021: post-tax profit increase/decrease by RMB3,555,000). This is mainly
attributable to the Group's exposure to interest rates on bank balances.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties default on
their contractual obligations resulting in financial losses to the Group.
The Group's credit risk exposures are primarily attributable to trade, bills
and other receivables, time deposits, bank balances. The Group does not
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks
associated with its financial assets.

Trade and bills receivables arising from contracts with customers

Before accepting any new external customers, the Group uses an
internal credit scoring system to assess the potential customer’s credit
quality and assign credit limits thereto. Limits and scoring attributed
to customers are reviewed twice a year. Besides, recoverability of
the existing customers is reviewed by the management of the Group
regularly. The Group only accepts bills issued or guaranteed by reputable
PRC banks if trade receivables are settled by bills and therefore the
management of the Group considers the credit risk arising from the bills
is insignificant. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that
the Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has
delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits and
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debtors.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade and bills receivables arising from contracts with customers
(Continued)

In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under lifetime
ECL model for trade and bills receivables individually based on internal
credit rating, customers’ aging and historical observed default rates over
the expected life of the customers and adjusted for forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort. Reversal of
impairment losses of RMB531,000 (2021: reversal of impairment losses
of RMB540,000) is recognised during the year. Details of the quantitative
disclosures are set out below in this note.

Other receivables and grants receivable

For other receivables, the management of the Group makes periodic
individual assessment on the recoverability of other receivables based on
historical settlement records, past experience, and also quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information. The management of the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. Impairment losses of RMB10,060,000 (2021: reversal of impairment
losses of RMB74,000) is recognised during the year. Details of the
quantitative disclosures are set out below in this note.

Time deposits and bank balances

The management of the Group assesses that the Group's time deposits
and bank balances are at low credit risk because they are placed with
reputable banks with high credit ratings assigned by either international
or PRC credit-rating agencies. The Group assesses 12m ECL for these
balances by reference to information relating to probability of default
and loss given default of the respective credit rating grades published by
external credit rating agencies. Based on the average loss rates, the 12m
ECL on these balances is considered to be insignificant and ECL is not
provided.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) SFEEEEREHBERBEER (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
1= /5 8 B B i (B 5 F 1e5 (#8) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
AEBENRI EARBRERTHRIEUNTE The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the
Al : following categories:
PIER S AT Jiii sk BER Htt&REE
Other financial
Internal credit rating Description Trade receivables  assets
a9 RSGEFENERIE - INEEREEFIE THITEMEABL- 12@ABEERIEX
SEERRE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and Lifetime ECL-not  12m ECL
does not have any past-due amounts credit-impaired
BmEs BEHEABEREPRRERBBEDTEEE FHTEMEABL- 12@ABEERIEX
SEERARE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but Lifetime ECL-not  12m ECL
usually settle in full credit-impaired
Al &E B ANIREERSONEE RV HEREL - 5 THIFEMERAX- 2HRBEREBR-
ERB S SEERRE JEERRIE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL-not  Lifetime ECL — not
credit risk since initial recognition through credit-impaired credit-impaired
information developed internally or external
resources
BB BORKPZBEFEEERE THIFEMERER- 2HRHBRERER-
ERRE ERRME
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit- Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
HHigH BETRKPABEHABARENWHRE - AR FIE T LAMES FRIE T LA 35
SEWEIFIER & 2B
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in Amount is written Amount is written

severe financial difficulty and the Group has
no realistic prospect of recovery

off
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36. & T A (&) 36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) SFEEEEREHBERBEER (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
15 /5 0 B3 B it (5T 15 (#8) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
AEBENRI EARBRERTHRIEUNTE The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the
Al : following categories:
S N -2_- Bk
BRIR  ERER 2022 2021
fi# Extenal Internal 2R HERERER FE&E REEE
Notes  creditrating creditrating 12m or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount Gross carrying amount
ARBTFT ARBTT AEHTT AREFI
RMB000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB000
RESEFHECEREE
Financial assets at
amortised cost
FEWER % TER [Em SHEHERBRXGHERRAR
Trade receivables 26 NA Low risk Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 117,190 104,806
BE 2 HBHEREX(ERRE
Loss Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 1,874 119,064 699 105,505
ENER % A TER 2 HBRERBXGHERAE)
Bills receivables 2% A N/A Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 845,821 845,821 2083402 2,083,402
Eth YR % A vl 12[8 AREERBXM:L)
Other receivables 26 NA Low risk 12m ECL (note) 292,769 256,601
Bk SHRRERERGERAE W2
Doubtful Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) (note) 91,120 1,363
B FHRAEREXERAB W)
Loss Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) (note/ 264 384,153 56 258,020
RTHE 8 M TR 12EARHEREL
Bank balances 28 AA N/A 12m ECL 971,830 971,830 1,672,902 1,672,902
EHEH 27 M TER 12EAEHERE
Time deposits 21 AA N/A 12m ECL 4414905 4414905 3731858 3,731,858
Note:
et - | N
For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the Group uses past due
AETRSEERREE - AEBEABANSHE information to assess whether credit risk has increased significantly since
RIET(E B GRS BRI B - niReLeERoTE
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36. &R TR () 36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) SFEEEEREHBERBEER (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
15 /5 0 B3 B it (5T 15 (#8) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
kol EEE
ERH
Not past due/
No fixed
—E-CfF B repayment = H
2022 Past due terms Total
ARETTT ABRETT ARETIT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Hfth EUCFRIR Other receivables 91,384 292,769 384,153
i E, A
TE R KEA
Not past due/
No fixed
—E-—F EHR repayment “Et
2021 Past due terms Total
ARETFT ARETFT AREFT
RMB'000 RMB 000 RMB'000
Hith IR Other receivables 1,419 256,601 258,020
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36. &R T A (H#) 36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) SFEEEEREHBERBEER (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
1575 /m b2 R it (B 5T 15 (#E) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
tEER Allowance for impairment
RAFEE - BEEWERZIOREEEZESN During the current year, the movements in allowance for impairment in
™: respect of trade receivables were as follows:
2 HEH 2 HEH
EREX EREX
GHERAME) (ERRE)
Lifetime ECL Lifetime
(not credit- ECL (credit- st
impaired) impaired) Total
ARBFT AEBFT AEBFT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
R-E-—%5—F—A At 1 January 2021 1,839 1,396 3,235
RZIZ-Z—E—-f—-A#&R Changes due to financial instruments recognised at
SRTABH &8 1 January 2021
~BEEARE - Transfer to credit-impaired 697 (697) =
-BRORESE - Impairment losses reversed (2,535) - (2,535)
FELSREE New financial assets originated 1,995 = 1,995
R-E-—%+-A=+—H At 31 December 2021 1,996 699 2,695
RZFZZF—-A—B®ERAZ Changes due to financial instruments recognised at
SRTABH &) 1 January 2022
-BEERRE - Transfer to creditimpaired (766) 766 -
-BEAREEE — Impairment losses recognised = 409 409
-BRORESE - Impairment losses reversed (1,230) - (1,230)
NEESHERE New financial assets originated 290 = 290
RIEZZF+-A=+—H At 31 December 2022 290 1,874 2,164
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Allowance for impairment (Continued)

During the current year, the movements in allowance for impairment in

U respect of other receivables were as follows:
2HEH 2HEH
128 A7 ERBE% EREX
ERE%X  GHERAE) (ERAME) st
Lifetime ECL Lifetime
(not credit- ECL (credit-
12m ECL impaired) impaired) Total
ARETFT ARETT ARETT AREFT
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000
R-E-—%5—F—A At 1 January 2021 228 67 101 396
RZTZ—F—H—H®ER &8  Changes due to financial instruments
TEBY &) recognised at 1 January 2021
-BE2HEHEREAL - Transfer to lifetime ECL (33) 33 = =
-BERRESE — Impairment losses reversed (195) (67) = (262)
-ERRAERL - Impairment losses recognised - - (45) (45)
NELSHEAE New financial assets originated 233 = = 233
RN-_F-—F+-R=+—H At 31 December 2021 233 33 56 322
RZTZ—F—F—HB®ER &8  Changes due to financial instruments
TEBY &) recognised at 1 January 2022
-BE2HREEREX - Transfer to lifetime ECL (28) 28 - =
-BRERESE — Impairment losses reversed (205) (33) = (238)
—-BHERREERX - Impairment losses recognised = 10,060 208 10,268
FELSREE New financial assets originated 30 = - 30
R-E-—%+-A=+—H At 31 December 2022 30 10,088 264 10,382

1ERmBEES

MiFE26FT I 5E « ERBIE T SRIB 2 E R E R
&9 AREERHEEES < EEARLS
KEZIRPETEF © BRI AREZH
YR R A AR IR 2 E R AR TE
E&ETF  BROBRZEZSHTREP °

Concentration on credit risk

There is concentration of credit risk on amounts due from related
parties, which have been disclosed in note 26 and the Group periodically
evaluated the related parties credit rating and also look for more
non-related party customers. Apart from that, the Group does not
have significant concentration of credit risk on other trade and other
receivables, with exposure spread over a number of counter-parties and
customers.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects
of fluctuations in cash flows. The Group relies on cash generated from
operating activities as a significant source of liquidity. Trade and bills
receivables can be received within 1 year based on the earliest date on
which the Group can require payments and bank balances can be drawn
on demand. The directors of the Company believe that the Group will
have sufficient funds available to meet its financial obligations in the
foreseeable future based on management working capital forecast.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity
for its non-derivative financial liabilities based on the agreed repayment
terms. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash
flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay.

Mg e =R AR &
T SR-ER  -Z=fiR E-F —EWF ME=F RENELE ZREE
On demand Total Carrying
Weighted average or less than 3 months to undiscounted amount at
interest rate Tmonth  1-3months 1 year 1-2 years 2-3years  cash flows year end
% ANREFT  AREFT Az%’%??zz ARETT  AREfr  AREFR /(E%%z
% AMB 000 AMB 000 AMB 000 AMB 000 AMB 000 AMB 000 AMB 000
RZBZZF+ZB=+-R
At 31 December 2022
ERESRERRE i 1,174,303 165,084 231,083 - - 150470 1570470
Trade and bills payables N/A
ENHEERREMENE el 75,990 74,061 250,649 - - 400,700 400,700
Selling expenses payables and other payables N/A
RERE TR 13,569 28,505 17,041 - - 59,115 59,115
Refund liabilties N/A
FEECTE 3.98%%4.48% 410 3,074 12,843 14,374 14,330 45,031 2173
Lease liabilities 3.98% t0 4.48%
1,264,272 210,724 511,616 14,374 14,330 2,075,316 2,072,458
RZBZ-%+ZA=+-A
At 31 December 2021
ENENRENRE aR 1,117,821 Mm,1M 269,395 - - 1666388 1,666,308
Trade and bills payables N/A
ENHEERRIMENZE aR 86,793 102,026 261,927 - - 450,746 450,746
Selling expenses payables and other payables N/A
RESE NER 22,008 47,893 19,165 - - 89,066 89,066
Refund liahilities N/A
HERR 4.06%%4.48% 1,389 444 17,620 1,953 - 25,403 24,739
Lease liabilities 4.05% to 4.48%
1,228,011 433532 568,107 1,953 - 2,231,603 2,230,939
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36. @M T A (#)
(b) SRRBEEHERKE () (b)

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

BEZRBELLRREHEZFEEHLHE
EREHRMEARIRE

Fair value of the Group'’s financial assets and financial liabilities that
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis

ARBEERR  NEAMBTRERAILEHK
IRz eRMEERERABIREERER
REERE -

37. MESFXH ek
A B4R

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES
B EREA 26 + 29%30 ©

The Group's related party balances are set out in notes 26, 29 and 30.

REFEEEETEIT NIRS - The Group entered into the following transactions with related parties:

(i) HBERKEREMEAFTNES (i)  Transactions with Qingling Group and its subsidiaries
—E-CF —E--F
R5EE Types of transactions 2022 2021
ARBFT AREFT
RMB'000 RMB'000
HEESTERSELENEA Sales of chassis to Qingling Group and its
subsidiaries 190,767 1,056,533
HERBTHPEREMT - Sales of automobile parts and others to:
-BERREBEERAR(EREE) - EEEREEBRAR("Qingling Casting”) 11,316 18,570
-BEEHRARRRERLR(ERER]) - EEFHRARERERAF"Qngling Chair) 4,882 11,399
-~ EERRERBRAR(ERER]) - BEERERABRAF("Qingling Axle”) 7,142 7517
-EEERERAERRAR(ERER) - EREREMREARAF("Qingling Zhuan
Yong") 1,823 2,240
—EEFRRTERNBRREERAA (EREM)) —EERRTERMNIPREEGRAF("Qingling
Jijia") 1,216 2,159
~EEERAERMHZEERAR(EREN) -EEERAERAZEER A" Qngling
Parts”) 1,757 2,018
- BRERRBEERAR (B RE]) —EEBRBEAR QA" Qingling Forging”) 815 1,887
-EEERAEERTRBRAR(ERER]) - EEERSERESRPRARAF"Qngling
Chassis") 672 1,200
-EEERERERAR(ERERE]) ~EEEREIRAR (" Qingling Cast
Aluminium”) 494 1,051
—EERRENBRAR(ERER]) - BEERBRABRAF("Qngling Plastics”) 245 748
-EREE —Qingling Group 168 106
—EEERNAAERGERAR(ERRR]) - EEERRAERHAR2AF("Qngling
Keyu") - 1
30,530 43,896
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37. Eﬁﬁﬁ/ﬁiﬁ(ﬁ) 37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES
(Continued)
(i) HBEREEREMEATBES(HE) (i) Transactions with Qingling Group and its subsidiaries

(Continued)

—E-C§ —E--F

RHEE Types of transactions 2022 2021
ARBFIT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB'000

RERERREDHRE - Purchases of trucks and automobile parts from:
-EREfE - Qingling Axle 256,612 397,435
-EREA - Qingling Zhuan Yong 90,454 50,228
—EREE - Qingling Plastics 44,007 69,663
— B - Qingling Chair 37,554 61,775
— B aRiE - Qingling Forging 16,695 33,462
—Bgeim - Qingling Jijia 9,523 9,134
-ERBE - Qingling Casting 9,058 21,250
—ERi5 - Qingling Cast Aluminium 4,606 9,737
—EseE - Qingling Parts 3,825 5,111
-ERES - Qingling Chassis 2,550 3,823
-BHREE — Qingling Group = 1,097
474,884 662,715
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES
(CONTINUED)

(i) Transactions with Qingling Group and its subsidiaries
(Continued)

B F T —F

Types of transactions/Nature of balances 2022 2021
ARETIT AREFT

RMB’000 RMB 000

Lease liabilities for renting warehouse

(note):

— Qingling Group 22,817 7,993
— Qingling Keyu 2,896 1,001
— Qingling Isuzu Sales 2,075 770

Interest on lease liabilities for renting

warehouse:

— Qingling Group 195 544
— Qingling Keyu 28 72
— Qingling Isuzu Sales 17 47

Lease liabilities for renting buildings (note):
— Qingling Group 2,336 807
— Qingling Keyu 414 138

Interest on lease liabilities for renting

buildings:
— Qingling Group 23 58
— Qingling Keyu 6 11

Lease liabilities for renting equipment

(note):

— Qingling Forging 5,630 1,952
— Qingling Group 2,477 851
— Qingling Isuzu Sales 1,605 556

Interest on lease liabilities for renting

equipment:

- Qingling Forging 48 192

— Qingling Group 24 61

— Qingling Isuzu Sales 12 34
Note:

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group entered into several
new lease agreements for the use of warehouse, building and equipment with
the related parties for 3 years. Except for short-term lease in which the Group
applied recognition exemption, the Group has recognised an addition of right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities of RMB40,250,000 and RMB40,250,000
respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group did not enter into
new lease agreements with the related parties.
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37. MEARH (R 37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES
(CONTINUED)
(i) HERKERERELTNHESR (i) Transactions with Qingling Group and its subsidiaries
(Continued)
ot ~Jofen- TET 4
2022 2021
ARETFTT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FIERBUA - Miscellaneous service income:
—ER&EE - Qingling Group 1,847 2,389
HHEF2HERA Rental income from renting of
buildings:
—ERiBE - Qingling Forging 211 211
—E%RENE - Qingling Keyu 43 43
A HERA Rental income from renting of
equipment :
—ERER - Qingling Axle 383 383
(i) HA+SRETHRS (i) Transactions with Isuzu
—E-—F —E-—4F
RSHTESE Types of transactions 2022 2021
ARSTFIT ARETFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BEEHEE Reimbursement of marketing fee 94,340 =
BE BT REM Purchases of automobile parts and
components 54,610 154,852
HERE R HMEBEREENRIITIEKE Royalties and license fee paid on
sales of trucks and other vehicles 6,540 17,655
HERETMH - M REAM Sales of automobile parts,
accessories and others 2,397 5,014
B R E Compensation for software
upgrades 1,464 -
HEFEER Quality evaluation fee paid 893 845
BEfHEE Appointment fee paid = 81
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37. MEARH (R 37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES
(CONTINUED)
(iii) HA+HRBHBHZSH (iii) Transactions with Isuzu Engine
ol = Sl T4
R5EH Types of transactions 2022 2021
AREFIT AR¥TT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BE AETHHREME Purchases of automobile parts and
raw materials 655,192 960,756
HERBETMH - M REAM Sales of automobile parts,
accessories and others 193,195 387,409
A HERA Rental income from renting of
equipment 42,210 42,210
LA EE Z WA Rental income from renting of
investment properties 4,210 4,210
HMIEARTFUA Miscellaneous service income 1,352 1,648
FIRAZE Dividends declared 13,076 2,168
(iv) HERATHHENRS (iv) Transactions with Qingling Isuzu Sales
= T
R 1ELE Types of transactions 2022 2021
ARSFIT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
HERETMH - M REAM Sales of automobile parts,
accessories and others 7,264 13,293
MIES Miscellaneous expenses 99 =
FIERBUA Miscellaneous service income 2 2
AR EME 2 WA Rental income from renting of
investment properties - 1,165
BERERAETEMH Purchase trucks and automobile
parts - 908
(v) HBAE+RESEERARNRS (v) Transactions with Isuzu Qingling Engineering
—E__F TEC 4
RHIELE Types of transactions 2022 2021
ARSTFIT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FEIEARFUA Miscellaneous service income 61 101
HERETM - S REAM Sales of automobile parts,
accessories and others 70 61

B85 /AE D AR A R] Qingling Motors Co. Ltd 173



n‘/-ﬁ 7f ﬁ&#ﬁi |3ﬁ ;I

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE_FE-—F+_A=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2022

37. MBS XS k(&) 37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES
(CONTINUED)

(vi) BEHSHHIRKE(ER)FTRLFTHE (vi) Transactions withi§tt SEI H R (EE) FRLF
]

= T

RHELH Types of transactions 2022 2021

ARSFIT AREFT

RMB’000 RMB’'000

BEAETH Purchases of automobile parts 147,201 53,757

B E Testing fee 25,887 =
HEABETMH - BHEREA Sales of automobile parts,

accessories and others 19 -

HERE Sales of trucks = 400

(viii BERERNES (vii) Transactions with Qingling Shinerary

= T4

R5IEH Types of transactions 2022 2021

AREFIT AREFIT

RMB’000 RMB’000

HERBERRETEME Sales of trucks and automobile parts 136,394 222,104
HERESH - S REAM Sales of automobile parts,

accessories and others 56 -

REERSRNZHIN - FlBEFERI Except for the transactions with Qingling Shinerary, the above

SIER TR EUASFIATEZHBERS transactions with related parties also constitute connected transactions
HIFEMERS 0 B RIZABIZERNIRICE or continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the
17 Listing Rules and are conducted in accordance with the terms of the

relevant agreements.
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES
(CONTINUED)

(viii) Transactions/balances with other government-related entities
in the PRC

The Group operates in an economic environment currently predominated
by entities directly or indirectly owned or controlled, jointly controlled
or significantly influenced by the PRC government (“government-
related entities”). In addition, the Group itself is part of a larger group
of companies under Qingling Group which is controlled by the PRC
government. Apart from the transactions with Qingling Group and its
subsidiaries disclosed in section (i) above, the Group also conducts
businesses with other government-related entities. The directors of the
Company consider those government-related entities are independent
third parties so far as the Group’s business transactions with them are
concerned.

Material transactions/balances with other government-related entities are
as follows:

—E- 5 —E-—4F

2022 2021

ARBTFIT ARETFT

RMB’000 RMB’'000

BoEE Trade sales 57,705 48,966
=i Trade purchases 225,753 392,262

B85 /AE D AR A R] Qingling Motors Co. Ltd
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37. MEAXR, R
(viii) RPEXMBAFAREROXS &
(40)

HEMBATEEEERNEAR S, EHRIAT
(&)

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES
(CONTINUED)

(viii) Transactions/balances with other government-related entities
in the PRC (Continued)

Material transactions/balances with other government-related entities are
as follows: (Continued)

=B 5 —E-—4F
2022 2021
ABRETFIT AEETFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FET 2 Eo A FE AT B AT A R B B2 O BREE Trade and other balances due to

other government-related entities 33,346 39,919

JELS K% L FE U B T AR A B B2 O BREE Trade and other balances due from
other government-related entities 108,761 154,484

AN AEER B EEBBIET EE T BB
HREERNRITEVMBRBETZERS 8
%/A}ﬂﬁ&%&r’ﬁlqﬂ@Eﬁlﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁﬁ/ﬁlﬁi T

%E"lﬁt?i&ﬁ?&%ﬁ’]l&fﬁ P RRRIEER

B EXFIEES  AAREERR - BBF
HAERETHORSUARBNERM = LT
EX-
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In addition, the Group has entered into various transactions, including
utilities services and surcharges/taxes charged by the PRC government,
and deposits with certain banks and financial institutions which are
government-related entities in their ordinary course of business. In view
of the nature of these banking transactions, the directors of Company are
of the opinion that separate disclosure is not meaningful.

Except as disclosed above, the directors of the Company are of the
opinion that transactions with government-related entities are not
significant to the Group's operations.
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES
(CONTINUED)

(ix) Compensation of directors, supervisors and key management
personnel

The remuneration of directors, supervisors and other members of key
management during the year are as follows:

—E——F —E-—%F
2022 2021
AR¥TFT ARMTFT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
2 BRER T B F Short-term employee benefits 4,401 4,443
BB Post-employment benefits 682 617
5,083 5,060
38. iR 38. COMMITMENTS

RIEIR - REBZEARREMT

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the following capital
commitments:

ol Sl - -3 B4
2022 2021
AR¥TFIT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB'000
EATAMBERER & M IS IR B A & AHRIE Contracted for but not provided
in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of:
— R EREME - BB RE — acquisition of property, plant and
equipment 256,545 300,326
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39. BEHRRH
REBEREAA

PrERHHEBNMBEANRENELERE B
HGRIEAR RS NATE ©

HERWNARIFRBENKAT

39. OPERATING LEASING ARRANGEMENTS
The Group as lessor

All of the investment properties and equipment held for rental purposes
have committed lessees for the next 3 years.

Undiscounted lease payments receivable on leases are as follows:

—E-C —E-—F
2022 2021
ABREFT AREFT
RMB'000 RMB'000
—ER Within one year 29,659 52,812
F-4F In the second year 59,222 =
88,881 52,812
40. BREDIR (A 40. PROVISION FOR LITIGATION

BRTEERBERARR T -_TFF R
38R T — £¢hu’]uﬁ‘/\(r T—FHEFR
M) RZEZ—F=A=+"8 ' AAFHE
E SR CARE ARES9,000,000 T Ui —
T AFFATRENEFBEELR)FIL
EXB=(HRD - BEZHz - A27E5H
BREHRE R ERE AT ARES9,000,000
TC BESRERARRESNUBRA—E—RF
FANSEE - RiEZ R - (ERLIHR - ERE
AREBENR T —RAFFAPHLOEHAE
RABKENEEWE)RETFTAQR

BE-_ZT-_—_F#+-_A=+t—HLFE E
$BEAD WO AR28,5697,000T(Z T = —
£ AR#9,355,0007T) » WA FTE A
A S Z S EERET AR Wi - REZE
- F+ZA=+—HILFEHRH AR
AREF (B AARAR T - FHRHI7E38)
R REsE 5 W EI AR %E8,000, 00075(_2_
F:B|IEAREEE - ZFHREHREMIK
AFRHER - sHEERMIRET -
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In respect of the litigation brought forward from 2015 (the “2015
Litigation”), which was fully disclosed in Note 38 to the 2020 annual
report of the Company, on 26 March 2021, the Company entered into a
formal agreement (the “Agreement”) with Qingling Zhuan Yong, a related
company which acquired the right of the plaintiff in the 2015 Litigation
for a consideration of RMB89,000,000. Pursuant to the Agreement, the
Company had paid Qingling Zhuan Yong RMB89,000,000 regarding the
judgments, representing the amount Qingling Zhuan Yong paid to the
plaintiff, to settle the 2015 Litigation. Under the agreement, in return,
Qingling Zhuan Yong agreed to transfer to the Company the amount it
recovers, if any, from other guarantors involved in the 2015 Litigation.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, Qingling Zhuan Yong
recovered RMB28,597,000 (2021: RMB9,355,000), and after deducting
its costs incurred, transferred the amount to the Company. In addition,
during the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company received
RMB8,000,000 (2021: nil) from the related parties of the Customer (as
defined in Note 38 to the 2020 annual report of the Company) as criminal
indemnity. Both of which were recognised in other income, details are
set out in note 7.
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EAFME L FFE 41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY
MEBARZ—BEE General information of subsidiaries
RIEHR - ARREERBNNBARFE Details of the subsidiaries directly held by the Company at the end of the
W e reporting period are set out below.
FARERGRNEE
ERREEER 1 ithEs 1 R
KEAREH Country of registration Form of business Registered  Proportion of ownership interests directly ~ FEEH
Name of subsidiary and operation structure capital held by the Company Principal activities
o i —Zo-F
2022 2001
BRBAHite) oE G4 38,166, 60070 50.56% B056% LERENEHHHER
Qingling Moulds (Notela)/ The PRC Incorporated USD38,166,600 50.56% 50.56%  Production of moulds for the
manufacture of automobile parts
BRBHR L) hE Falian 29,980,000 51.00% 51.00% HAREER
Qingling Technical Center (ozef))  The PRC Incorporated 1JSD29,980,000 51.00% 51.00%  Not yet commenced husiness
MR b) e Al AR%9,0000007 100.00% 10000% AETERERRH
Shenzhen New Energy (Note(b)) The PRC Incorporated RMB9,000,000 100.00 % 100.00%  Automnobile retailing and after-
sales services
KiaF - Notes:
(a) EREELE—BERPEKIIHFRINGERD (a)  Qingling Moulds is a sino-foreign joint venture established in the PRC.
BRAR]
(b) B EMT O RIEYF e R AR R B AL ST HY (b) Qingling Technical Center and Shenzhen New Energy are limited liability
BRETATR companies established in the PRC and operating in the PRC.
FREZEWB AT KRBT EAEERES - None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of the year.

B ATIAIRSIKEMAEFERESHEE There are no significant restrictions on the ability of subsidiaries to
ERSAAERRATNEHHES S EAR transfer funds to the Group in form of cash dividends, or to repay loans or
& o advances made by the Group.
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F LTI E AT EFE(HE) 41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (CONTINUED)

HAEEXERERESMESERE LTS Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-
controlling interests

TREFARRERERIEREZHIERZE The table below shows details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries of the

B A RIS ¢ Company that have material non-controlling interests:
FERERNHZ
RARERRRATHE AL
Proportion ownership interests ~ SEEFRRERNAT RitFRRER
HELRER and voting rights held by non- Profit allocated to non- Accumulated non-controlling
Name of subsidiary controlling interests controlling interests interests
—E-CHF —E--F —E-CF —E--F —ECCE “E--F
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
% %  ARBFT AREFT  ARRFT  AEETx
% % RMB000 AMB 000 RMB'0000 RMB 000

BHRBAM )

Qingling Moulds (note &/ 49.44 49.44 5,011 4,586 174,806 172,987

BBl L (Wit

Qingling Technical Center (note b/ 49.00 49.00 4,581 4,220 159,119 154,538

9,592 8,806 333,925 327,525

o Notes:

(a) RNANGVRESHORENIESERIER  AJEF (a) The Company has control over Qingling Moulds by virtue of the
ZATEESeARLEERN =%  EFEY contractual right to appoint three out of the five directors to its board
SEMEHARE AR ESSYEKERE - of directors, whose decisions about the relevant activities require half

consent of the board of directors.

(b) ADFREAOETNIZSEREMHRL - 7 (b)  The Company has control over Qingling Technical Center by virtue of
EAR LT EESE-RKEERHRL - Hit the contractual right to appoint two out of the three directors to its
HEEIEERRRBELETSLHKER board of directors, whose decisions about the relevant activities require
o half consent of the board of directors.

ERAARANTEAE AT B A Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Company's

B ERIEEHST o J//\T,H\M&éfﬂﬁ{;( subsidiary that has material non-controlling interests is set out below.

EERRNATBEEANSEE - The summarised financial information below represents amounts before

intragroup eliminations.
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41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (CONTINUED)

BRER Qingling Moulds

—E-CE —E--F
2022 2021
ARBFT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB'000
MENERE Current assets 395,070 420,827
FREBEE Non-current assets 92,193 88,960
EIEN Current liabilities (110,439) (142,283)
ARFRE NEGER Equity attributable to owners of the Company 202,018 194,517
RS Non-controlling interests 174,806 172,987
—E-C —E--F
2022 2021
ARBFTT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB 000
Yga Revenue 128,824 106,124
353 Expense (113,043) (91,684)
FREF Profit for the year 15,781 14,440

ARAIHA NEL ST RERE Blks Profit and total comprehensive income
attributable to the owners of the Company 10,770 9,854

FEREREGEN RS B Profit and total comprehensive income
attributable to the non-controlling interests 5,011 4,586

EERKE AR ERR S Dividends declared and paid to non-

controlling interests 3,192 2,862

B85 /AE D AR A R] Qingling Motors Co. Ltd
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41. L FIME LTS (E) 41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (CONTINUED)
BB A(E) Qingling Moulds (Continued)
—E-CE —E--F
2022 2021
ARBFT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB'000
BEEB R (ME)RAFE Net cash (outflow) inflow from operating
activities (27,383) 21,219
RETE2RL (REL)RAFE Net cash (outflow) inflow from investing
activities (1,913) 362
BEEH RS RLFE Net cash outflow from financing activities (6,461) (5,795)
RBe (RH)RAFE Net cash (outflow) inflow (35,757) 15,786
Bl Qingling Technical Center
—E_CfF —E-—F
2022 2021
ARBFIT ARETFT
RMB’000 RMB'000
mEBE Current assets 326,208 316,769
nBEE Current liabilities (1,476) (1,386)
ARAIHA NEER Equity attributable to owners of the
Company 165,613 160,845
JeEiEs Non-controlling interests 159,119 154,538
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41. L FIME LTS (E) 41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (CONTINUED)
B H R (1) Qingling Technical Center (Continued)
—E-CE —E--F
2022 2021
ARBFT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB'000
FLEYA Interest income 1,971 11,718
(553 Expenses (2,622) (3,108)
FREF Profit for the year 9,349 8,610
ARAIHA NEL ST RERE Bk Profit and total comprehensive income
attributable to the owners of the Company 4,768 4,390
IR R R AR B Profit and total comprehensive income
attributable to the non-controlling interests 4,581 4,220
k- St 3 —E-—F
2022 2021
ARBFIT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB'000
REEB R MLTFE Net cash outflow from operating activities (2,440) (2,694)

Net cash (outflow) inflow from investing
RERPRE(RL)RAFE activities (67,718) 12,118

Re(RERAFE Net cash (outflow) inflow (70,158) 9,424
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42. MEEDFMEERRZANR 42. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

TRAJAKEREBDAEENREZDE
REBEREMFRSED) - REFBAEL
MBEERERECNIARIRSRERRA
SESARERERANBEAREZDRENR

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities
arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or
future cash flows will be, classified in the Group's consolidated statement

184

EMAE- of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.
HEAR 351278
Lease Dividend oy
liabilities payable Total
AR¥TFr ANRMFT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
—Z-—%—A—H At 1 January 2021 62,378 - 62,378
mﬂﬁfﬁﬁmi Financing cash flows
BRERE Dividends paid - (248,227) (248,227)
B —RKHE AR MIEHER Dividends paid to a non-controlling
Y85 shareholder of a subsidiary - (2,862) (2,862)
HEBEENK Repayments of lease liabilities (21,246) = (21,246)
ZRFIEER Payments of interest expense (1,374) = (1,374)
FREEH : Non-cash changes:
EEIRRE Dividends declared = 248,227 248,227
ER—EMB A RRIEERRE Dividends declared to a non-
FIRARE controlling shareholder of a
subsidiary - 2,862 2,862
L Lease addition 15,492 = 15,492
MEEE Lease modification (31,885) - (31,885)
HEaEFS Interest on lease liabilities 1,374 = 1,374
—Z-—F+ZRA=+—H At 31 December 2021 24,739 - 24,739
WoE-—F—F—A At 1 January 2022 24,739 - 24,739
BERESHE Financing cash flows
EARE Dividends paid - (273,050) (273,050)
B —fENBARMN Dividends paid to a non-controlling
JEIERR IR AR B shareholder of a subsidiary = (3,192) (3,192)
HEABEER Repayments of lease liabilities (22,816) = (22,816)
SHFEER Payments of interest expense (637) = (637)
FREEE) Non-cash changes:
BEIRRE W 16) Dividends declared (note 76) - 273,050 273,050
B R —RHTB A B M IEERAR Dividends declared to a non-
SRS (H5t41) controlling shareholder of a
subsidiary (note 41) - 3,192 3,192
gLy Lease addition 40,250 = 40,250
HEABFIE Interest on lease liabilities 637 = 637
RZZ-_F+-A=+—H At 31 December 2022 42,173 - 42,173
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43. ELRFIMRBERAERFERE 43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
ZE-C —E--F
2022 2021
ARBFTT ANREFTT
RMB'000 AMB'000
FRERE Non-current assets
% BERR Property, plant and equipment 1,131,905 1,026,497
feREEE Right-of-use assets 61,126 44,698
BENZ Investment properties 18,956 19,235
BREE ‘ Intangible assets 154,997 189,659
NGl /AE—JZ&ﬁ Investments in subsidiaries 294,073 294,073
RBEEE L Investments associates 55,333 55,333
REELEIRE Investments in joint ventures 368,639 368,639
EEHEEE Deferred tax assets 53,779 13,939
EEFT Time deposits 1,443,178 2,840,873
Zfi% - BEREE RS Deposit paid for property, plant and equipment 47,302 70,581
3,629,288 4923527
nOEE Current assets
F& Inventories 1,285,151 922,932
YR - RYER R EYZERBATE Trade, bills and other receivables and
prepayments 1,424,733 2,528,432
A ERIE Tax recoverable 12,448 11,770
EHER Time deposits 2,471,574 599,083
RERALEEN Cash and cash equivalents 953,233 1345477
6,147,139 5,407,694
RORE Current liabilities
AR BNREREMERZE Trade, bills and other payables 1,939,442 2,074,030
EHEL Contract liabilities 452,747 567,575
REAE Refund liabilities 59,115 89,066
HEaE Lease liabilities 14,812 22,775
2,466,116 2,753,446
ROEERE Net current assets 3,681,023 2,654,248
REEARDAR Total assets less current liabilities 7,310,311 7,577,775
EEREE Capital and reserves
& \ Share capital 2,482,268 2,482,268
BARERGEE Share premium and reserves 4,795,557 5,086,432
L E=E ] Total equity 1,271,825 7,568,700
FRBAR Non-current liabilities
HEAE Lease liabilities 21,361 1923
B - BTEE Deferred income - government grants 5,125 7,162
32,486 9,075
7,310,311 1,577,775
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4. FLFMERARRRERE 44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

(48) RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)
ENFIREFRZETH Movements in reserves of the Company
EEBRBLARS
BFRE HEFLES Statutory REEH
Share Capital surplus Retained gt
premium reserve  reserve fund profits Total

ARETT  ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETZT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 AMB'000

RZE-—%—F—H At 1 January 2021 1,764,905 572,210 1,199,047 1,478,406 5,014,568

FREMNRGE NG Profit and total comprehensive = = = 320,091 320,091
income for the year

FEHE Appropriation for the year - - 31,574 (31,574) -

EXNZZ-ZERERE 2020 final dividends paid - - - (248,227) (248,227)

RZEZ—F+ZA=+—A At 31 December 2021 1,764,905 572,210 1,230,621 1,518,696 5,086,432

FRABERGEEYTH Loss and total comprehensive = = = (17,825) (17,825)
expenses for the year

EXFNZT=-FRERE 2021 final dividends paid - - - (273,050) (273,050

RZBZZF+ZA=+—H At 31 December 2022 1,764,905 572,210 1,230,621 1,227,821 4,795,557
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Fe%l CONSOLIDATED RESULTS
—E-C-f T —T-TFE —ET-HF ZT-N\#E
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
ARBFT ANRETT AREFT AREFT ARETT
RMB000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
WA Revenue 3,248,080 4,828,237 5,088,762 4,723,287 5,253,252
BB AT (&5 18) /& 7 (Loss) profit before tax (39,619) 344,524 325,154 403,994 530,169
FTS ML) Income tax credit (expense) 34,636 (13,638) (18,692) (47,712) (68,654)
FA(ER)RF (Loss) profit for the year (4,983) 330,886 306,462 356,282 461,515
SEBR Attributable to
RAREREBA Owners of the Company (14,575) 322,080 300,989 345,308 453,772
RS Non-controlling interests 9,592 8,806 5,473 10,974 7,743
(4,983) 330,886 306,462 356,282 461,515
FEoHERIE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
—E-= —T—% CZE-TH ZT-NEF ZT)\HF
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
ARBTT ARETT AREFT AREFT AREFT
RMB000  RMB000 RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000
BEE Total assets 10,349,176 10,905,911 10,996,341 10,995,614 10,893,251
Bam Total liabilities 2,563,179 2,838,689 2,978,916 2,914,764 2,769,137
TR 4AER Total equity 7,785,997 8,067,222 7,987,425 8,080,850 8,124,114
BEBR Attributable to :
RNFEREE A Owners of the Company 7,452,072 7,739,697 7,665,844 7,762,018 7,813,873
FEER R Non-controlling interests 333,925 327,525 321,581 318,832 310,241

7,785,997 8,067,222 7,987,425 8,080,860 8,124,114

B85 /AE D AR A R] Qingling Motors Co. Ltd
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

BREERAERNDERAR(ARRADER
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3R 2022 ANNUAL REPORT

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the annual general meeting (the
“AGM") of Qingling Motors Co. Ltd (the “Company"”) will be held
at New Conference Hall of the Company, 1st Floor, 1 Xiexing Cun,
Zhongliangshan, Jiulongpo District, Chongging, the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC") on Wednesday, 31 May 2023 at 10:00 a.m. for the
purpose of considering and, if thought fit, passing the following ordinary
resolutions:

1. To consider and approve the report of the board of directors of the
Company (the “Board") for the year of 2022.

2. To consider and approve the report of the supervisory committee
of the Company for the year of 2022.

38 To consider and approve audited financial statements and the
independent auditor’s report of the Company for the year of 2022.

4. To consider the re-appointment of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants LLP and Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
as the Company’s PRC and international auditors respectively for
the year of 2023 and to authorize the Board to determine their
remunerations.

By order of the Board
QINGLING MOTORS CO. LTD
LEI Bin
Company Secretary

Chongging, the PRC, 14 April 2023
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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RAE BRI

AETHRBEREERREAFAS LIRS
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N ABEE 5775 4(86)23-68830397 ©

BEREFRGERBTRHABBERX  BRER R
ERBALFERRAFAENEERRREER
REaE -

Notes:

(1)

(5)

(7)

Any shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the AGM is entitled to
appoint one or more proxies to attend and vote at the AGM on his/her
behalf in accordance with the articles of association of the Company. A
proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company.

In order to be valid, the proxy form and, if such proxy form is signed
by a person under a power of attorney or other authority on behalf of
the appointer, a notarially certified copy of that power of attorney or
authority shall be deposited at the legal address of the Company at 1
Xiexing Cun, Zhongliangshan, Jiulongpo District, Chongqging, the PRC
(in the case of proxy form of holders of domestic shares) or at the
Company’s H Share Registrars, Hong Kong Registrars Limited, at 17M
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong
(in the case of proxy form of holders of H shares) not less than 24 hours
before the time for holding the AGM (i.e. not later than 30 May 2023 at
10:00 a.m. (Hong Kong time)) or 24 hours before the time appointed for
taking the poll.

Shareholders or their proxies shall produce their identity documents
when attending the AGM.

To ascertain the H shareholders’ entitlement to attend and vote at
the AGM, the register of shareholders of the Company will be closed
from Monday, 1 May 2023 to Wednesday, 31 May 2023 (both dates
inclusive), during which period no transfer of shares will be registered.
All duly completed transfer forms relating to H shares accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company's
H Share Registrars, Hong Kong Registrars Limited, at Shops 1712-16,
17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong
Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 28 April 2023.

Shareholders whose names appear on the register of shareholders of
the Company on Monday, 1 May 2023 are entitled to attend and vote at
the AGM.

Shareholders who intend to attend the AGM shall complete and lodge
the reply slip for the AGM at the Company’s legal address at 1 Xiexing
Cun, Zhongliangshan, Jiulongpo District, Chongging, the PRC on or
before Thursday, 11 May 2023. The reply slip may be delivered to
the Company by hand, by post, by cable or by fax (at fax no.: (86) 23—
68830397).

The AGM is not expected to take more than half a day. Shareholders or
their proxies attending the AGM shall be responsible for their own travel
and accommodation expenses.

B2 /AHE D AR A A Qingling Motors Co. Ltd
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3R 2022 ANNUAL REPORT

Pursuant to rule 13.39(4) of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), all
votes of the shareholders at the meeting will be taken by poll except
where the chairman, in good faith, decides to allow a resolution which
relates purely to a procedural or administrative matter to be voted on by
a show of hands and the Company will announce the results of the poll
in the manner prescribed under rule 13.39(5) and rule 13.39(5A) of the
Listing Rules.

As at the date of this notice, the Board comprises 11 directors, of which
Mr. LUO Yuguang, Mr. YASUTA Tatsuya, Mr. NAKAMURA Osamu, Mr.
KIJIMA Katsuya, Mr. LI Juxing, Mr. XU Song and Mr. LI Xiaodong are
executive directors and Mr. LONG Tao, Mr. SONG Xiaojiang, Mr. LIU
Tianni and Mr. LIU Erh Fei are independent non-executive directors.
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NEIEF
CORPORATE INFORMATION

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors:

LUO Yuguang (Chairman)
YASUTA Tatsuya (Vice Chairman and General Manager)
MASUDA Yoichi

(resigned on 25 August 2022)
NAKAMURA Osamu
(appointed on 25 August 2022)
YAGI Naoto

(resigned on 25 August 2022)
KIJIMA Katsuya

(appointed on 25 August 2022)
LI Juxing

XU Song

LI Xiaodong

Independent Non-executive Directors:
LONG Tao

SONG Xiaojiang

LIU Erh Fei

LIU Tianni

SUPERVISORS
MIN Qing
PU Qing

COMPANY SECRETARIES
responsible for PRC affairs: LEI Bin
responsible for Hong Kong affairs: TUNG Tat Chiu Michael

AUDIT COMMITTEE

SONG Xiaojiang (Committee Chairman)
LONG Tao

LIU Erh Fei

LIU Tianni

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
SONG Xiaojiang (Committee Chairman)
LUO Yuguang

LONG Tao

LIU Erh Fei

LIU Tianni

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
LUO Yuguang (Committee Chairman)
LONG Tao

SONG Xiaojiang

LIU Erh Fei

LIU Tianni

CORPORATE INFORMATION AVAILABLE AT
Qingling Motors Co. Ltd
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LEGAL ADDRESS

1 Xiexing Cun

Zhongliangshan

Jiulongpo District

Chongaing

the People’'s Republic of China

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
Office 1601, 16th Floor

LHT Tower

31 Queen’s Road Central

Central, Hong Kong

COMPANY’S WEBSITE

www.gingling.com.cn

H REGISTRARS

Hong Kong Registrars Limited
Shops 1712-1716

17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East

Wan Chai, Hong Kong

H SHARE LISTING PLACE

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
Stock Code: 1122

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of China, Huayu Road Branch

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China, Huafu Road Branch
Industrial Bank, Business Department of Chongging Branch
China CITIC Bank, Jiangbei Sub-branch

AUDITORS
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants LLP

30/F Bund Center

222 Yan An Road East
Shanghai 200002

The People’s Republic of China

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
35/F One Pacific Place

88 Queensway

Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISER

as to Hong Kong laws:

Tung & Co,

Office 1601, 16th Floor
LHT Tower

31 Queen’s Road Central
Central, Hong Kong
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